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Meeting of the Governing Body 

 
To be held on Tuesday 26 May 2015 1.00-3.30pm in Bede Tower, Burdon Road, 

Sunderland, SR2 7EA. 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. Welcome and Introduction   

Dr I Pattison, Chair 
  

    
2. Apologies for Absence   
    
3. Declarations of Interest   
    
4. Minutes of the previous meeting held on  24 

March 2015 
1.00-1.10 Enclosure 

    
5. Matters arising from the minutes and action log 1.10-1.20 Enclosure 
    
6. Notification of Items of Any other business   
    
7. 
 
 
 
 
 
8. 

Question Time 
Members of the public may raise issues of general 
interest that relate to items on the Agenda. The 
Chair’s discretion is final on the matters discussed 
and timescale. 
 
Complaint Review from NHS England 
Colin McIlwain and John Bewick 

1.20-1.25 
 
 
 
 
 
1.25-1.45 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosure 

    
9. Items of Quality and Safety   
    
9.1 
 
 
 
 
 
9.2 

Report from the Quality, Safety and Risk 
Committee 
Minutes from 10th March 2015 meeting 
Minutes from 14th April 2015 meeting 
Aileen Sullivan 
 
Sunderland GP Out of Hours procurement– 
Delegation of sign off 
A Fox 
 
 

1.45-2.00 
 
 
 
 
 
2.00-2.05 
 
 

Enclosures 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosure 
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10 
 
10.1 

Items of Governance and Assurance 
 
SCCG Financial Report – year ending 2014/15 

 
 
2.05-2.10 

 
 
Enclosure 

 D Chandler 
 

  

10.2 
 
 
10.3 
 
 
10.4 
 
 
10.5 
 
 
10.6 
 
 
 
10.7    
 

Annual Accounts  
D Chandler 
 
Annual Internal Audit report 2014/15 
Amanda Bellis 
 
External Audit Completion Report 
Cameron Waddell 
 
Management Letter of Representation 
D Gallagher 
 
Annual Report including Annual Governance 
Statement 
D Gallagher 
 
Approval of Accounts and Annual Report 
Dr Pattison 
 

2.10-2.35 Enclosure 
 
 
Enclosure 
 
 
Enclosure 
 
 
Enclosure 
 
 
Enclosure  
 
 
 
Verbal 

10.8 
 

Annual Review of Audit Committee  
Pat Taylor 

2.35-2.45 Enclosure 

 
10.9 
 
 
 
10.10 
 
 
 

 
Revised Risk Management Policy and 
Framework 
D Gallagher 
 
Governing Body Assurance Framework 
  
End of year position 2014/15 
D Gallagher 
 
New framework 2015/16 
D Gallagher 

 
2.45-2.50 
 
 
 
 
 
2.50-2.55 
 
 
 
2.55-3.00 

 
Enclosure 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosure 
 
 
 
Enclosure 

    
11 Items for Discussion and Assurance   
    
11.1 SCCG Assurance Report    3.00-3.10 Enclosure 
 
 
11.2 
 
 
11.3 

D Burnicle 
 
Strategic Plan 
D Burnicle 
 
Operational Plan 
D Burnicle 
 

 
 
3.10-3.20 
 
 
3.20-3.30 

 
 
Enclosure 
 
 
Enclosure 

    



NHS Unclassified 

Page 3 of 3 

 

12 Items for Information Only   
    
12.1 
 
 
12.2 

Chief Officer’s Report 
D Gallagher 
 
National 2015/16 Assurance Framework for 
CCGs 
D Burnicle 

 Verbal 
 
 
Enclosure 

    
12.3 Confirmed minutes of the Executive Committee 

meeting held on 3 March 2015 and 7 April 2015 
 Enclosures 

    
13 Any other business   
    
14 Date of next meeting   
    
 Tuesday 28 July 2015, 1.00-3.30pm. Venue to be 

confirmed. 
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Item: 4 

Governing Body 

 

Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 24 March 2015 

Bede Tower, Burdon Road, Sunderland, SR2 7EA. 

 

Present:   Dr Ian Pattison (Chair) 

   Prof Mike Bramble, Secondary Care Clinician 

   Dr Henry Choi, Elected GP Member 

   Mrs Ann Fox, Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety 

   Mr David Gallagher, Chief Officer 

   Dr Jackie Gillespie, Elected GP Member  

   Dr Tracey Lucas, Elected GP Member 

   Mr Chris Macklin, Chief Finance Officer 

   Dr Gerry McBride, Elected GP Member 

   Mrs Aileen Sullivan, Lay Member for PPI 

Mrs Pat Taylor, Lay member for Audit and Vice Chair 

   Dr Val Taylor, Elected GP Member 

In Attendance: Mrs Kath Bailey, Locum Consultant, Sunderland City Council 
(for Gillian Gibson) 

Mrs Debbie Burnicle, Director of Commissioning & Reform 

 Mr David Chandler, Associate Chief Finance Officer 

 Ms Deborah Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs 

 Mr Neil Revely, Executive Director of Peoples Services, 
Sunderland City Council 

Dr Geoff Stephenson, Medical Director  

Mrs Jan Thwaites, minutes 
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2015/32 Welcome and Introductions 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 

2015/33 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies were received from Mrs Gillian Gibson, Associate Director of Public 
Health, Sunderland City Council. 

 

2015/34 Declarations of Interest 

No interests were declared. 

 

2015/35 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 20 January 2015 

Under the item Sunderland CCG Financial Report it was noted that the figure in the 
first paragraph should be amended to state £2billion and not £2million. 

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 January 2015 were RECEIVED as an 
accurate record subject to the amendment above. 

 

2015/36 Matters arising from the minutes and action log 

2015/16 Patient Story – it was noted that the patient story was a snapshot in time 
and that the family had noted a significant improvement in their family member. 

Action: Mrs Fox to share the story with Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Trust 
(NTW). 

Action: Mrs Thwaites to forward the confirmed minutes to Mrs X. 

 

2015/19 Quality, Safety & Risk Committee Terms of Reference - Dr McBride 
enquired after the proposed provision of Strategic Practice Nurse to the Committee.  

Mrs Sullivan stated that it was not felt necessary given the broad level of nursing 
colleagues already on the committee. 

2015/25 5 year Strategic Plan and Operational Plan presentation – Mrs Burnicle 
confirmed that Sunderland CCG had been successful in its bid to become a 
Vanguard site, she would share more information on this later in the meeting. 

Action log 

Item 2014/127 the report would be shared at the Governing Body meeting in May 
2015 
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Item 2015/17 assurance on the breast service at City Hospitals Sunderland would be 
presented in the assurance report – this item would be removed from the action log 

Communications on the suspension of the breast service would be sent out in the 
next week – this item would be removed from the action log. 

In relation to the suspension of placements in care homes Mrs Fox confirmed there 
were currently no suspensions in place although this may fluctuate. The item would 
be included in future Quality, Safety and Risk Committee (QSRC) minutes. This item 
would be removed from the action log. 

2015/19 Changes to the terms of reference had been made. This action had been 
completed and would be removed from the action log. 

2015/20 The changes to the Risk Management report were on the agenda and 
would be removed from the action log. 

2015/21 A task and finish group had been set up to undertake work to understand 
conflicts of interest and how they would be managed. This item would be removed 
from the action log. 

The circulation of revised conflicts of interest forms was underway. This item would 
be removed from the action log. 

2015/22 Mrs Burnicle had forwarded an email in relation to the urology issues at City 
Hospitals Sunderland (CHS). This item would be removed from the action log. 

Mrs Burnicle explained the context behind the higher increase in A&E attendances in 
Sunderland compared to the rest of the country 4 to 5% growth due to the winter 
pressures was similar to other parts of the country and had now reduced.  The 
additional increase over and above this was due to the planned closure of the 
Grindon Lane Minor Injuries Unit and was expected. Concerns whether CHS were 
streaming the right patients to the Pallion site were also noted. This item would be 
removed from the action log. 

2015/25 A development session held in February 2015 covered the 5 year Strategic 
and Operational plan. This item would be removed from the action log. 

 

2015/37 Notifications of items of any other business 

There were no notifications of items of any other business. 

 

2015/38 Question Time 

Lynn Hanratty from Astellas Pharma asked if in relation to issues at CHS with 
urology referrals the CCG would be interested in any workshops or educational 
support to GP practices that her company could offer. 

In response Dr Stephenson explained that there was a process via the CCG 
Medicines Optimisation team for pharmaceutical industry colleagues to discuss or 
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offer any training or support opportunities.  These would then be reviewed through 
the Time In Time Out Steering Group which organises GP educational sessions 
across Sunderland.  

Mr John Wallace, Eden Terrace Surgery patient group enquired if the extended 
hours project would be retained. Mrs Fox confirmed that it had been agreed to 
extend until the end of May 2015. The result of the Prime Minister’s Challenge fund 
should be known by then. 

Dr Gillespie asked Mr Wallace what he thought the benefit of extending hours was to 
the patients, he noted that he believed it reduced A&E attendances. 

 

2015/39 Report from the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee 

Mrs Sullivan presented the key points and assurances from the meeting of the 
Quality, Safety and Risk Committee (QSRC) held on 10th February 2015. 

The following items were highlighted: 

 A new sub group of the Communications and Engagement Steering group 
would be established to look at engagement. 

 There were no changes to the continued underperformance at CHS in relation 
to A&E 4 hour waits. 

 In a recent CQC inspection of CHS 2 of the 5 questions asked were rated as 
“requires improvement”, these questions were:- 
 Are services at this trust safe 
 Are services at the trust responsive?  It was noted that the Trust received 

an overall report of “Good”. 

 28 serious incidents had been reported by CHS, this was an increase of 57% 
compared to the previous quarter. 

 The CCG process to involve patients and the public in the procurement 
process was on-going 

 6 care homes had been audited using a new clinical assessment tool – Dr 
Pattison raised concern over the new rating figures noting a number of ‘reds’. 
Mrs Sullivan responded to his concern by noting that it was difficult to 
compare the figures with previous ratings due to the new tool, weighting 
scores had shifted, this would be monitored through the committee. 

 Caroline Latta, Senior communications and engagement locality manager 
NECS was holding a number of sessions in the CCG this week focussing on 
patient and public involvement strategy and a preliminary report would be 
given at the April QSRC. 
 
Mrs Taylor queried the failure to achieve primary care prescribing QIPP 
targets in the report and asked if more work was required internally to deliver 
this. Dr Stephenson confirmed that more work was required, issues were with 
the set up based on activity and not output. 
Mr Macklin noted that the report focussed on month 9 prescribing data, month 
10 showed a much improved situation. 
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Professor Bramble noted that a district wide Prescribing Formulary was 
required, it was confirmed that there had been high levels of engagement with 
CHS in this regard. 
 
The Governing Body RECEIVED the report for information. 

2015/40 Change of approach to Risk Management: Outcome of options 
appraisal 

The report was presented to the Governing Body with the recommendation from the 
Quality, Safety and Risk Committee (QSRC) and Audit Committee following an 
options appraisal to improve the current risk management approach for the CCG. 

The key points and assurances outlined in the report were discussed. 

Ms Cornell confirmed that following both of the committee meetings it had been 
agreed to recommend option 3 going forward. This, the committees felt would 
support a more appropriate focus on medium and high level risks.  

A recommendation was also made to establish a Risk Management Group as a 
formal sub group of the QSRC where detailed discussion on moderate and high level 
risks would be undertaken. 

Mrs Sullivan enquired when the committee would start, it was confirmed that a paper 
would be taken to the April meeting of the QSRC with the terms of reference. 

It was also confirmed that minor risks should be managed within the relevant teams 
and not automatically go before the new committee. A report would be presented 
from this committee to the QSRC and through its minutes to the Governing Body for 
assurance. 

The Governing Body NOTED the recommendation from the QSRC and Audit 
Committees and formally APPROVED the implementation of option 3 as the 
preferred option to the CCG’s approach to risk management. The Governing Body 
also APPROVED the establishment of a Risk Management Group. 

 

2015/41 Primary Medical Care Co-commissioning 

The report provided the Governing Body with a summary of the revisions to the CCG 
Constitution, a revised scheme of delegation and terms of reference for the proposed 
primary care commissioning committee. 

The CCG’s application had been approved by NHS England and required 
amendments to be made to the constitution to enable the CCG to take forward their 
additional responsibilities. 

Ms Cornell confirmed that an updated version of the constitution would shortly be 
available on the CCG web site along with draft terms of reference and a revised 
scheme of delegation which would include the additional committee. 
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Ms Cornell confirmed at the time of the meeting that the CCG had received 50 of the 
51 Sunderland GP practices’ signed returns agreeing to the changes within the 
constitution. 

Action: Ms Cornell to amend the document to read NHS England throughout for 
consistency and remove reference to NHS Commissioning Board. 

Discussion in relation to the £0 budget allotted to the Primary Care Commissioning 
Committee in the financial scheme of delegation was undertaken; some thought was 
required on how this would be handled if no monetary power was to be associated 
with the committee. There was a need to understand where the decisions of this 
committee would be taken, clarity was required. 

The committee would comprise representatives from:  
NHS Sunderland CCG 
NHS England 
Sunderland City Council (non-voting) 
Sunderland Healthwatch (non-voting) 

Dr McBride asked why the Local Medical Council (LMC) had not been included on 
the list and noted their extensive local memory, that the LMC should be routinely 
present and that their representation would be the least conflicted GP presence. In 
response it was explained that regulations stipulated the inclusion of the named 
organisations that would attend the meetings to provide additional expertise. In 
addition it was noted that other wider representatives may be invited to attend to 
provide advice on specialist items. Dr Pattison noted that this power was within the 
CCG’s gift to decide. The Governing Body noted the lack of LMC representation on 
the primary care commissioning committee. 

Mr Revely noted that this committee would provide an opportunity to discuss 
transformational requirements and support the Out of Hours plans and ambitions. 

Mrs Burnicle asked that the Health and Social Care Integration Board be added to 
the scheme of delegation to replace the references to previous joint commissioning 
committees. 

Action: Ms Cornell to amend the scheme of delegation to reflect the new integration 
arrangements. 

As the committee did not have a dedicated budget it was agreed that it should be 
removed from the financial scheme of delegation. 

Action: Ms Cornell to remove the committee from the financial scheme of 
delegation. 

The Governing Body was informed that the delegation agreement from NHS England 
required sign off and were asked for their approval to delegate responsibility to the 
Chief Officer. The Governing Body APPROVED the delegation for sign off to Mr 
Gallagher. 

The Governing Body NOTED and RECEIVED the amendments made to the CCG’s 
constitution as agreed and signed off by its member practices; 



 

Page 7 of 13 
 

APPROVED the establishment of the primary care commissioning committee and 
APPROVED its terms of reference; APPROVED the CCG’s revised scheme of 
reservation and delegation. 

 

2015/42 SCCG Assurance Report 

The report provided the Governing Body with the current position against the CCG 
Assurance Framework requirements and delivery against the CCG Operational Plan 
and the Delivery Dashboard. 

Key performance risks were highlighted which included pressures around referral to 
treatment (RTT) around urology. NHS England had agreed to additional funding for 
250 patients to be treated by Spire.  So far 140 had been treated with 70 patients 
booked in for this weekend ensuring that they would achieve the target. A&E target 
figures continue to fail to achieve, regular escalation meetings continue with City 
Hospitals Sunderland (CHS). 

Information in relation to the “Perfect Week” was awaited, so far initial reports 
showed a positive picture with improved patient flows through the hospital. The ward 
liaison officer post had made a difference with forward planning for fit for discharge 
patients and ambulance activity from the discharge lounge. Social workers 
addressed issues with Continuing Healthcare patients and a 98% A&E target was 
being achieved. The Intermediate Care Hub had received more telephone calls from 
staff for advice which had improved communications and the length of stay for 
patients was reducing.  

Mrs Fox added that key discussions with CHS, after completion of the week would 
include what the hospital could sustain and if the culture would support change going 
forward. Mr Macklin added that CHS had had these resources in the past and he 
asked were these being re-instated and could the outcomes be sustained? 

Dr Pattison enquired if an evaluation of the Perfect Week would be received by the 
Governing Body. Mrs Burnicle confirmed that a report would be taken to the Out of 
Hospital Board, Urgent Care Board and the Governing Body.  

Action: Mr Gallagher suggested that a report be presented at a Governing Body 
development session.  

In relation to the low referring GP practices for “Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies” (IAPT) services they are being offered awareness sessions from 
Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Trust (NTW) with support from CCG Executive 
GPs. 

In regard to the quality premium it was estimated that the CCG would achieve the 
£406,272 target, however due to the non-achievement of 2 of the NHS Constitution 
indicators nothing had been achieved at this point in time. At the present A&E 4 hour 
waits and ambulance response times were not being achieved which would see 
adjustments to the figures. 

Mrs Burnicle informed the Governing Body that the CCG had been successful in 
being cited as a Vanguard site, 1 of 29 nationally to be awarded this. A 
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teleconference would be undertaken to understand what support the CCG would be 
given with a site visit being arranged for the end of April 2015. 

The Out of Hours GP service model had been approved at the March Executive 
Committee with the procurement process now underway. 

Mrs Taylor asked if the Q3 assurance document could be reformatted into a Word 
document for each domain as it proved difficult to read. 

Action: Mrs Burnicle to look at the reformatting of the Q3 assurance document. 

The Governing Body NOTED the position against the delivery dashboard and 
progress to date against the CCG Operational Plan 2014/15. 

 

2015/43 Sunderland CCG Financial Report – month 10 

The purpose of the report was to present a summary of the financial position of the 
CCG as at month 10 ending 31st January 2015. 

Before the paper was presented Dr Pattison asked to note that this would be the final 
time that Mr Macklin would present this report to the Governing Body as he had 
resigned his position of Chief Finance Officer with the CCG as of 31 March 2015 and 
taken retirement. Dr Pattison thanked Mr Macklin for all the work he had undertaken 
for the NHS and in particular for Sunderland CCG in securing a strong financial 
position, the Chair and committee wished him well for the future. 

Mr Macklin confirmed that the CCG was on course to deliver all its financial targets 
for the year end. There had been an improvement in the forecast overspend in 
prescribing due to a reduction in GP prescribing costs.  

Estate costs had come under pressure as PropCo had found it had been under 
billing for the rental of properties, the CCG had made allowance for this. 

In relation to year end settlements all providers had been agreed with the exception 
of the North East Ambulance Service (NEAS). 

The target for cash management draw down had been achieved in January 2015. 

Mr Macklin informed the Governing Body that he would be assisting the CCG in April 
and May to conclude the annual accounts and give assurance in the delivery of the 
finances. 

Mrs Taylor questioned why in the assurance report the year to date figure was 
92.4% and amber whereas in the finance report the forecast out turn was just over 
95% and green?  It was agreed to check to ensure consistency. 

Action: Mr Chandler to check the information in the assurance report against the 
finance report in relation to year to date figures. 

Mrs Taylor also questioned why the current liabilities were up £5m. In response it 
was explained that there had been a number of transfers from reserves into budget 



 

Page 9 of 13 
 

with the Executive Committee’s approval and this had led to an increase in accruals. 
It was anticipated that the accruals would in the main be paid by the end of March. 

 

The Governing Body NOTED the financial position of the CCG as at 31 January 
2015 and the forecast out turn for the financial year. 

 

2015/44 Approval of CCG Budgets 2015/16 & refreshed five year strategic 
financial plan 

The paper highlighted the overall revenue resources available to the CCG and 
included growth funding from NHS England of 1.4% for inflation plus 0.53% for 
resilience.  

Pressures in relation to 2014/15 packages of care and prescribing were highlighted. 

£17m had been identified for new recurrent investment part of which would cover 
Out of Hospital care, Mental Health and winter resilience schemes. 

The CCG is required to spend 1% of its budget on non-recurrent measures which 
would include winter pressures and primary care access schemes this year.  

A budget of £152m had been agreed with the local authority for the Better Care Fund 
and £35m received from NHS England for the co commissioning budget. 

The risk of major contracts not being signed at the time of budget setting was noted 
due to delayed agreement on tariffs. 

Mrs Taylor noted that the front sheet of the document did not include where the 
report had been reviewed.  Mr Chandler noted that due to the timing of the report, to 
review the report at Executive Committee prior to the Governing Body had not been 
possible although the detail had been discussed at various meetings and forums of 
the CCG. 

Mrs Taylor suggested that in future from a governance perspective a 1st draft should 
be presented to the Executive Committee. A closer look at the meetings scheduled 
on the Corporate Calendar may be required in the future. 

Members were asked to formally approve the £3m drawdown surplus to invest in non 
-recurrent strategic transformation projects following the submission of 3 business 
cases to NHS England. The three cases submitted were for: 

 A&E transformation support of £1,700k 
 GP Career Start Support of £500k 
 Better Care Fund Support of £800k 

 

An error in the report was noted under section iii) this should read as - funding levels 
that transfer to the CCG are appropriate and will cover costs not should cover costs. 



 

Page 10 of 13 
 

The Governing Body ACCEPTED and APPROVED the revenue budget proposals 
for 2015/16 and the supporting information relating to the Operational and Strategic 
Plans. 

 

2015/45 CCG Operational Plan Refresh 2015/16 

The report provided the Governing Body with an overview of the operational plan 
refresh for 2015/16 for approval prior to submission to NHS England on 7 April 2015. 

The 2 year operational plan was developed in April 2014, progress to date was 
identified which included the plan on a page document. A presentation of this had 
been given at the Governing Body meeting held in January 2015. 

A key change to the refresh was to increase the CCG’s ambition of potential years of 
lost life to 15% improvement by 2019. In taking on responsibility for the 
commissioning of primary medical care commissioning, specific measures to 
improve the experience of primary care were also required. Mrs Burnicle 
recommended the Governing Body keep the target for improvement to the current 
baseline for this year until a number of the transformation programmes were 
delivered and review next year, especially due to concerns re the sustainability of the 
GP/Nurse workforce currently. 

The Governing Body REVIEWED the key points of the operational plan refresh and 
APPROVED the documents for submission. 

 

2015/46 Better Care Fund – Section 75 Pooled Budget 

The purpose of the report is to seek approval for the Better Care Fund section 75 
agreement between Sunderland CCG and Sunderland City Council. 

The initial agreement is for one year with the intention to develop a three year 
agreement from 2016/17. The agreement has been set up and scrutinised by both 
partners’ legal representatives looking at the clauses, agreeing principles and 
values, approving the financial contingencies and risks. Mr Gallagher confirmed the 
membership of the Health and Social Services Integration Board would be a sub- 
committee of the Health and Wellbeing Board with a shared partnership approach 
with the CCG.  Following each meeting the minutes would be fed back to the 
Governing Body. 

The Better Care Fund had been established utilising joint governance between 
Sunderland CCG and Sunderland City Council to agree plans on how the money 
would be spent.  

Mrs Taylor enquired why the £152m budget sat within the local authority and not with 
the CCG and where had this decision been discussed, and added that the Audit 
Committee should have oversight of this spending. Mr Chandler confirmed that the 
one year agreement had significant safeguards in place and followed guidance from 
NHS England on how the money should flow.  
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Mr Revely confirmed that the local authority was relaxed on how the membership of 
the Integration Board was made up; a discussion would be held with the Integration 
Board following this meeting. 

The agreement required sign off by 31 March. 

The Governing Body NOTED the financial risks, APPROVED the section 75 
agreement and APPROVED the financial contributions to the Better Care Fund. 

 

2015/47 Recommended Bidder Report Integrated Community Musculoskeletal 
Services for Sunderland 

The purpose of the report was to inform the CCG of the outcome of the tender 
evaluations for the Integrated Community Musculoskeletal (MSK) service for 
Sunderland and to approve the recommended bidder in order to award the contract. 

Mrs Burnicle introduced Dean Burns, Procurement Officer from the North East 
Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) who would assist in answering any questions 
the Governing Body membership may have.  

The current MSK services are delivered through 2 separate contracts in Sunderland; 
the contracts had been extended to 30 September 2015 to enable a full re-
procurement and mobilisation of the new service. The new model would commission 
one contract with a single point of access for all patients. 

The re procurement and evaluation strategy was presented to the Executive 
Committee in October 2014. The approved bidder would be notified on 6 April 2015 
with a service start date of 1 October 2015. The contract value of the recommended 
bidder’s submission was £5,253,000 over the initial 3 year contract term. Mrs 
Burnicle added that there was a potential to extend the term of the contract if 
required. 

Mrs Burnicle noted that once the provider had been notified she would email the 
Governing Body members to inform them who the contract had been awarded to.  

Action: Mrs Burnicle to email the Governing Body members with details of who had 
been awarded the contract for MSK Services in Sunderland. 

Mrs Taylor asked if the report had been presented to the Executive Committee, in 
response Mrs Burnicle noted that there had been a significant number of items on 
the Executive agenda this month; a discussion had been undertaken as to whether 
this item should be included and had concluded that it should come to the Governing 
Body as it simply confirmed the outcome and was in excess of the Executive 
Committee’s delegated authority, 

Mrs Fox added that the recommendation within the report should be revised to make 
it clear that the contract had been awarded for being the highest quality service and 
not down to cost alone. 

The Governing Body APPROVED Bidder 2 as the recommended bidder for the 
Integrated Community Musculoskeletal Service for Sunderland.  
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2015/48 Out of Hospital Model of Care and Investment proposals 

The purpose of the report was to provide the Governing Body with an overview of the 
Out of Hospital model of care with a brief summary of each of the developed 
business cases.  

Mrs Burnicle noted that a lot of discussion had taken place with the Executive 
Committee in relation to this major transformational programme. 

It was explained to the Governing Body that there was a risk of challenge from 
providers out of the region as Sunderland had agreed their intention of working with 
existing providers and not going to the outside market. The model of care and 
business cases had been considered and supported by the multi-agency Out of 
Hospital Programme Board prior to being recommended to the Executive 
Committee. Approval of the investment in March would enable organisations to start 
recruitment for staff to be in place by July 2015. 

The benefits of the out of hospital transformation, financial efficiencies, risks and 
conclusions were outlined in some detail.  

The Governing Body CONSIDERED the report and associated business cases and 
AGREED the Out of Hospital Model of Care and APPROVED the associated 
investment proposals as the investment was greater than the Executive Committee 
delegation level. 

 

2015/49 Chief Officer’s Report 

The Chief Officer’s report was RECEIVED for information. 

 

2015/50Confirmed minutes of the Executive Committee meeting held on 6 
January 2015 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2015 were RECEIVED. 

 

2015/51 Confirmed minutes of the Executive Committee meeting held on 3 
February 2015 

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2015 were RECEIVED. 

 

2015/52 Confirmed minutes of the Audit Committee meeting held on 4 
November 2014 

The minutes of the meeting held on 28 November 2014 were RECEIVED. 
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2015/53 Confirmed minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting held on 
28 November 2014. 

The minutes of the meeting held on 28 November 2014 were RECEIVED. 

 

2015/54 Any other business 

There were no additional items of business. 

 

2015/55 Date of next meeting 

Tuesday 26 May 2015, 1.30-4.00pm in Bede Tower, Burdon Road, Sunderland, 
SR12 7EA. 
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NHS SCCG Governing Body Action Log      

 NHS Sunderland CCG Governing Body Action Log 26 May 2015  
 

Minute Reference Action Point Lead Timescale 

2014/84 Safeguarding Report A Governing Body development session to 
undertake an in-depth review of 
safeguarding for Adults and Children. 
 

A Fox Governing Body 
development session 
on 30th June 2015 

2014/127 Report from the 
Quality, Safety and Risk 
Committee 

The issue around out patients at City 
Hospitals Sunderland was delegated to the 
Executive Committee – a further report on 
Choose and Book would be presented to 
the Governing Body in March 2015. 

A Fox May 2015 

2015/18 Quality Action Plan A report to be presented to the July 
Governing Body meeting 

A Fox July 2015 

2015/36 Matters arising from the 
minutes and action log 

Mrs Fox to share the patient story with 
Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS 
Trust (NTW) 
 
Mrs Thwaites to forward the confirmed 
minutes to Mrs X for completeness 

A Fox 
 
 
 
J Thwaites 

Complete 
 
 
Complete 

2015/41 Primary Medical Care 
Co-commissioning 

Ms Cornell to amend the document to read 
NHS England throughout for consistency 
and remove reference to NHS 
Commissioning Board 
 
Ms Cornell to amend the scheme of 
delegation to reflect the new integration 
arrangements. 
 

D Cornell 
 
 
 
 
D Cornell 
 
 
 

Complete 
 
 
 
 
Complete 
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NHS SCCG Governing Body Action Log      

 Ms Cornell to remove the committee from 
the financial scheme of delegation. 

 
 

D Cornell Complete 

2015/42 SCCG Assurance 
Report 

Mrs Burnicle to look at the reformatting of 
the Q3 assurance document 
 
Mr Gallagher suggested that a report be 
presented at a Governing Body 
development session. 

D Burnicle 
 
 
A Fox 

July 2015 
 
 
To be arranged 

2015/43 Sunderland CCG 
Financial Report – month 10 

 

Mr Chandler to check  the information in 
the assurance report against the finance 
report in relation to year to date figures 

D Chandler May 2015 

2015/47 Recommended bidder 
report Integrated Community 
Musculoskeletal Services for 
Sunderland 

Mrs Burnicle to email the Governing Body 
members with details of who had been 
awarded the contract for MSK services in 
Sunderland 

D Burnicle Complete 



 

 
 

Item: 8 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY 

26th May 2015 

 
Report Title 
 

 
Complaint Review from NHS England 
 

 
Purpose of report 

An anonymous complaint was raised with the NHS 
England Chief Executive, Secretary of State for 
Health and the chairs of the Health Select 
Committee and Public Accounts Committee about a 
decision and decision making process of NHS 
Sunderland CCG relating to support for a GP 
alliance. 
 
Following investigation of the complaint by NHS 
England, this paper is the resulting report and the 
CCG’s response.  

 
Key issues, assurances and risks 
 

There were two elements of the complaint: 

 The use of public funds to support the 
establishment of the Sunderland CCG 
Alliance 

 The process by which the CCG made the 
decision to support the Sunderland GP 
Alliance. 

The review findings included in the report were: 

 That the CCG acted within national policy 
context and guidance and within its statutory 
powers 

 The organisational model of the Alliance is 
consistent with one of a number of models 
used elsewhere across the country and is 
not an issue for further assurance 

 The CCG did act within its constitution in 
relation to managing conflicts of interest and 
specifically to the process by which this 
decision was made 

 The CCG seeks to operate in an open way 
but could be clearer about how it enable 
members to express concerns that they feel 
are strategic or values based. 

Five learning points are outlined and appendix 1 
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outlines the CCG’s response to the five learning 
points highlighted in the report, two of which are 
complete. 
 
The CCG instigated a Conflicts of Interest Task and 
Finish Group, who will initially consider these action 
points. 
 

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

The Governing Body are asked to: 

 Consider the report  

 Agree the actions to respond to its learning 
points 

Sponsoring Governing Body member  
(where relevant) 

David Gallagher, Chief Officer 

Report Author 
John Bewick, Independent Reviewer for NHS 
England 
 

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO3 CO4 CO5 CO6 
      

Any relevant legal/statutory issues  

 
Are the identified risks on the Risk 
Register?  
(If so please include reference number) 
 

Not directly applicable 

Any information governance issues  Not directly applicable 

If report has been previously reviewed 
please specify which Committee and 
date of meeting 

Not reviewed elsewhere 
 
 
 

 
Equality Impact Assessment completed 
(please tick)  

Yes  No  
Not 
relevant 

 

Key implications for the following: 

 
Any additional resources needed? 
 

 
Not directly applicable 

 
Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  
 

Not directly applicable 

 
Any impact on patient outcomes? 
 

Not directly applicable 

 
Has there been member/stakeholder 

Report produced following interviews with CCG 
stakeholders. 
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*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 
 
 
 

engagement if needed?   
 

 



NHS Sunderland CCG: 
Complaint Review 
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1 INTRODUCTION 
 
An anonymous whistleblowing complaint has been raised with the Chief Executive of NHS 
England, the Secretary of State for Health, and the chairs of the Health Select Committee 
and Public Accounts Committee into the decision making process of NHS Sunderland 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), with reference to a decision taken in August 2014 to 
provide non-recurrent funding to help set up a federated GP provider organisation in 
Sunderland and the use of public funds for that purpose. The letter of complaint is annexed 
to this report. 
 
In the context of the assurance process operated by NHS England, this report reviews the 
complaint as part of the Governance domain of the CCG Assurance Framework. The report 
is provided to the Director of Commissioning Operations (North - Cumbria and North East) 
and the Regional Director (North) to be then shared with the Chief Executive of NHS England 
and the Secretary of State. NHS Sunderland CCG will be asked to receive the report in the 
public part of a meeting of its Governing Body. The outcomes of the report will also be 
considered as part of the quarterly assurance assessment of the CCG made by NHS 
England. 
 
 

2 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The complaint made about NHS Sunderland CCG has two elements that have been 
addressed in this review: 
 

1. The use of public funds to support the establishment of the Sunderland GP Alliance. 
 

2. The process by which the CCG decided to financially support the establishment of the 
Sunderland GP alliance. 

 
2.1 Review findings 

In relation to the use of public funds to support the development of more coherent primary 
care at scale in Sunderland, the CCG acted within national policy context and guidance and 
within its statutory powers. 
 
Within the overall principle of supporting the development of primary care, the review is 
advised by NHS England that Sunderland GP Alliance's use of a limited company with any 
profits re-invested into the community is one of a range of organisational models being used 
by primary care across the country, and not an issue for further assurance. 
 
In relation to the decision to approve funding for the Sunderland GP Alliance, while the 
CCG’s constitution describes the exclusion of relevant parties from the room for relevant 
parts of the meeting when a decision is taken, it also sets out an alternative course if deemed 
appropriate by the chair of the meeting. The constitution also sets out that while parties can 
stay for a discussion, they would normally (but not therefore always) be asked to leave the 
room when a decision is taken. The review concludes that the CCG did act within its 
constitution in relation to managing conflict of interests and specifically to the process by 
which the decision was taken to fund the Sunderland GP Alliance 
 
All CCGs are required to make decisions on a range of issues including those where 
member practices of the CCG are involved either as decision makers or as proponents of a 
course of action. By the nature of CCGs being membership organisations this is challenging 
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when proposals for decision include in part services provided by member practices. The 
review concludes that Sunderland  CCG seeks to operate in an open way but the CCG could 
be clearer about how it can better enable its members to express concerns that they felt are 
strategic or values based. 

 

2.2 Learning points 

The review team has identified the following learning points for the CCG arising from this 
review: 

 
� Learning Point 1: The review asks the CCG to consider how its governance 

processes could better accommodate both openness and enabling parties to be free 
to fully express their views, and how to manage the presence of people with conflicts 
of interest during the discussion and decision-making processes. 

 
� Learning point 2: The review asks the CCG to consider how some individuals may 

see issues as strategic and values-based and so wish to express views on them.  
This could be an intrinsic part of building consensus and commitment as the NHS and 
social care strive to transform care. 
 

� Learning Point 3: The review asks the CCG to assess its current approach to noting 
declarations of conflicts of interest at the meetings of its Governing Body and its 
committees so that there are comprehensive records made of all such declarations. 
At present declarations are noted but how these impact on an individual’s ability to 
participate in discussions or decisions or to chair a meeting is not clarified. 

 
� Learning Point 4: The review asks that the CCG consider a more proactive 

approach in using the Audit Committee to review governance issues when the 
processes and possibly the reputation of the CCG are challenged, with this being 
done independently of any party which raises a concern.  
 

� Learning Point 5: The review asks that the CCG look to clarify the elements of its 
constitution in paragraphs 33.2 and 33.3 that relate to where decisions are taken to 
the Governing Body, as the current wording is ambiguous. The CCG should consider 
revisiting the wording of paragraph 33.2 to make it clearer that this relates to when a 
committee cannot make a decision, not to the decision itself. 

 

 

3 CLARIFYING THE NATURE OF THE COMPLAINT 
 
The whistleblowing complaint is in relation to the use of public funds to support the 
establishment of the Sunderland GP Alliance and the process that was used to approve that 
support. The letter of complaint is at Appendix 1.  
 
The complainant enclosed a letter from a Sunderland GP on the CCG's Governing Body to 
the Chair of the Governing Body concerning the Sunderland GP Alliance. This appears to be 
the sole reference for the complaint. 
 
It is therefore important to distinguish that the issues reviewed in this report are those raised 
and set out by the complainant, not the concerns set out in the referenced letter. It is the 
review's understanding that the concerns set out in the referenced letter are being addressed 
within the usual business and governance processes of the CCG. 
 
The review concludes that the whistleblower's concerns are in relation to: 
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1. The use of public funds to support the establishment of the Sunderland GP Alliance. 

 
2. The process by which the CCG decided to financially support the establishment of the 

Sunderland GP Alliance. 
 

3. That in the future, GPs in the CCG who are in the Alliance will produce contracts the 
Alliance will then bid for. 

 
4. That in the future, the process in point 3 above will be done in secret. 

 
The first and second of these concerns have been considered to be within the scope of this 
review. The third and fourth concerns, relating to possible future behaviour of the CCG, are 
assertions of what might occur in the future and as such the review cannot test these 
assertions and therefore notes them for reference when reviewing the concerns set out in 
points 1 and 2 above.  
 
Accordingly the review has looked at the issues of the use of public funds to support the 
establishment of the Sunderland GP Alliance and the process by which the CCG arrived at 
the decision to provide this funding. 

 
 

4  CONDUCT OF THE REVIEW 
 

4.1 Review of documents 

The review looked at agendas, papers, and notes from meetings of the CCG’s Executive 
Committee and Governing Body. The CCG’s constitution, scheme of reservation and 
delegation, Standards of Business Conduct and Declarations of Interest policy, and the terms 
of reference of the Executive Committee were examined. National policy documents were 
accessed. 

 

4.2 Interviews 

Over a two day period the review met with six members and attenders of the CCG’s 
Governing Body including four members of the Executive Committee, three of whom were 
present at the meeting where it was agreed to support the establishment of the Sunderland 
GP Alliance. In addition the review team spoke to national and local colleagues from NHS 
England to discuss the policy context around GP federations. 
 

 

5 THE USE OF PUBLIC FUNDS 
 

5.1 The national context 

5.1.1 Improvement to General Practice 

As part of the national approach to better meeting the changing needs of the population 
across England, NHS England, within “A Call to Action” (March 2014), sets out ambitions to 
promote the improvement of General Practice. To support those ambitions, General Practice 
is encouraged to operate at greater scale and in greater collaboration with other providers 
and professionals and with patients, carers and local communities. CCGs were asked to use 
their clinical leadership and relationships with member practices to help transform primary 
care. 
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5.1.2 Investment in developing providers 

The general principle of commissioners investing in the development of providers, to enable 
them to become more effective organisations in delivering improved services for the 
commissioner against the changing needs of the local population, is well established. In 
relation to Primary Care, CCGs may invest in developmental support for GP practices and in 
premises development.  
 
The concept of GP federations has been current since at least 2007, when the Royal College 
of General Practitioners (RCGP) published a report that said that the current fragmentation of 
primary care services needed to be addressed, including through change in the organisation 
and delivery of services. The report argued that a federated approach with primary 
healthcare teams and practices working together would enable improved provision of 
services. The report said that to achieve optimal care, the strategic and organisational 
development of general practice had to be improved, including through the development of 
collaborative groups or federations of practices. 
 
Since the organisational changes to the NHS in 2013 this approach has been endorsed by 
including NHS England, most recently in the “Five Year Forward View” where a commitment 
was given to expand and strengthen primary and out of hospital care, in part by making it 
possible for extended group practices of GPs to form either as federations, networks or 
single organisations and address barriers to change including access to funding. 
 

5.1.3 National guidance for CCGs 

Recently the British Medical Association (BMA) published advice on federations saying that 
they offered the most effective way of allowing general practices to adapt and provided the 
ability to offer provision “at scale” whilst retaining the independence and basis of local 
general practice. 
 
As part of their establishment following the introduction of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012, all CCGs must operate with a view to securing integrated provision by health services 
to improve quality and reduce inequalities in access and outcomes.   
 
In November 2014 NHS England published guidance, “Next Steps Towards Primary Care 
Co-commissioning”, that confirmed that CCGs could fund GP practices to improve the quality 
of existing primary care services provided that the improvement can be expected to improve 
wider outcomes for the CCG’s population. Moreover, a CCG may invest in developmental 
support for GP practices or GP premises development provided that the CCG can 
demonstrate that the investment is designed to facilitate the provision of primary medical 
care. 
 

5.1.4 Legal models and responsibilities 

The review team would note that both the BMA and the RCGP have published advice to GPs 
on the setting up of federations. In both guidance documents a range of legal models are 
suggested for federations such as social enterprises, partnerships, and private companies 
and including a private company limited by shares. The pros and cons of each of the models 
are described in these documents. Both organizations emphasize that it is for the GPs 
themselves who are developing federations to secure their own legal advice before setting 
up any new entities. 

 

5.2 The local context 

CCGs across the country have made local assessments of primary care capability to move to 
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operate at greater scale and in greater collaboration. Local CCGs have come to a range of 
funding support models which reflect local circumstance. 
 
The review understood that Sunderland historically has not had a strong, developed general 
practice community. More recently, since the creation of the CCG, the CCG judged that 
practices had made significant progress in how they engage, but did not have the 
wherewithal to move forward coherently at pace. 

 

5.3 Sunderland CCG’s actions 

Sunderland CCG felt that the CCG's 51 practices needed to move to become a more 
coherent voice and to realise the service benefits of operating at scale. The CCG recognised 
the national encouragement to create federations, and concluded it needed to support the 
shift. 

 
5.3.1 Review findings 

The review finds in relation to the use of public funds to support the development of more 
coherent Primary care at scale in Sunderland the CCG acted within national policy context 
and guidance. 

 

5.4 The organisational form of Sunderland GP Alliance 

In relation to the organisational form of Sunderland GP Alliance, the review understands that 
initially the group of GPs wishing to take the Alliance forward had considered a Community 
Interest Company but due to changes in rules they had been advised that a more 
straightforward route was that of a Limited Company. The review understands that 
Sunderland GP Alliance is a private Limited Company in which any profit from any future 
provision contracts would be re-invested into the community, with this being included in the 
articles of the company. 

 
5.4.1 Review findings 

The review notes that the approach taken by the Sunderland GP Alliance to form as a private 
limited company is one of the models contained in the guidance documents produced by the 
BMA and the RCGP. 
 
 

6 THE PROCESS FOLLOWED BY THE CCG  
 

6.1 The CCG’s decision to financially support the establishment of 

the Sunderland GP Alliance 

The review understands that Sunderland CCG had been considering the significant 
challenges facing the NHS in general and Primary Care in particular since its creation in April 
2013. It is understood that this included exploratory events with GP practices during 2013, 
with a conference organised in October 2013 with presentations from NHS England, the 
Local Medical Committee, and a local law firm.  
 
In February 2014, the CCG supported two bids from groups of practices in Sunderland to the 
Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund for improvements to GP access, but these applications 
were not successful. One reason for this was that the quality of the proposal documents was 
below the standard expected for such exercises. Had the bids been successful then they 
would have involved setting up groups of practices, possibly as federations, with financial 
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support from NHS England nationally to help with Organisational Development.   

 
6.1.1 Sunderland GP Alliance proposal July 2014 

In that context the CCG was in discussion with GPs about how to develop working at scale in 
the case of the Challenge Fund bids being unsuccessful. In July 2014 a paper was 
developed by a Sunderland GP Alliance steering group. The paper identified the purpose of 
developing a Primary Care collaboration which would: 
 

� provide the patients of Sunderland with a consistent excellent level of service that 

meets patients' expectations  

� make efficiency savings/ economies of scale, for example in back office functions or 

the procurement of practice services 

� strengthen the capability of practices to develop new services out of hospital 

� act collectively to form an efficient, effective and competitive business entity that can 

tender for services 

� improve local service integration across practices and other providers 

� enhance the capability of practices to compete with external private sector providers 

� strengthen clinical governance and improve the quality and safety of service 

� develop training and education capabilities 

� facilitate practices to work together collectively across the city and in localities (which 

the current CCG locality structures) to jointly address issues and challenges which 

cannot easily be resolved by individual practices 

� offer skills and expertise that an individual practice would find it uneconomic to 

employ 

� work at scale to contribute effectively to the delivery of the commissioning strategy for 

healthcare in Sunderland 

� provide a single gateway point for member practices with Sunderland CCG and 

Sunderland Council, thereby improving efficiency 

 
To bring about these benefits the paper proposed a staged non-recurring fund of £1 per head 
of population for those practices wishing to sign up. This offer was open to all GP practices 
within the city.  

The review notes that this proposal was to support primary care in becoming more capable 
of meeting the range of potentials set out above; it did not include a specific business case 
that might arise at a future date from Primary Care's increased capability to operate in the 
ways described. 

 
6.1.2 CCG Executive Committee August and September 2014 

Background 

It was decided to take the Alliance steering group’s paper to a meeting of the CCG’s 
Executive Committee with a proposal to provide funding of £1 a head to practices in the 
Alliance, to assist in setting it up. The sponsor for the paper was the CCG’s Chief Financial 
Officer. If all practices in Sunderland were to take up this offer then the total cost would be 
£284,000. 
 
The Executive Committee is responsible for delivery of the CCG’s overall management, to 
support the CCG to work efficiently and economically, ensuring effective clinical engagement 
and promoting the involvement of all member practices in the work of the CCG in securing 
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improvements in the commissioning of care and services. 
 
One of its specific responsibilities is formulating and implementing service change and 
development arising out of the CCG’s strategy. 
 
The CCG’s strategy has three objectives: 
 

� Transforming out-of-hospital care (through integration and 7 day working)  
� Transforming in-hospital care, specifically urgent and emergency care (including 7 

day working) 
� Enabling self-care and sustainability 

 
The membership of the Executive Committee includes all of the members of the CCG’s 
governing body (including the six GP members) with the exception of the two statutory lay 
members and the secondary care doctor. The Committee is chaired by the CCG’s Chief 
Officer, who is not a GP. 
 
The CCG’s Scheme of Delegation delegates decisions about commissioning budgets and 
functions up to a value of £4,999,999 to the Executive Committee. Only decisions with a 
value of greater than £5m are reserved for the Governing Body.  
 
Although meetings of the Executive Committee are not held in public, the notes of its 
meetings are taken to a subsequent meeting of the Governing body and put into the public 
domain at that time. 
 

5 August 2014 Executive Committee meeting 

At the CCG Executive Committee of 5 August 2014, members of the Sunderland Alliance 
attended to present their proposal for funding. 
 
28 of 51 practices in Sunderland, covering approximately 160,000 patients, came forward at 
that stage, making a formal commitment to become members of the Sunderland GP Alliance 
by October 2014. The proposal would therefore be £160,000 in total.  
 
The review notes that the CCG had considered national encouragements to the concept of 
forming consortia of General Practitioners, including the Government's White Paper "Equality 
and Excellence : Liberating the NHS". The strategy document produced by the Alliance for 
discussion at the 5 August 2014 meeting had looked at successful examples of Federations 
and Alliances which have been established covering large numbers of practices, including 
Suffolk, South Worcestershire, and Derby. Other models in other professions were also 
considered in the document. 
 
The minutes of this meeting are not completely clear as to who declared a conflict of interest 
for the item on the Sunderland GP Alliance. The review has revisited the list of people 
attending and is satisfied that relevant interests were disclosed at the meeting. However for 
one of the members who declared an interest at the meeting, this declaration was not noted 
in the minutes. 
 
After the presentation by those making the proposal for the Sunderland Alliance, 
representatives of the Alliance did not leave the room during the discussion or the decision. 
 
There was a discussion at the meeting as to whether the item should be withdrawn as there 
had not been a prior discussion on the general principles about offering start-up funding to a 
GP federation. The notes of the meeting state that the decision was analogous to creating 
case law or a precedent and that £1 per head could be offered to other groups of practices 
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that wanted to work at scale. There was a perception that local policy was being developed 
at the same time as national policy was emerging.  
 
The decision to approve the proposal was taken by the members of the committee that had 
not declared an interest. 
 

2 September 2014 Executive Committee meeting 
 
At the next meeting of the Executive Committee, held on 2 September 2014, the minutes 
record a discussion about whether the governance process employed at the 5 August 2014 
meeting was appropriate, with a suggestion made that the matter be taken to the Governing 
Body for discussion. The minutes note that the appropriate forum for concerns about process 
was seen as the CCG’s Audit Committee.  

The review considered the governance issues in relation to those making the proposal not 
leaving the room during the discussion or decision and the decision not to refer to the 
Governing Body. 
 
The relevant aspects of the CCG's constitution are set out below:  
 

33.2 Where decisions are being made on such matters either at the Governing Body 
or at a committee or sub-committee of the CCG, GP practice members who have 
declared a specific interest in the matter, or all GP practice members at the meeting 
(where it is likely that all or most practices would wish to be qualified providers for a 
service under AQP) will be excluded from relevant parts of the meeting. Alternatively 
if deemed appropriate by the Chair of the meeting (or Deputy Chair if the meeting if 
the Chair of the meeting has declared an interest in the matter) they may join in the 
discussions, but not take part in the decision making itself and would normally be 
asked to leave the room until a decision has been made. Such matters will generally 
be referred to the Governing Body for decisions. The quorum arrangements for the 
Governing Body as set out in 21.3 will apply. 
 
33.3 If the Governing Body considers it prudent in a particular circumstance to seek 
additional scrutiny for assurance purposes on such a decision, they may refer the 
matter to the CCG's own Audit Committee for additional review, or alternatively may 
invite an individual(s) from another CCG to review the proposal, or alternatively may 
invite the Health and Wellbeing Governing Body to review the proposal; this will take 
place prior to a final decision on the matter by the CCG‟s own Governing Body or one 
of its committees as relevant. 

 
6 January 2015 Governing Body meeting 
 
Following the 2 September 2014 meeting of the Executive Committee there were 
conversations  within the CCG about the process used to arrive at the decision to fund the 
Sunderland GP Alliance and the principle of providing such funding in the first place. 
 
As a result it was decided to use the 6 January 2015 meeting of the Governing Body to have 
a discussion on the principles of supporting a provider federation and to reflect on the 
learning of the concerns raised about process issues. 
 
A paper went to the meeting titled “Support for providers for system transformation”, 
sponsored by the CCG’s Chief Officer. The paper described the roles and responsibilities of 
CCGs in relation to system transformation and approaches to work with providers to 
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encourage the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives. It also described ways in which the 
CCG can support providers and considerations to take into account in these situations. 
 
There was a discussion at the meeting on a framework for decision-making to support 
providers as part of work to transform the local system. The example of the decision to fund 
the Sunderland GP Alliance was given as a means of discussing the principles of this 
framework. There was a discussion around the principles and these were agreed by the 
Governing Body. The discussion also covered the process used for the Alliance decision and 
this was endorsed, although this was not a unanimous view of the members of the Governing 
Body. It was however concluded by the Governing Body that the decision made by the 
Executive Committee on 5 August 2014 should be confirmed. 
 
All the GP members of the CCG’s Governing Body declared an interest at the start of the 
meeting on 6 January 2015. The meeting was chaired by the Chair of the Governing Body, 
who is a GP. The CCG’s Standard of Business Conduct and Declarations of Interest policy 
says that where the chair of any meeting has a personal interest in relation to the scheduled 
business of the meeting then the deputy chair will act as chair of the relevant part of the 
meeting. As neither of the agenda items for the meeting were identified as procurement 
issues then it was not deemed that the personal interest statement in the policy applied for 
the GPs who declared an interest. 

 

6.2 Review findings 

6.2.1 Exclusion of relevant parties 

The review finds that while the constitution describes the exclusion of relevant parties from 
the room for relevant parts of the meeting, it also sets out an alternative course if deemed 
appropriate by the chair of the meeting. It also sets out that while parties can stay for 
discussion they would normally (but not therefore always) be asked to leave the room.  
 
The review finds that the CCG did act within its constitution in relation to the parties 
remaining in the room. 

The review looked at why the Chair of the Executive Committee exercised those options in 
this case. The review heard that the CCG has sought to pursue an approach of openness 
and inclusion since April 2013 as an integral part of building cohesion and trust across 
practices and the CCG. It was this general approach that had informed the process choices 
at the executive meeting. 

The review has looked at which members of the Executive Committee were involved in the 
decision and all of those who declared an interest were excluded from the decision. 
 

6.2.2 Constitution wording 

The review considers some of the wording in paragraph 33.2 of the CCG’s constitution to be 
ambiguous, specifically the statement that “Such matters will generally be referred to the 
Governing Body for decisions.” In discussion with the CCG it is clear that this relates to when 
a committee cannot make a decision, which was not the case with the 5 August 2014 
meeting. This could however be interpreted as meaning that the decision itself made by a 
Committee in the circumstances outlined in paragraph 33.2 should be referred to the 
Governing Body. The CCG should consider revisiting the wording of paragraph 33.2 to make 
it clearer that this relates to when a committee cannot make a decision, not to the decision 
itself.  
 

6.2.3 Decision not to refer to the Governing Body 
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In relation to the decision being taken at the Executive Committee rather than referred to the 
Governing Body, the review did go on to pursue why the Chair of the Executive Committee 
and the Chair of the CCG’s Governing Body exercised that option in this case. 
 
The review understands that one consideration was that as the amount of resource involved 
was within the Executive Committee's delegated limit it did not need to go to the Governing 
Body. Further it was felt that the proposal was at an early and relatively non-contentious 
technical stage. 
 
The amount of funding associated with the proposal totalled £160,000. As this fell well within 
the £4,999,999 limit delegated to the Executive Committee in the CCG’s Scheme of 
Delegation, the review concludes that it was appropriate for the matter to be decided by the 
committee.  
 
In the end this funding would only be available in the 2014/15 financial year and would be in 
two parts, with an initial 50p per head of population for forming a federation and a second 
50p per head if agreed criteria were achieved. The 50p/50p proposal was not part of the 
discussion at the 5 August 2014 meeting but was developed as the proposal was worked up 
for implementation. It was covered in the paper that went to the 6 January 2015 meeting of 
the Governing Body. 
 

6.2.4 Practice of openness and inclusion 

The review was impressed by the overall approach taken in Sunderland to openness and 
inclusion which appeared to have contributed to an improvement in relationships within 
primary care locally over the past few years. The review also recognised that where 
discussions and decisions are challenging at a meeting that it would not break that overall 
spirit of openness to exclude parties from the meeting where appropriate to let people 
express their views. The review did hear views that the CCG could do more to encourage 
challenge and discussion at meetings when clinical peers are present.  
 

6.2.5 Learning point 1 

� The review asks the CCG to consider how its governance processes could better 
accommodate both openness and enabling parties to be free to fully express their 
views, and how to manage the presence of people with conflicts of interest during the 
discussions and decision-making processes. 

 

6.2.6 Possible future practice 

The review recognised that, in both the value and the stage of development of the proposal, 
it could be seen as suitable for consideration at the Executive Committee. However the 
review also recognises that the strategic issues that flow from these early steps will for some 
have considerable significance. 
 
Technically it was a correct decision to take the Sunderland GP Alliance proposal to the 
Executive Committee, rather than to the Governing Body. However, a decision to support a 
federation is arguably a significant step for a CCG, and locally for Sunderland, as it indicates 
a changed emphasis in the way that general practice will be organised with the potential for 
more integrated services provided at scale to improve outcomes for people. There may be 
instances in the future where, beneficially for the CCG, an issue falling within the Executive 
Committee’s delegated authority could be taken to the Governing Body given the strategic 
value of the issue. 
 

6.2.7 Learning point 2 
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� The review asks the CCG to consider how some individuals may see issues as 
strategic and values-based and so wish to express views on them. This could be an 
intrinsic part of building consensus and commitment as the NHS and social care 
strive to transform care. 

 
The review found that the minutes of the meetings that were looked at were not always 
completely clear as to who had declared a conflict of interest for particular items, or the 
reason why a conflict of interest was noted and how this then impacted on the individual’s 
ability to continue to participate in the discussions at meetings, or on occasions to continue to 
chair meetings. Although the review found that relevant interests were disclosed and that the 
CCG worked within its policy on Standards of Business Conduct, the management of the 
recording of conflicts of interest could be improved. This will become increasingly important 
in the future, as the review heard that NHS Sunderland CCG has been approved to take on 
delegated primary care commissioning budgets.  

 
6.2.8 Learning point 3 

� The review asks the CCG to assess its current approach to noting declarations of 
conflicts of interest at the meetings of its Governing Body and its committees so that 
there are comprehensive records made of all such declarations. At present 
declarations are noted but how these impact on an individual’s ability to participate in 
discussions or decisions or to chair a meeting is not clarified. 

 

6.3 Use of the Audit Committee for reviewing governance 

adherence 

The review noted positively that once concerns were raised internally about the decision 
taken by the Executive Committee on 5 August 2014, the CCG suggested that the Audit 
Committee could consider the governance of the events above. This was in line with the 
CCG’s constitution. The issue did not go to the Audit Committee as there was an internal 
discussion within the CCG as to whether the concerns about the decision should be taken to 
the Governing Body instead. The review considers that the CCG could have acted more pro-
actively and taken the matter to the Audit Committee independently of differing views about 
the interpretation of the CCG’s constitution. 

 
6.3.1 Learning point 4 

� The review asks that the CCG consider a more proactive approach in using the Audit 
Committee to review governance issues when the processes and possibly the 
reputation of the CCG are challenged, with this being done independently of any 
party which raises a concern. 

 
The review observed that one reason for the issue not going to the Audit Committee was a 
difference of views about the intent of paragraphs 33.2 and 33.3 of the CCG’s constitution 
(see above). The review did consider the wording of these paragraphs to be ambiguous as it 
heard that they related to a situation where a committee meeting was unable to reach a 
decision, which was not the case with the 5 August 2014 as a decision was able to be made. 
Accordingly the suggestion of referring concerns about the process followed to the Audit 
Committee was in line with the CCG’s constitution. However, the review understood why the 
current wording of the constitution could lead to ambiguity on this point.  

 
6.3.2 Learning point 5 

� The review asks that the CCG look to clarify the elements of its constitution in 
paragraphs 33.2 and 33.3 that relate to where decisions are taken to the Governing 
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Body as the current wording is ambiguous. The CCG should consider revisiting the 
wording of paragraph 33.2 to make it clearer that this relates to when a committee 
cannot make a decision, not to the decision itself. 
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8 APPENDICES 

Appendix 1 – Copy of complaint letter 
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Appendix 2 – Terms of reference 

Complaint Review: NHS Sunderland CCG 

Terms of reference  

A whistleblowing complaint has been raised with the Chief Executive of NHS England, the 

Secretary of State for Health and the chairs of the Health Select Committee and Public 

Accounts Committee into the decision making process of Sunderland CCG with reference to 

provide non recurrent funding to help set up a federated GP provider organisation in 

Sunderland and the use of public funds for this purpose. 

In the context of the assurance process operated by NHS England this complaint will be 

reviewed as part of the Governance domain of the CCG Assurance Framework and advice 

given to the Chief Executive and Secretary of State, with feedback to the CCG. 

The review will: 

- clarify the nature of the whistleblowing complaint  

- examine the CCG's governance and decision making process, with reference to the specific 

issue raised by the whistleblower  

- test the approach taken by the CCG against national guidance and the practice in other 

CCGs 

- consider whether the CCG took appropriate factors into account in reaching their decision 

- identify any lessons for the future practice of the CCG and for policy development within 

NHS England 

The review will examine relevant documents and interview persons from the CCG and if 

necessary NHS England. 

A report will be provided to the Director of Commissioning Operations (Cumbria and North 

East) and the Regional Director (North) that can then be shared with the Chief Executive and 

the Secretary of State. The CCG will be asked to receive the report in the public part of a 

meeting of its Governing Body. The outcomes of the report will also be considered as part of 

the quarterly assurance assessment made by NHS England. 

The review will be carried out by John Bewick, Independent Reviewer, supported by Colin 

McIlwain, Head of Planning and Assurance (North). 

The review team will report by 20 March 2015.  

 



Item: 8 

 

 

Appendix 1 
DRAFT 

Governance Complaint Review Action Plan 
 

 

 Learning Point CCG Response Owner Timescale Status 

1 The CCG to consider how its 

governance processes could better 

accommodate both openness and 

enabling parties to be free to fully 

express their views, and how to 

manage the presence of people with 

conflicts of interest during discussion 

and decision making processes. 

Agreed. To be discussed by 

Conflicts of Interest Task and 

Finish Group 

Chief Officer August 

2015 

To be 

discussed in 

detail 

2 The CCG to consider how some 

individuals may see issues as 

strategic and values based and so 

wish to express views on them. 

Agreed. To be discussed by 

Conflicts of Interest Task and 

Finish Group and Governing Body 

Chief Officer August 

2015 

To be 

discussed in 

detail 

3 The CCG to assess its current 

approach to noting declarations of 

interest at the meetings of the 

Governing Body and its committees 

so there are comprehensive records 

made of all such declarations. 

Changes instigated to record: 

 Confirmation of quoracy 

 Declarations of interest at 
the start of the meeting 

 Declarations at each 
relevant agenda item 

 A description of how the 

Chief Officer Immediate Complete 



    

2 

 

declared interest will be 
managed within the 
meeting. 

 

4 The CCG consider a more proactive 

approach to using the Audit 

Committee to review governance 

issues when the process and possibly 

the reputation of the CCG are 

challenged, with this being done 

independently of any party which 

raises a concern. 

Discussed and agreed at the Audit 

Committee 

Audit Chair April 2015 Complete 

5 The CCG look to clarify the elements 

of its constitution in paragraphs 33.2 

and 33.3 that relate to where 

decisions are taken to the Governing 

Body, as the current wording is 

ambiguous. The CCG should consider 

rewording paragraph 33.2 to make it 

clearer this relates to when a 

committee cannot make a decision, 

not the decision itself. 

Agreed in principle - to be 

considered as part of reviewing 

and refreshing the CCG 

constitution. 

Chief Officer Dec 2015 In progress 

 

 

David Gallagher 

Chief Officer 

May 2015 
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Item: 9.1 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY MEETING  

26 MAY 2015  

 
Report Title 
 

Minutes of the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee 
held on 10th March 2015. 

 
Purpose of report 

For confirmation of the minutes from the Quality, 
Safety and Risk Committee (QSRC) and approval of 
the cover sheet prior to their submission to the 
Governing Body meeting on 26th May 2015.  

 
Key points, risks and assurances 
 

Issues 

 Serious Case Reviews – The Safeguarding 
Team continue to manage unprecedented 
numbers of Serious Case Reviews (SCR).  The 
CCG and Providers need to ensure timescales 
for these statutory reviews are adhered to; 
whilst also ensuring wider statutory 
safeguarding responsibilities continue to be 
complied with. Non recurrent financial support to 
providers has been provided. 

 City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust (CHSFT) has agreed to the CCG 
undertaking an ad hoc visit with co-
commissioners to visit the Accident & 
Emergency department out with the current 
programme.   

 
Risks 

 The CCG is not seen to be responding fully to 
the Transforming Care (TC) agenda. 

 The numbers of hospital admissions of people 
with learning disabilities and autism could 
increase to an unacceptable level. 

 4 SCRs will be published in the near future 
which could lead to a significant amount of 
media attention in the city.  

 Providers may not have reviewed their 
complaints processes to reflect the vision for 
good complaints handling and the 
recommendations from the Complaints and 
Raising Concerns report of November 2014.  To 
be raised at future Quality Review Group 
meetings (QRGs).   
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 A&E 4 Hour Wait due to under performance in 
2013/14 and continued under performance for 
2014/15. (CHSFT) is focusing on delivering the 
95% target by the end of the year but this is a 
significant risk. 

 HCAI specifically MRSA at City Hospitals 
Sunderland NHS FT as the FT have already 
breached a 0 trajectory so performance cannot 
be recovered. 

  52 weeks Referral to Treatment (RTT) waiting 
times for admitted and incomplete have 
breached 0 so performance cannot be 
recovered. 

 Admitted RTT specifically Urology and 
Orthopaedics.  Orthopaedics is emerging as a 
significant issue with a backlog of patients and 
concerns that there may be some 52 week 
waiters.   

 Ambulance Cat A calls (red 1 and critical) as it 
stands NEAS will not recover for this year 
2014/15 

 IAPT Access and Recovery due to under 
performance against the trajectory  

 Cancelled Operations not rebooked within 28 
Days of Cancellation as the FT have already 
breached a 0 trajectory so performance cannot 
be recovered 

 Astro PU (not on the Delivery Dashboard but a 
local issue) which is linked to the prescribing 
budget that is forecasting a significant 
overspend. 

 Cancer - Suspension of Breast Services at CHS 
NHSFT 

Assurances  

 Currently the inpatients with Learning 
Disabilities definitely need to be in hospital. 

 The Committee receives regular reports on 
SCCG’s progress in TC. 

 Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS 
Foundation Trust’s (NTW) community services 
in Sunderland are focused on avoiding hospital 
admissions and urgently plan for discharge if a 
Learning Disability patient needs to be admitted. 

 A new Safeguarding Children’s Board structure 
will be in place in April 2015 and will be at Chief 
Officer and Chief Executive level.  This will 
provide closer scrutiny and greater challenge.  A 
similar model will be developed for the 
Safeguarding Adults Board.   

 With regards to the reported increase in number 
of deaths related to substance misuse, there is 
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no evidence of a correlation between the 
change in 2013 in Substance Misuse Services 
commissioned by SCC and an increase in the 
number of deaths.  

 Complaints handling and discussions around 
complaints data are already discussed at every 
QRG, as recommended within the House of 
Commons Health Committee: Complaints and 
Raising Concerns. – Fourth report of session 
2014/15, which was published in January 2015.  

 C difficile at City Hospitals Sunderland NHS FT 
and the Community showing significant 
improvement. 

 Weekly escalation meetings now in place for 
sustained under performance in A&E 95% and 
ambulance handovers 

 Continued improvements in Cancer 
performance and close monitoring of waiting list. 

 Continued improvements in the number of non-
elective admissions 

 Routine meetings in place at Medical Director 
level around Breast Services at CHS NHSFT 

 National Paediatric Diabetes Audit 2013/14: 
Sunderland had good results as a unit being the 
16th best HbA1c nationally (out of 177 units) and 
the best in the region.  

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

For approval of the minutes and the front sheet. 

Sponsor/approving director   Ann Fox, Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety 

Report author 
 
Sue Goulding, Head of Quality and Patient Safety 
 

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO3 CO4 CO5 CO6 CO7 

       
   

Any relevant legal/statutory issues N/A 

 
Are the identified risks on the risk 
register? (If so, include reference 
number) 
 

Quality in Care Homes 
Health Care Acquired Infections 
A&E performance 
Safeguarding Adults and Children 

If issue/report has been previously 
reviewed please specify meeting and 
date 

N/A  

 
Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  

N/A  No  
Not 
relevant 

 

Key implications  Yes No Details 
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*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 
CO7 - Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund   

 
 
 

 
  
 
 
       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Are additional resources required?  If 
so please specify 
 

  
 

 
 

 
Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  
 

  Clinicians at QRG meetings 

 
Any current or expected impact on 
patient outcomes/experience? 
 

   

 
Has there been member practice 
and/or other stakeholder engagement 
if needed?   
 

   

Version Date Comments  

QSRCV1.0   
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Quality Safety and Risk Committee  
Minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2015  

Sir Tom Cowie Suite Pemberton House  
 

Present:  
Mrs Aileen Sullivan, NHS SCCG Lay Member for Patient Public Involvement (Chair)  
Dr Henry Choi, NHS SCCG Clinical Effectiveness Lead left at 4pm  
Mrs Deborah Cornell, NHS SCCG, Head of Corporate Affairs  
Mrs Janet Farline, NHS SCCG Clinical Quality Officer 
Mrs Ann Fox, NHS SCCG Director of Nursing Quality and Safety  
Mr David Gallagher, NHS SCCG Chief Officer  
Mrs Gillian Gibson, Sunderland Council Public Health Consultant 
Dr Jackie Gillespie, NHS SCCG Medicines Management Elected GP  
Mrs Sue Goulding, NHS SCCG Head of Quality and Patient Safety 
Mrs Deanna Lagun, NHS SCCG Head of Safeguarding  
Mrs Carol Lancaster, NHS SCCG Clinical Quality Officer 
Dr Geoff Stephenson, NHS SCCG Medical Director 
Mr Scott Watson, NHS SCCG Head of Contracting, Performance and Business 
Intelligence  
  
In Attendance:  
Mrs Michelle Turnbull, NHS SCCG Commissioning Manager (arrived at 2:15pm, left 
at 2:30pm) 
Mrs Eleanor Hardy, NHS SCCG PA (minutes) 

 
 

2015/29 Welcome and Introductions 
Aileen Sullivan welcomed everyone present to the meeting. 
 
 
2015/30 Apologies for Absence 
Apologies had been received from:  
Professor Mike Bramble, NHS SCCG Secondary Care Consultant  
Julie Whitehouse, NHS SCCG Clinical Quality Officer   
 
 
2015/31 Declarations of Interest 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
2015/32 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 10 February 2015 – Enclosure 
Gillian Gibson advised that her correct title was Public Health Consultant. Following 
this amendment the minutes of the previous meeting held on 10 February 2015 were 
agreed as an accurate record of the meeting. 
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2015/33 Matters arising  
Aileen Sullivan referred to Page 3 of the minutes, “In regards to the Integrated 
Musculoskeletal Service Matt Thubron noted this had not had the impact we would 
have liked to have seen” and asked if this was included in the NEAS/A&E contract 
meetings.  Scott Watson advised that the A&E contract meetings were around 
delivery of the ECIST Action Plan.  A number of meetings had been held with NEAS 
planning how to recover performance.  Ann Fox advised that a Special NEAS QRG 
had been held in December 2014 focusing on NEAS performance issues.  Going 
forward, minutes from these meetings will be presented to the Quality Safety and 
Risk Committee for assurance. A 6 month review of progress made by NEAS will be 
undertaken.  A substantial number of issues are linked with workforce gaps: work 
has been undertaken around these issues and it is important to be mindful that 
workforce gaps in terms of paramedics is a national issue. All Issues are being 
closely monitored at regular Contract and Commissioning Group meetings and 
quality is being monitored at the NEAS Quality Review Group meetings. Scott 
Watson advised in terms of contracts for NEAS, block contracts for all CCGs had 
been proposed to enable some stability for NEAS and to provide a solid foundation 
from which to work, but as of this meeting commissioners and NEAS were still some 
way apart re agreement.  
 
 
2015/34 Action Log – Enclosure  
All actions were discussed and updated on the action log 
 
 
2015/35 Summary sheet – Enclosure         
Sue Goulding presented the summary sheet to the committee.  The purpose of the 
summary sheet was to confirm the minutes from the Quality, Safety and Risk 
Committee (QSRC) and approval of the cover sheet prior to their submission to the 
Governing Body meeting on 24 March 2015. 
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee approved the minutes of the meeting held 
on 10 February 2015 and summary sheet to be submitted to the Governing Body 
meeting on 24 March 2015 
 
 
QUALITY IN COMMISSIONED SERVICES   
 
2015/36 Transforming Care Report – Enclosure  
Michelle Turnbull presented the Transforming Care Report to the committee. The 
purpose of the report was to advise the Committee of recent progress in 
implementing Transforming Care (TC) and the publication of several national reports. 
 
Key Points: 
The report provided information on TC recent progress and three TC national reports 
recently published, “Time for Change”, “Transforming Care Two Years on” and 
“Transforming Care - Next Steps”. 
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Risks:  

 That the CCG is not seen to be responding fully to the TC agenda 

 That numbers of  hospital admissions of people with learning disabilities and 

autism increase to an unacceptable level 

 
Michelle Turnbull advised that there is currently no one in hospital that should not be 
there.  Patients that are in hospital are there because of the level of need; they will 
continue to be reviewed and where required, bespoke packages will be put in place.   
 
Assurances: 

 The Committee receives regular reports on CCG progress in TC. 

 NTW community services in Sunderland are focussed on avoiding hospital 

admissions and urgently plan for discharge should an individual have to be 

admitted. 

 
Ann Fox felt that it should be acknowledged that this was excellent collaborative 
work and that thanks should be noted formally for collaborative efforts.  
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report and noted the contents 
 
PATIENT SAFETY 
2015/37 Safeguarding Highlight Report and key assurances from the Strategic 
Safeguarding Group – Enclosure  
 
Deanna Lagun presented the Safeguarding Highlight Report to the committee.  The 
purpose of the report was to advise the Committee of current safeguarding adult and 
children activity, associated risks and mitigating actions. 
 
Key Issues: 
Serious Case Reviews – The Safeguarding Team continue to manage 
unprecedented numbers of Serious Case Reviews. The CCG and Providers need to 
ensure timescales for these statutory reviews are adhered to; whilst also ensuring 
wider statutory safeguarding responsibilities continue to be complied with. 
 

 A thematic tool has been developed identifying key learning from both adult 

and children SCRs and Domestic Homicide Reviews – appendix 1 

 An Internal Audit of the CCG’s Safeguarding Arrangements has been  

 undertaken – see enclosure 5.2 

 
Deanna Lagun reinforced the unprecedented number of Serious Case Reviews 
being undertaken in Sunderland and the considerable pressure in systems.  A 
difference  be seen in the performance figures on Provider Dashboards because of 
this. Non recurrent financial support would be given to providers to assist with this.  
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Deanna Lagun advised that 4 Serious Case Reviews would be published in the near 
future and there would be a significant amount of media attention in Sunderland. 
Media Planning meetings were to be arranged and briefing session regarding the 
lessons learned would be held.  
 
A New Safeguarding Children Board structure will be in place in April 2015 and will 
be at Chief Officer and Chief Executive Level.  This will provide tighter scrutiny and 
greater challenge.  A similar model will be developed for the Safeguarding Adults 
Board.   
 
Work is ongoing around Child Exploitation which had not been included in the 
Safeguarding Report.  Sunderland is not in a good position but this is the same 
nationally.  Work is ongoing to ensure all staff is aware of and understand the 
legislation around trafficked children.  
 
Key areas of assurance: 
Risks and mitigating actions – appendix 2 
 
Deanna Lagun invited questions from the Committee.  
 
Ann Fox acknowledged the enormous amount of unprecedented activity.  As 
learning is embedded the number of serious case reviews should reduce but the 
current activities would be sustained for 18 months. In recognition of this non 
recurrent financial investment had been provided  
 
Gillian Gibson referred to substance misuse services raised in the media;   
Sunderland Council had procured new services in August 2013. Following 
implementation of these services performance had been poor.  From December 
2013 Sunderland Council had been working with providers and significant 
improvement had been seen.  Sunderland Council had established an Improvement 
Group and going forward, Sunderland Council would be commissioning new 
services. In regards to the reported increase in number of deaths related to 
substance misuse, there is no evidence of a correlation between the change in 
services and an increase in deaths and perhaps the data had been misinterpreted. 
Deanna Lagun highlighted the Drug Death Panel had been resurrected in 
Sunderland and focused on a wider agenda than just Drug Treatment Services.    
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report and noted the 
assurances 
 
 
2015/38 Safeguarding Internal Audit Report - Enclosure  
Deanna Lagun presented the Safeguarding Internal Audit Report to the committee. 
The assurance rating for this report was recorded as Significant.  
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report for information and 
assurance.  
 
 
QUALITY IN COMMISSIOINED SERVICES  
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2015/39 Parliamentary Inquiry into Complaints – Enclosure  
Sue Goulding presented the Parliamentary Inquiry into Complaints Report to the 
committee. The purpose of the report was to raise awareness of the embedded 
reports into NHS complaints handling and to highlight any risks and provide 
assurance to the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee. 
 
Issues:  
 
1. My expectations for raising concerns and complaints was published in 
November 2014.  
 
When the government issued Hard Truths, its response to Robert Francis’ inquiry 
into the failings at Mid-Staffordshire NHSFT there was a commitment to develop a 
user-led vision of the complaints system. The Complaints Programme Board was set 
up in 2013 and has led the development of the vision for good complaint handling 
across both health and social care sectors, from a user perspective, in association 
with the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman and Healthwatch England.  
The user-led vision for raising concerns and complaints includes the following 
expectations for patients/Carers: 
 

 I feel confident to speak up 

 I felt that making my complaint was simple 

 I felt listened to and understood 

 I felt that my complaint made a difference 

 I would feel confident making a complaint in the future  

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is now using the framework for good practice 
in their new inspections.  
 
2. The House of Commons Health Committee: Complaints and Raising 
Concerns - Fourth Report of Session 2014-15 was published in January 2015. 
 
This report follows the inquiry that was held in 2011 which reviewed complaints and 
litigation within the NHS, which reviewed variation in the complaints system across 
England.  Since that date the Health and Social Care Act, has been implemented 
and the reports of the Francis inquiry and the review of the national complaints 
system by Clwyd & Hart have been published.  The 2014-15 inquiry followed up the 
recommendations of the earlier inquiry  
 
The inquiry considers handling of complaints made by patients and families, as well 
as staff; support for patients, the public and staff who wish to make complaints or 
raise concerns; the consequences of complaints for care providers and of raising 
concerns for the employment prospects of staff; and future plans for improvements in 
this area. 
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The responsibility for a responsive complaints system is distributed across the health 
service including Trust Boards CQC, commissioners, Healthwatch England, local 
Healthwatch, the Health Service Ombudsman and the GMC/NMC is identified within 
the Inquiry report.   
 
The Inquiry makes several recommendations (page 37) including one specifically 
about the role of commissioners: “We recommend that the system for service users 
to make complaints to commissioners about NHS services should be integrated into 
a single complaints system. Commissioners need to take a far greater role in holding 
providers to account for delivering well-functioning complaints system.” 
  
Risks: 
Providers may not have reviewed their complaints processes to reflect the vision for 
good complaints handling and the recommendations within the report from the 
Complaints and Raising Concerns report.  To be raised at future Quality Review 
Group meetings.  Deanna Lagun advised that she would also be asking 
Safeguarding providers if they have taken these reports into account and will be 
monitoring this.  
 
The House of Commons Inquiry suggests that whilst some progress has been made, 
with patient safety and complaints now being high profile issues there are still too 
many individual cases which are mis-handled.  
 
Assurance: 
Complaints handling and discussions around complaints data, including themes and 
complaints management is already discussed at every Quality Review Group. 
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report and noted the issues, 
assurance and risks identified in embedded papers relating to complaints and raising 
concerns. 
 
 
2015/41 CQUIN 2015/16 Update – Verbal 
Sue Goulding gave a verbal update on CQUIN 2015/16 to the committee. 
 
National guidance around CQUIN had just been made available week commencing 2 
March 2015 which did not leave a great amount of time to be completed. There were 
slight changes to indicators with a suite of four indicators for ambitious Trusts. City 
Hospitals Sunderland FT are almost ready to sign up to indicators, South Tyneside 
FT have agreed national indicators and two further indicators, electronic 
communication and Integrated Team work.  NEAS is a two year scheme and are 
adding more detail into what outcomes will mean for patients. Northumberland Tyne 
and Wear FT indicators are likely to stay the same with no significant movement.  
CQUIN Summaries for all Providers will be presented to the Quality Safety and 
Risk Committee on 14 April 2015. 
 
 
2015/42 Quality Assurance Site Visits SCCG Pre Meeting Standard Operational 
Procedure (SOP) – Enclosure  
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Carol Lancaster presented the Clinical Quality Assurance Site Visits Report to the 
committee.  
 
The purpose of the report was for the Quality Safety and Risk Committee to discuss 
the proposed NHS quality assurance site visit programme which included 
Sunderland CCG’s draft pre-meeting Standard Operational Procedure. 
 
In assessing the quality of care delivered within our commissioned services the CCG 
is granted rights (within the NHS Standard contract) to undertake site visits to the 
providers’ premises to seek assurance that appropriate care is given within a 
suitable environment.  
 
A draft pre meeting Standard Operational Procedure has been developed to assist in 
the process prior to a quality assurance site visit. 
 
Carol Lancaster invited questions from the committee.  
 
Ann Fox clarified this process was for when Sunderland CCG is leading the visits.  
Four dates had been agreed with City Hospitals Sunderland for Sunderland CCG to 
do this.  It was important that Sunderland CCG visitors had a planning meeting 
before the visit to decide which area of the hospital was to be visited and to ensure 
the appropriate people would be attending the visit.  
 
Ann Fox advised that at the City Hospitals Sunderland (CHS) Quality Review Group 
held in February 2015, Sunderland CCG co-commissioners (Durham) had said they 
would like to attend a visit to A&E.  Sue Goulding updated the committee that she 
had attended a CHS ward visit in A&E on 13 February 2015.  This had been 
enlightening however it had been a quiet time and felt it would have been better to 
visit when A&E was in full action.   The CHS Director of Nursing had suggested an 
ad hoc visit to A&E would be an opportunity to get a better perspective on how A&E 
operates during times of pressure. Ann Fox felt that this would be a good opportunity 
for co-commissioners to join Sunderland CCG on a visit to A&E however another 
suggestion may be to include the A&E visit into the Perfect Week.  
Action: Ann Fox to have a conversation with Joy Akehurst to establish the 
best way to take this forward.  
 
Aileen Sullivan said she would like to see the patient journey through outpatients in 
regards to patients with difficulties for example autism. It would be interesting to see 
if what we are being told is happening is actually happening. Scott Watson advised 
that the change to processes in outpatients is not being rolled out as efficiently  as 
the Trust had hoped and that Sunderland CCG is sighted on this.  
 
Discussions were held around specialist services that Sunderland CCG did not 
currently see and the need for Sunderland CCG visits to be 24/7 if it was recognised 
some services were not working the way Sunderland CCG felt they should be. Ann 
Fox agreed that the visits needed to over a 7 day week but given that the visiting 
schedule for 2015 had already been set SCCG would work along with this.  For 2016 
the visiting schedule would be 24/7 including weekend and evening visits etc.  
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Deanna Lagun advised that the Safeguarding Assurance Framework was being 
reviewed and that Designated Safeguarding Nurses had the authority to go in 
Hospitals for visits following key lines of enquiry.  Designated Safeguarding Nurses 
have the expertise to support Sunderland CCG in this respect.  
 
Aileen Sullivan questioned who from Sunderland CCG should be attending clinical 
visits and should we be including all GPs not necessarily GPs that are members of 
the Quality Safety and Risk Committee.  Geoff Stephenson felt it would be difficult in 
terms of GPs availability but would be good in terms of development.   
 
Ann Fox advised that Northumberland Tyne and Wear had provided a list of dates 
and were also happy for Sunderland CCG to carry out unannounced visits.   
Action: Committee members to discuss and agree at the Quality Safety and 
Risk Committee on 14 April 2015, which area of NTW SCCG would like to visit 
and who would be the appropriate people to attend 
 
Ann Fox advised that currently South Tyneside Foundation Trust visits were across 
whole services and she was working closely with them to get to the same principles 
in place as City Hospitals Sunderland.  
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee approved the Quality Assurance Site Visits 
SCCG Pre Meeting Standard Operational Procedure 
 
 
GOVERNANCE  
2015/43 Monthly SCCG Assurance Exception Report  
Scott Watson presented the monthly SCCG Assurance Report to the Committee.  
 
The purpose of this report was to provide Sunderland CCG Quality, Safety and Risk 
Committee with an exception report detailing the current under-performing measures 
which are part of the CCG Assurance Framework and provide assurance of the 
actions being taken where necessary.   
 
Key Risks  

 A&E 4 Hour Wait due to under performance in 2013/14 and continued under 

performance for 2014/15 

 
Scott Watson advised that City Hospitals Sunderland Foundation Trust (CHSFT) is 
focusing on delivering the 95% target by the end of the year but this is a significant 
risk.  The North East and Cumbria Area Team have expectations of Sunderland 
CCG to manage this and A&E will be on the radar for next year. Pediatric illness and 
injury will be streamed to Pallion Urgent Care Centre, from NHS 111by the end  of 
March 2015, which should hopefully create some additional capacity within the A&E.   
 
In regards to the chart on page 1 of the report “% patients spending 4 hours or less 
in A&E or minor injury unit” of the report, Scott Watson advised that Sunderland 
CCG had been achieving this for October and November however because of the 
way the indicator is constructed across its providers it was showing as 
underperforming.  The Area Team would need to refresh the mapping re the 
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procurement of the Urgent Care Centre’s otherwise it would look like Sunderland 
CCG is failing.  David Gallagher agreed that the figures did not reflect accurately 
what was happening and that the ECIST report also showed this.  It was important 
that the picture for Sunderland is reflected accurately.  
 
Ann Fox referred to the ECIST recommendations and clarified this was not just for 
City Hospitals Sunderland.  A significant amount of work had been undertaken with 
all providers via the Urgent Care Board. There had been no surprises from the 
ECIST recommendations as these were already being worked on. The plan may 
need to be refreshed following The Perfect Week.    
 

 HCAI specifically MRSA at City Hospitals Sunderland NHS FT as the FT have 

already breached a 0 trajectory so performance cannot be recovered 

 
There had been a further MRSA case at City Hospitals Sunderland in February 
2015.  Geoff Stephenson advised he was aware of this but no information had come 
through to Sunderland CCG as yet. An update would be given to the Quality Safety 
and Risk Committee in April 2015. 
 

 52 weeks RTT waiting times for admitted and incomplete have breached 0 so 

performance cannot be recovered. 

 Admitted RTT specifically Urology and Orthopedics 

 
Scott Watson advised that Urology was on track to deliver across all standards by 
the end of March 2015.  Orthopedics was emerging as a significant issue with a 
backlog of patients and concerns that there may be some 52 week waiters.  NHS 
England had identified funding to help with this which had now been rescinded with 
the financial consequences of the proposed work now the responsibility of CCGs. 
There were concerns that this may affect City Hospitals Sunderland as a provider 
and Sunderland CCG need to be mindful of this. Sunderland CCG is in receipt of an 
Action Plan for Orthopedics and the same process Sunderland CCG had with 
Urology needs to be in place with Orthopedics. 
 
In regards to Ambulance Cat A calls (red 1 and critical) Scott Watson advised that as 
it stands NEAS would not recover for this year.  Sunderland CCG would focus on 
how the contract is constructed for next year in regards to this.  
 

 IAPT Access and Recovery due to under performance against the trajectory  

 
Scott Watson advised that IAPT was falling a little short of recovery but should 
achieve both indicators.  
 

 Cancelled Operations not rebooked within 28 Days of Cancellation as the FT 

have already breached a 0 trajectory so performance cannot be recovered 
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 Astro PU (not on the Delivery Dashboard but a local issue) which is linked to 

the prescribing budget which is forecasting significant overspend. 

 Cancer - Suspension of Breast Services at CHS NHSFT 

 
In regards to the suspension of the Breast Service at City Hospitals Sunderland and 
the cancer access targets, as patients were now going elsewhere, City Hospitals 
Sunderland’s performance may look worse as breast services used to form part of 
the activity. Sunderland CCG was seeking assurance via the contract route that 
CHSFT would continue to achieve the 2 week, 31 day and 62 day standards.  
 
Key Assurances 

 C difficile at City Hospitals Sunderland NHS FT and the Community showing 

significant improvement. 

 Weekly escalation meetings now in place for sustained under performance in 

A&E 95% and ambulance handovers 

 Continued improvements in Cancer performance and close monitoring of 

waiting list. 

 Continued improvements in the number of non-elective admissions 

 Routine meetings in place at Medical Director level around Breast Services at 

CHS NHSFT 

 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report and noted the current 
position for each under-performing indicator in the CCG Assurance Framework and 
noted the actions being taken to address the performance issues. 
 
 
ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 
2015/44 City Hospitals Sunderland Quality Review Group minutes, 16 January 
2015 
Geoff Stephenson presented the City Hospitals Sunderland Quality Review Group 
minutes from the meeting held on 16 January 2015 to the committee for information.   
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the minutes for information.  
 
 
2015/45 Primecare/GP Out of Hours  
Sue Goulding presented the Primecare/GP Out of Hours minutes of the meeting held 
on 8 January 2015 to the committee for information.  
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the minutes for information.  
 
 
2015/46 Transforming Care for people with Learning Disabilities - Next Steps  
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The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report for information.  
 
 
2015/47 Any other business  
Ann Fox brought the My NHS campaign to the attention of the committee.  A “My 
NHS” display had been recently set up in a local supermarket in Sunderland.  
Because of its position the display had not been particularly visible. Staff promoting 
this event had been wearing My NHS tee shirts but these were covered up with 
fleeces because of the cold weather and position of the display; practical clothing 
should be supplied to staff promoting “My NHS”. Ann Fox felt that more promotional 
material was required in order to get the message across on what “My NHS” was 
about.  
Action: Ann Fox to pick this up with NECS 
 
Henry Choi reported that some good news had been received from the National 
Paediatric Diabetes Audit 2013/14.  Sunderland had come out of this review 
extremely well as a unit.  Sunderland’s mean HbA1c has fallen to 66.4 (national 
average 71, Regional average 72.) For those not used to this, the lower the better, 
showing good diabetes control and a low risk of diabetes complications in the future. 
We have the 16th best HbA1c nationally (out of 177 units) and the best in the region. 
The committee felt this story should be sent to Communications as a piece of good 
news to be cascaded to all Sunderland GP Practices and SCCG staff. 
Action Debbie Cornell to forward this story to Communications for cascading  
 
 
2015/48 Date and time of next meeting:  
Tuesday 14 April 2015, 2pm - 5pm 
Joseph Swan Suite Pemberton House  
 
 

 

Signed  
 
 
 
 
Date:  
 
 
 

 



        

Page 1 of 25 

 

 

 
Item: 9.1 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY MEETING  

26 May 2015 

 
Report Title 
 

Minutes of the Quality, Safety and Risk 
Committee held on 14th April 2015.   

 
Purpose of report 

For confirmation of the minutes from the Quality, 
Safety and Risk Committee (QSRC) and 
approval of the cover sheet prior to their 
submission to the Governing Body meeting on 
26th May 2015.  

 
Key points, risks and assurances 
 

Key points: 
Patient Experience 

 SCCG’s patient and public engagement 
activity has been benchmarked against 
the national document “Transforming 
participation in health and care” for the 
first time since its publication in 
September 2013. Three Engagement 
Labs were held where CCG staff and 
external stakeholders were invited to drop 
in to discuss CCG engagement activity. 
Further papers will be brought to the 
future QSRC meetings  
 

Revised Risk Management Framework 

 A risk management group to manage 
lower level risks is being established with 
a revised risk reporting structure to 
ensure a more robust approach to 
managing risks at the right level. Risks 
are going to be re-categorised into either 
operational or strategic. Updated 
guidance will be available for staff.  

 
Risks/Mitigating actions 

 Not all GP practices are using the new 
Safeguard Incident and Risk 
Management System (SIRMS) to report 
incidents.  Low numbers of incidents 
reported does not demonstrate a good 
safety culture.  A SIRMS user group is 
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being set up to encourage incident 
reporting by all GP practices, to ensure 
that lessons learnt from incidents can be 
shared to prevent recurrence and to 
develop the system.   

 Monitor has been informed of the 
financial deficit at City Hospitals 
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 
(CHSFT). The date of official visit has not 
been confirmed yet. A Quality v Cost 
Improvement Program (CIP) meeting has 
been arranged with the Trust. 

 The number of patients waiting between 
4 and 12 hours in the Emergency 
Department (ED) had increased 
significantly during winter pressures. The 
average number of patients waiting 
between 4 and 12 hours per month had 
increased from 56 between April and 
September 2014 to 166 between October 
2014 and February 2015; the year to date 
is an average of 106.  In ED monthly 
audits are being carried out on a sample 
of 20% of patients who have waited in the 
department for more than 8 hours to 
assess the quality of their care.  

 Sunderland breast care services have 
been suspended due to staffing issues. 
Breast care services continue to be 
supported by Newcastle Upon Tyne NHS 
Foundation Trust (NuTH) and the Queen 
Elizabeth Hospital Gateshead. CHSFT 
continue to work with SCCG and the 
providers to re-establish a local breast 
care service by the summer 2015  

 Information on the workforce within 
CHSFT including workforce profile, 
staffing levels, recruitment and retention 
rates, sickness absence, mandatory 
training, appraisals and fitness to practice 
has not been received on a regular basis. 
The workforce report has been requested 
to be received at the next QRG in April 
2015. 

 South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 
(STFT) has been reported as having a 
significantly high Summary Hospital-level 
Mortality Indicator (SHMI) and Hospital 
Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR). 
The data is also inclusive of St Benedict’s 
Hospice.  This is under review by NHS 
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England and CCGs at the Quality Review 
Group (QRG).  

 STFT was formally notified by NHS 
England regarding significant findings 
made by the peer review team during a 
visit to the trauma unit. Feedback from 
the review  raised “serious concern” that, 
whilst not presenting an immediate risk to 
patient or staff safety, it is likely to 
seriously compromise the quality of 
patient care, and therefore requires 
urgent action to resolve. A Major Trauma 
Work Plan has been developed to 
address serious concerns with the trauma 
unit.  

 The Safer Staffing report for 
Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS 
Foundation Trust (NTW) for November & 
December 2014, in December 6 wards 
had qualified staff under the 90% target 
and 5 under 80%, which is an increase 
from November figures. Reasons for 
under staffing are current vacancies and 
inability to find qualified bank cover.  
Actions taken by NTW to resolve this 
issue was to supplement qualified staff 
with unqualified. Sickness has increased 
to 7.22% in December 2014 from 6.38% 
the previous month. Safer staffing is 
monitored at the QRG meetings.  

 There are significant shortfalls in the 
workforce at North East Ambulance 
Services NHS Foundation Trust, 
predominantly in Emergency Care and 
also pressures in the Contact Centre 
(NHS 111). This is also exacerbated by 
staff leaving due to workforce pressures 
and higher rates of salary offered by 
other organisations. This is being closely 
monitored at the QRG meetings, however 
it was noted that workforce pressures is a 
national issue which is being addressed 
by Health Education England. 

 During January the NEAS’s Emergency 
Care Response performance was below 
standard for two out of three targets. R1 
and R19 have now failed for four 
consecutive months. Rural performance 
continues to perform below target for 
overall red responses. This is monitored 
at both contract and QRG meetings.  
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Assurances  

 As the result of the perfect week A&E 4 
hour performance target of 95% was 
achieved in March (2015) for the first time 
since September (2014).   

 There has been an increase in reporting 
incidents to the National Reporting and 
Learning System (NRLS) by CHSFT. A 
total of 3934 low harm/no harm patient 
safety incidents were reported to the 
NRLS in Q3. This is an increase of 1500 
(38%) from the total reported in Q2 and a 
further increase compared to the same 
period in the previous year.  

 Friends and Family Test (FFT). CHSFT 
continue to perform above the national 
average in response rates with exception 
to A&E. However in Q4 FFT performance 
has improved within A&E.  

 STFT are one of the top performing 
Increasing Access to Psychological 
Therapies (IAPT) services in achieving 
well over 50% of people are being seen 
within two weeks.  

 Performance for care of patients by 
NEAS with cardiac arrest for September 
2014 was above the national average by 
4.4%. 

 Patient experience, overall the majority of 
service users rate their experience highly 
and are likely to recommend NEAS to 
others.  

 

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

For approval of the minutes and the front sheet. 

Sponsor/approving director   Ann Fox, Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety 

Report author 
 
Carol Lancaster, Clinical Quality Officer  

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO3 CO4 CO5 CO6 CO7 

       
   

Any relevant legal/statutory issues N/A 

 
Are the identified risks on the risk 
register? (If so, include reference number) 
 

A&E performance 
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*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 
CO7 - Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund   

 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

If issue/report has been previously 
reviewed please specify meeting and 
date 

N/A  

 
Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  

Yes  No  
Not 
relevant 

 

Key implications  Yes No Details 

 
Are additional resources required?  If so 
please specify 
 

  
 

 
 

 
Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  
 

  Clinicians at QRG meetings 

 
Any current or expected impact on 
patient outcomes/experience? 
 

  
 

 
Has there been member practice and/or 
other stakeholder engagement if 
needed?   
 

  
 

Version Date Comments  

QSRCV1.0   
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Quality Safety and Risk Committee  
Minutes of the meeting held on 14 April 2015  

Joseph Swan Suite, Pemberton House  
 

Present:  
Mrs Aileen Sullivan, NHS SCCG Lay Member for Patient Public Involvement (Chair)  
Professor Mike Bramble, NHS SCCG Secondary Care Consultant  
Mrs Deborah Cornell, NHS SCCG, Head of Corporate Affairs  
Mrs Janet Farline, NHS SCCG Clinical Quality Officer 
Mrs Ann Fox, NHS SCCG Director of Nursing Quality and Safety  
Dr Jackie Gillespie, NHS SCCG Medicines Management Elected GP  
Dr Zahra Irannejad, NHS SCCG Chief Pharmacist (left at 3:10) 
 
 
In Attendance: 
Mrs Caroline Latta, Senior Communications lead NECS (for item 5.1)  
Mrs Eleanor Hardy, NHS SCCG PA (minutes) 
Mrs Jaclyn Hall, NHS SCCG Admin Support (observing)  
 
 
2015/49 Welcome and Introductions 
Aileen Sullivan welcomed everyone present to the meeting. 
 
 
2015/50 Apologies for Absence 
Apologies had been received from:  
Dr Henry Choi, NHS SCCG Clinical Effectiveness Lead  
Dr Geoff Stephenson, NHS SCCG Medical Director 
Mr David Gallagher, NHS SCCG Chief Officer 
Ms Sue Goulding, NHS SCCG Head of Quality and Patient Safety 
Mrs Carol Lancaster, NHS SCCG Clinical Quality Officer 
Mrs Deanna Lagun, NHS SCCG Head of Safeguarding  
Mrs Gillian Gibson, Sunderland Council Public Health Consultant 
Mr Scott Watson, NHS SCCG Head of Contracting, Performance and Business 
Intelligence  
   
 
 
2015/51 Declarations of Interest 
There were no declarations of interest. 
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2015/52 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 10 March 2015 – Enclosure 
Page 4, Paragraph 4, to amend to “serious case reviews should reduce but the 
current activities would be sustained for 18 months. In recognition of this non 
recurrent investment had been provided” 
 
Page 6, paragraph 5, to amend to “NEAS is a two year scheme and Commissioners 
are working with the Trust regarding what outcomes are expected” 
 
Following the amendments the minutes were accepted as an accurate record of the 
meeting. 
 
 
2015/53 Matters arising  
Page 3, paragraph 9, Mike Bramble questioned what the actual number of Serious 
Case Reviews (SCRs) being undertaken was.  Ann Fox advised over the last 12 
month there had been 9 SCRs undertaken with 2 currently being reviewed to 
determine whether they meet the criteria for SCR. 
 
Action: Actual numbers and brief details of current SCR’s to be circulated with 
the minutes of this meeting.  
 
Page 5, paragraph 8, Aileen Sullivan questioned if discussions around complaints 
handling was ongoing with providers.  Ann Fox advised that discussions around 
complaints handling and data were held at all Quality Review Group meetings.  
 
Page 6, paragraph 6, Quality Assurance Site Visits  - Aileen Sullivan requested that 
people from SCCG that are attending these visits should meet prior to the visit to 
discuss the key lines of enquiry and core questions to be raised at each visit.  
 
Page 10, paragraph 6, more promotional material required to get the message on 
what “My NHS” was about.  – Ann Fox advised that NECS had undertaken an 
investigation around this and the organisation they had commissioned were now 
more proactive.  
 
 
2015/54 Action Log – Enclosure  
All actions were discussed and updated on the action log.  Actions 1-11, 13-15, 17, 
22, 23 and 25 were closed. 
 
 
2015/55 Summary sheet – Enclosure         
Ann Fox presented the summary sheet to the committee.  The purpose of the 
summary sheet was to confirm the minutes from the Quality, Safety and Risk 
Committee (QSRC) and approval of the cover sheet prior to their submission to the 
Governing Body meeting on 26 May 2015. 
 
Ann Fox requested that the number of SCRs and why they were unprecedented and 
that non- recurrent financial support to providers were included in the summary sheet 
before submission to the Governing Body. 
Action: Eleanor Hardy/Sue Goulding   
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Ann Fox asked that in future, the summary sheet was set out to show potential risks 
with mitigation and assurance directly beneath as this would provide a clearer 
picture.    
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee approved the minutes of the meeting held 
on 10 March 2015 and summary sheet to be submitted to the Governing Body 
meeting on 26 May 2015 but acknowledged amendments as discussed by the 
committee would need to be made to the summary sheet. 
 
Action: Sue Goulding to amend summary sheet as outlined above 
 
 
 
PATIENT EXPERIENCE  
 
2015/56 Transforming participation in health and care report – Enclosure  
Caroline Latta presented the Review of Patient and Public Involvement/Engagement 
Report to the committee. The purpose of the report was to analyse Sunderland 
CCG’s engagement activity against national priorities and provide key 
recommendations of activity and to invigorate the engagement and participation 
agenda to enhance involvement and to further ensure commissioning activity reflects 
the communities the CCG serves.  
 
Issues:  

 SCCG’s engagement activity has been benchmarked against the national 

document “Transforming participation in health and care” for the first time 

since its publication in September 2013. 

 Three Engagement Labs were held where CCG staff and external 

stakeholders were invited to drop in to discuss CCG engagement activity.  

 Further papers will be brought to the future QSRC meetings  

 
Risks 

 The Labs highlighted issues or areas for development for engagement activity 

within SCCG.   

 
Assurances  

 An action plan has been developed to address the issues identified. 

 
Caroline Latta highlighted key points within the report and invited questions from the 
committee.  
 
Aileen Sullivan asked if other key organisations and Sunderland Council had been 
consulted.  Ann Fox advised that discussions had taken place with Sunderland 
Council and this was exactly the approach they wanted to take in regards to raising 
awareness and engaging with people in Sunderland.  
 
 A key piece of work in regards to engaging with people would be the future 
procurement of a breast service in Sunderland. SCCG need to be aware of where 
groups are already meeting and utilise these to ensure effective engagement takes 
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place.  SCCG had agreed to carry out a rapid piece of work with the Health & 
Wellbeing Board to establish a pragmatic collaborative approach and address 
particular issues.  
 
In regards to best practice engagement planning, Aileen Sullivan questioned where 
the Patient leadership Programme fitted in with this. Ann Fox reported that SCCG 
had looked at this but patients had not been interested in the full development 
programme. Caroline Latta advised that she could devise a bespoke programme just 
for Sunderland and was asked to consider this within the action plan. 
 
Carol Latta referred to the SCCG Transforming Participation Action Plan (enclosure 
5.1) and advised that NECS would need to work with Ann Fox to establish month to 
month activity to prioritise the ongoing activities within the work plan. Deborah 
Cornell questioned what role the Communication and Engagement Group would play 
in this.  Ann Fox advised that a conversation outside of this meeting with Ann 
Fox, Aileen Sullivan and Deborah Cornell was needed to discuss this further.  
 
Ann Fox advised that progress on this work would be informed to the committee by 
submission of an update report to the next committee. 
Action: Caroline Latta – update report to be presented to the Quality safety and 
Risk Committee on 9 June 2015  
 
 
QUALITY IN COMMISSIOINED SERVICES  
 
2015/57 Integrated Quality Report - Enclosure  
Ann Fox presented the Integrated Quality report and delivered a high level summary 
presentation to the committee. The purpose of the report was to highlight any risks 
and provide assurance to the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee in regards to the 
quality within commissioned services. 
 
CHSFT 
Risks: 

 Monitor informed of financial deficit at CHSFT. Date of official visit to be 

confirmed.   

 SIs during Q3 (28) serious incidents reported. This is static from the previous 

Q2 report. During Q3 a total of (51) RCA completed, 22 were signed off as 

complete, with a rejection rate of (57%). (Aggregate Report, pg. 7-8). 

 
Ann Fox advised that there had been an increase in the total number of incidents 
reported.  This was because CHS was working consistently to ensure an open and 
honest culture. Pressure Ulcers and falls continue to be the highest incidents 
reported by division; targeted and collaborative work around this is ongoing. Funding 
has been received from ASHN to establish a Pressure Ulcer Reduction Programme 
for cases acquired in the community led by STFT Director of Nursing.    
 

 Complaints- 156 complaints received in Q3 a small reduction from Q2 of a 

163. When correlated against activity levels the number of complaints pre 

10,000 contacts indicates Rehabilitation and Elderly Medicine remain the 
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highest area of complaints. 74 (45%) the 156 complaints relate to aspects of 

clinical care.  (Aggregate Report, pg. 11-16). 

 
Deborah Cornell questioned in regards to 156 complaints in Quarter 3, how did this 
compare with Trusts of a similar size.  Ann Fox advised she would look at 
benchmarking with NECS across the North East 
 

 Deep dive analysis on incidents and complaints within the emergency 

department. 18 formal complaints were received in Q3, (15) of these 

complaints where related to clinical aspects of care. (Aggregate Report, 

pg.29-32). 

 
Ann Fox advised that following the deep dive, SCCG was starting to see 
improvements in some of the investigations in reports it received at the SI panel.  
 

 There has been an increase in new claims activity from the previous quarter. 

A total of 65 new enquiries in Q3, including 19 new clinical claims, the majority 

of which related to treatment, failure/delay in diagnosis and failure to 

recognise complications. (Aggregate Report, pg. 19-21). 

 The number of patients waiting between 4 and 12 hours in the ED had 

increased significantly during winter pressures; however pressures have 

begun to reduce again during February (2015).  The average number of 

patients waiting between 4 and 12 hours per month had increased from an 

average of 56 between April and September to (2014), 166 between October 

and February (2014/15); the year to date is an average of 106. (Emergency 

Department Quality & Performance Report, March (2015), p.3). 

 In ED monthly audits are being carried out on a sample of 20% of patients 

who have waited in the department for more than 8 hours.  For January all 

patients had the required standards of care apart from nutrition and 

hydration. (Emergency Department (Quality) Performance, March (2015), p.3-

4).This is being monitored for improvement. 

 Mortality- The latest Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) 

remains at band 2 (as expected) however band 1 trajectory is reported as 

(worse than expected). (Quality, Risk and Assurance Report, p.2-3).This 

continues to be monitored via the QRG and assurance received. 

 Workforce report not received, as requested, for Q1, Q2 & Q3. It was agreed 

in March 2014 QRG that SCCG would receive a workforce report on quarterly 

basis at the QRGs.  Information not received includes workforce profile, 

staffing levels, recruitment and retention rates, sickness absence, mandatory 

training, appraisals and fitness to practice. The workforce report has been 

requested to be received at the next QRG in April 2015. 

Assurances: 
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 In 2014/15 to the 20th January 2015 there have been 75 SIs closed or de-

logged from STEIS. 

 Increase in incident reporting During Q3 there were a total of 4825 incidents 

reported. A significant increase of (14%) from 4148 reported in Q2. This is a 

sustained increase in the number of total incidents reported into the system, 

which highlights that there has been a 29% (1378) increase compared to the 

same period in the previous year. (Aggregate Report, pg. 2-6). 

 Increase in National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS). A total of 3934 

patient safety incidents were reported to the NRLS in Q3. This is an increase 

of 1500 (38%) from the total reported in Q2 and a further increase compared 

to the same period in the previous year.  (Aggregate Report, pg. 3-4).  

 During Q3, there were no incidents categorised as Never Events 

 Breast services continue to be provided by Newcastle Upon Tyne Trust 

(NuTH). CHS continue to work with SCCG and NuTH to re-establish a local 

breast care services by the summer 2015. (Department of Strategy and 

Service Development, February (2015). 

 Friends and Family Test (FFT). CHSFT continue to perform above the 

national average in response rates with exception to A&E. However in Q4 

FFT performance has improved within A&E. (SCCG Friends and Family Test 

Intelligence Report, (2014/15). Emergency Department (Quality) 

Performance, March (2015). 

 As the result of the perfect week A&E 4 hour performance target of 95% was 

achieved in March (2015) for the first time since September (2014).  

Emergency Department (Quality) Performance, March (2015), p.1 

 
Ann Fox advised that A&E did meet the 4 hour target during the Perfect Week but 
this was starting to deteriorate.  A significant number of resources had been 
available during the Perfect Week in terms of focusing on this challenge.  Aileen 
Sullivan questioned how many extra staff had there been during the Perfect Week.  
Ann Fox advised there had been additional ward liaison officers drawn in from other 
areas and staff were questioning and challenging more than normal which had 
improved flow.  Ann Fox added in terms of quality and safety, there had been no 
patient harm regarding the 4 hour target not being achieved.  
 
STFT 
Risks 

 The trust has been reported as having a significantly high Summary Hospital-

level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) and Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio 

(HSMR). The data is also inclusive of St Benedict’s Hospice.  This is under 

review with NHS England and CCG’s. A report and presentation on the 

analysis of a mortality review findings was presented to the QRG on the 1st 
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April (2015). NHS England representation was also present at the QRG. 

(South Tyneside NHS FT Mortality Report).    

 
An executive summary report is being developed and will be shared with the NHSE 
Quality Surveillance Group. Ann Fox advised that all of St Benedict’s mortality had 
been attributed to STFT which affects the data.  For the past 6-9 months there had 
been no palliative care consultant therefore STFT had been unable to code to this. 
The hypothesis for the mortality results is being followed up at the next STFT Quality 
Review Group and will be formally reviewed in Q4. 
 

 Peer review-notification of serious concerns within the trauma unit. STFT was 

formally notified by NHS England regarding significant findings made by the 

peer review team during a visit to the trauma unit. Feedback from the review  

raised “serious concern” that, whilst not presenting an immediate risk to 

patient or staff safety, it is likely to seriously compromise the quality of patient 

care, and therefore requires urgent action to resolve. (NHS England, Quality 

Director correspondence letter to (STFT) Chief Executive). 

 STFT currently have 54 SI cases open from 1st April 2014 to the 17th March 

2015. Pressure ulcers and slips/trips and falls remain the highest SIs 

reported. (STFT Serious Incident Position Log, (2015) ;( Datix Quarterly 

Analysis Report-Incidents, Complaints and Claims, pg.5-16). 

 
Ann Fox advised that a significant number of SIs had been closed down by the SI 
Panel and STFT were in a much improved position compared to the previous year.  
 
Assurances:  

 Major Trauma Work Plan developed to address serious concerns with the 

trauma unit. (Major Trauma Annual Work Plan (2015).  

 
Ann Fox advised that STFT had acted on a number of actions from the Peer Review 
of the Trauma Unit and this is being monitored via the STFT Quality Review Group.  
 

 Stage one roll out of the FFT to community services successfully completed. 

In January (2015) community services received 1960 responses. Roll out of 

the FFT to Sunderland community services is to commence in March 2015. 

(Friends and Family Test, 23rd February (2015), pg. 1, pg. 7). 

 STFT are one of the top performing IAPT services in achieving well over 50% 

of people are being seen within two weeks.  

NTW 
Risks: 

 There were 16 SIs reported in December (2014). Of the 16 incidents, 11 were 

from planned care, 1 from urgent care and 4 from specialist care. 14 



        

Page 13 of 25 

 

unexpected deaths were reported in December (2014). (All Incidents Report, 

December, 2014, pg.1-4. Pg.12). 

 
Mike Bramble questioned in regards to the 16 unexpected deaths, had these been 
suicides.  Ann Fox advised unexpected deaths can be for a number of reasons; 
some are being removed following a coroner’s verdict of natural causes.  This is a 
challenging area and difficult to benchmark.  Ann Fox advised NTW had delivered a 
presentation to South Tyneside Quality and Patient safety Committee regarding a six 
month analysis of these incidents and have agreed to share future learning at the 
NTW QRG.  When the report is received it would be appended to the Integrated 
Quality Report so the detail is accessible to the Quality Safety and Risk Committee.   
 

 Safer staffing for November & December (2014), in December 6 wards had 

qualified staff under the 90% target and 5 under 80%. This is an increase from 

November figures. Reasons for under staffing are current vacancies and 

inability to find qualified bank cover. Actions taken by NTW to resolve this 

issue was to supplement qualified staff with unqualified. Sickness has 

increased to 7.22% in December (2014) from 6.38% the previous month. 

(Safer Staffing, November & December Exception Reports (2014). 

 
Ann Fox advised that all staffing thresholds are published on the NHS website 
however are very difficult to measure because of the difference in number of staff 
Trusts are measured by.  
 
Assurance: 

 All complaints received were acknowledged by NTW within 3 working days, 

giving 100% compliance. Categories of complaints that NTW report upon in 

their national annual report. The categories will become live from April (2015). 

The figures will be utilised by the Health and Social Care Information Centre 

to publish quarterly for comparisons, rather than annually. (Complaints 

Report, December (2014), pg.10 & pg.15-28).  

 The number of SIs has reduced from the period of July- December (2014). 65 

SIs were reported over this period. NTW have reported that this that this is 14 

less than the same period in (2013/14). (Safety Report, July-December 2014, 

pg.6-7) 

 SI reviews are now reviewed within the 60 day timescale. (Safety Report, 

July-December (2014), pg. 14).  

 Patient, Carer Experience and FFT. Overall patient and carer experience 

rated good, however the report has also highlighted areas of improvement. 

(Service User and Carer Experience Summary Report). 

 
 
NEAS 
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Risks: 

 4 SIs have been reported, the trust currently has 37 open SIs. Delayed 

ambulance responses and issues with triage remain the areas where SIs are 

being reported. (Serious Incident Progress Report, pg.120). 

 There are significant shortfalls in the workforce, predominantly in Emergency 

Care and also pressures in the Contact Centre (111). This is also exacerbated 

by staff leaving due to workforce pressures and higher rates of salary offered 

by other organisations. (Workforce Metrics Monthly Report, pg., 139-141). 

 During January the Trust’s Emergency Care Response performance was 

below standard for two out of three targets. R1 and R19 have now failed for 

four consecutive months. Rural performance continues to perform below 

target for overall red responses. (NEAS Performance Summary Report, pg. 

115-116).  

 The trust continues to be challenged with regard to meeting R2 response 

times. This has had an impact on the response times to ST segment elevation 

Myocardial infarction. (STEMI). Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention 

(PPCI) has decreased by 0.2% which is below the national average by 1.6%, 

National average being 78.8%. In line with STEMI transportation the stroke 

time to treatment has also reduced due to reduced performance of R2. 

(Clinical Audit Dashboard, pg.93-94). 

 Two SIs have been reported in January (2015). (NHS 111 North East Region 

Clinical Governance Report, pg.15). 

Assurances: 

 Performance for care of patients with cardiac arrest for September 2014 was 

above National average by 4.4%. 

 Sickness and absence has decreased to 7.41% from 8.37%. 

 Patient experience, overall the majority of service users rate their experience 

highly and are likely to recommend NEAS to others.  

 The overall patient experience of service users for NHS (111) was rated 

highly as likely and is likely to recommend NHS (111) services to friends and 

family. (Annual Patient Experience Report, 2015).  

 
Ann Fox advised that the NEAS Chief Executive had provided an update on 
recovery/ progress to the NEAS Quality Review Group. There were significant 
challenges that NEAS needed to address in regards to organisational culture and 
leadership and some of the transformation needs to happen across the whole 
system. In terms of the year-end 95% red target (6 minute emergency response) 
NEAS did not achieve this.  A full review of internal governance is being 
implemented however and it was noted some of the workforce pressures are 
national issues which is being addressed within Health education England.  
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Spire 
Risks: 

 No risks identified at the QRG in March (2015). 

Assurances: 

 Medical audit on consultant’s documentation showed 100% compliance in Q4.  

 SCCG report in relation to the announced visit has been sent and 

incorporated within Spires Q4 Governance report. (Spire Washington Q4 

Hospital Governance Report, Appendix, 3).   

NDUC 
Risks: 

 QRG meeting on the 17th March. Expected two members from NDUC to 

attend but one member only attended and was unable to present NDUC 

reports and information received prior to the QRG. Process of information and 

content of information are not adequate to give quantitative assurance on 

safety and quality. 

 
Assurances: 

 Clinical Quality site visit brought forward from June 2015 to the 31st of March 

2015. Overall assured that services delivered are safe and are delivered by 

staff at a high quality standard. 

 Patient experience of services overall are rated excellent. (NDUC Quality Site 

Visit Report, 31/03/2015).  

Primecare 

 QRG rescheduled due to sickness.  

 
Ann Fox advised that the Primecare QRG had been rescheduled and mechanisms 
for reporting were now in place.  
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report and noted the issues, 
assurance and risks identified within it.  
 
 
2015/58 GP Practice Incident Reporting - Enclosure  
Deborah Cornell presented the GP Incident Reporting report to the committee. The 
purpose of the report was to review the quarter 4 GP Practice reported incident 
report covering the period 1 January to 31 March 2015. 
 
Key issues: 

 Not all practices have signed up to using SIRMS therefore the report did not 

provide the full picture across Sunderland. 
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Deborah Cornell advised that 37 GP Practices had signed up to using SIRMS but 
there were still some issues to overcome. 
 

 Reporting rates across those practices that have signed up to the system is 

varied and tends to focus on other providers.      

 The CCG has delegated responsibility for primary medical care 

commissioning as from 1 April 2015 and it is timely to review where this 

function sits in relation to co-commissioning and the impact on the quality 

agenda 

 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report for assurance purposes 
and had discussed where incident reporting sits in relation to co-commissioning and 
the impact on the quality agenda 
 
2015/59 Safeguard Incident and Risk Management System (SIRMS) - enclosure  
As Enclosure 7.4 Terms of Reference for the SIRMS User Group linked in with GP 
Practice Report Incident s the report was discussed at this point.  Ann Fox presented 
the report to the committee.   
 
Safeguard Incident Risk Management System (SIRMS) is the tool used by South 
Tyneside and Sunderland CCGs for all incident reporting and risk management. The 
system is designed to enable the effective reporting, managing, completion and 
information sharing related to the delivery of commissioned services by the CCG. 
 
The joint SIRMS User Group, across Sunderland CCG and South Tyneside CCG, 
will be established as a sub-group of the respective Quality, and Patient Safety 
Committees, in accordance with constitution, standing orders and scheme of 
delegation. 
 
The SIRMS user group will take responsibility for ensuring the management, use and 
further development of SIRMS within the scope of the terms of reference of the 
group, covering matters pertaining to the CCGs’ member practices and CCGs’ 
incident reporting environments. The user group will report to the CCGs’ committees 
i.e. South Tyneside – Quality and Patient Safety Committee and Sunderland - 
Quality Safety and Risk Committee. 
 
Issues: 

 The risk management system used by SCCG has recently changed from 

Datix to SIRMS. In the past Datix had not been used to its full potential by 

practices for incident reporting. To encourage incident reporting by all GP 

practices and the development of the system a SIRMS user group is being set 

up. 

Risks: 

 Low numbers of incidents reported does not demonstrate a good safety 

culture and therefore incident reporting needs to improve across primary care 

to ensure that lessons learnt from incidents can be shared to prevent 

recurrence 
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Assurances: 

 The user group is being set up to try to increase incident reporting and further 

develop the SIRMS system to ensure it is used to its full potential. 

 
Ann Fox questioned from a GP Practice perspective, should the representative be 
from the locality and the locality to decide who this is.   
The committee were in agreement with this. 
Deborah Cornell advised she had secured a slot at the Localities Working Together 
Group to take this forward and ask for volunteers.                                                                                                                                                 
 
Aileen Sullivan questioned in regards to quoracy of the group being seven, should 
this be one rep from each locality. 
The committee were in agreement with this. 
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report and reviewed and 
agreed the SIRMS User group Terms of Reference subject to the recommended 
amendments. 
 
Action: Ann Fox to make necessary amends to the SIRMS User group Terms of 
Reference  
 
2015/60 Quality Assurance and Monitoring Report in relation to Care Homes in 
Sunderland - enclosure and presentation  
Janet Farline presented the Quality Assurance and Monitoring Report in relation to 
Care Homes and presented a high level summary presentation to the committee. 
The purpose of the report and presentation was to provide an overview of recent 
concerns in Care Homes in Sunderland, and the results of the Clinical Quality 
Assessment Baseline Audits.  
 
Assurances  

 Strategy meetings in place with the Local Authority 

 Information sharing meetings between the Local Authority and the CQC 

 Baseline Clinical Quality Assessments Audits carried out as part of a planned 

audit programme from September 2013 to March 2014  

 Planned programme of audits using the Quality Assessment tool from April 

2014 to August 2014  

 Joint working arrangements in place with the Safeguarding Social Care 

Governance team and the CCG to monitor services  

 Since the last Quality Safety and Risk Committee 8 Nursing Homes have 

been audited using the updated Clinical Quality Assessment Tool  

 Of the 8 Nursing homes audited 2 homes were Green, 3 homes were Amber 

and 3 homes were Red on the RAG rated scores  

 6 Residential Homes with residents who receive Continuing Healthcare 

Funding have been audited using the updated Clinical Quality Assessment 

Audit Tool. 

 Of the 6 Residential Homes audited 5 were Green, 1 were Amber and 0 were 

Red  
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 5 Action plans have been validated.  Of the 5 homes validated 2 have made 

significant progress, 1 had made some progress and 2 had made little 

progress  

 All homes have action plans in place to monitor progress within the home and 

are validated by either the CCG or the LA 

 The Coalfields Project objectives are included in this report with outcome 

measures  

 There are currently no homes with a suspension of placements 

 
Risks  

 The risks identified around the assurance of clinical care within Nursing 

Homes are detailed on the risk register   

 Concerns in Care Homes detailed in the report with recommendations to 

improve the clinical quality within the home if required 

 
Janet Farline reported that St Martha’s Court Care Home had closed on 24 March 
2015.  Social workers had been allocated and residents had been moved to other 
care homes.  
Action: Janet Farline to brief Caroline Latta from a communications view  
 
Janet Farline highlighted key points from the report and invited questions from the 
committee:  
 
Action: Ann Fox requested that the name of the Group the care/residential 
homes belong to were added to future reports – Janet Farline   
 
Aileen Sullivan questioned if the same audit tool was used for Nursing Homes and 
Residential Homes.  Janet Farline advised that it was.  
 
In regards to Adey Gardens Residential Home not engaging with the audit, Ann Fox 
advised that concerns should be shared with the CQC.  
 
Aileen Sullivan questioned in regards to re-auditing homes on a 2/3 month basis, 
should this more frequently.  Janet Farline agreed with this however there were not 
the resources to enable this.  
 
Mike Bramble raised the question when homes are rated as green, how likely was it 
that they would remain green.  Janet Farline advised this is very unstable as 
managers leave and move to other homes – this was a continuous cycle however 
there was triangulation with safeguard alerts and other information sharing.  
 
Action: Janet Farline - Ann Fox requested that Janet Farline linked with SCCG 
Safeguarding to develop a flow chart around processes in place in regards to 
care homes failing to reach the required standards.   
 
Janet Farline explained that the Coalfields project work around care homes had 
been included in the presentation to provide information and assurance to the 
committee. The final report had not yet been published but will be shared with the 
Quality and Safety Risk Committee for information.  
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Ann Fox recommended that Janet Farline had a conversation with the SCCG Care 
Home Project team to establish if data could be drilled down to care home level and 
if so to be shared with the Quality Safety and Risk Committee.  
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report and noted the content 
and progress described 
 
 
2015/62 Quality Surveillance Update - Verbal  
Ann Fox updated the committee on discussions held at the Quality Surveillance 
group meeting on 12 March 2015. 
 
Representatives from Health Education England had been in attendance at the 
meeting and discussions had been held around workforce issues.  Conversations 
had been held with regard to Mortality at South Tyneside Foundation Trust and the 
special Quality Review Group that had focused on City Hospitals Sunderland A& E 
performance.  
 
2015/63 CQUIN Scheme Summary 2015/16  
Ann Fox presented the CQUIN Scheme Summary 2015/16 for City Hospitals 
Sunderland to the committee. The purpose of the report was to inform the Quality 
and Safety Risk Committee of the CQUIN for City Hospital Sunderland Hospital 
2015/16. The draft schemes which had now been agreed with CHSFT had been 
appended to the report. Weightings against each indicator are currently under 
discussion and will be presented at the Quality safety and Risk Committee on 12 
May 2015. 
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report for assurance and 
information  
 
GOVERNANCE  
 
2015/64 Monthly SCCG Assurance Exception Report - Enclosure 
Aileen Sullivan presented the monthly SCCG Assurance Report to the Committee on 
behalf of Scott Watson who had been called to an urgent meeting. The purpose of 
the report was to provide Sunderland CCG Quality, Safety and Risk Committee with 
an exception report detailing the current under-performing measures which are part 
of the CCG Assurance Framework and provide assurance of the actions being taken 
where necessary.   
 
Key Risks  

 A&E 4 Hour Wait due to under performance in 2013/14 and continued under 

performance for 2014/15. 

 HCAI specifically MRSA.  

 52 weeks Referral to Treatment (RTT) waiting times for admitted and 

incomplete have breached 0 so performance cannot be recovered. 
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 Deteriorating performance for Admitted RTT specifically within Urology and 

Orthopedics. 

 IAPT Access and Recovery due to under performance against the trajectory.  

 Cancelled Operations not rebooked within 28 Days of Cancellation as the FT 

have already breached a 0 trajectory so performance cannot be recovered 

 Astro PU (not on the Delivery Dashboard but a local issue) which is linked to 

the prescribing budget which is forecasting a significant over spend. 

 Cancer - Suspension of Breast Services at CHS NHSFT 

 
Key Assurances 

 C difficile at City Hospitals Sunderland NHS FT and the Community showing 

significant improvement. 

 Weekly escalation meetings now in place for sustained under performance in 

A&E 95% and ambulance handovers 

 Continued improvements in the number of non-elective admissions 

 Routine meetings in place at Medical Director level around Breast Services at 

CHS NHSFT 

 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report, noted the current 
position for each under-performing indicators in the CCG Assurance Framework and 
the actions being taken to address the performance issues. 
 
 
2015/65 Revised Risk Management Framework - Enclosure   
Deborah Cornell presented the Revised Risk management Framework report to the 
committee.  The purpose of the report was to present the Quality Safety and Risk 
Committee with a revised risk management policy and framework following the 
outcome of the recent risk management review. 
 
The risk management policy and framework (the policy) sets out the CCG’s 
approach to managing risk to ensure it meets its overall objective to commission high 
quality and safe services. In addition, the adoption and embedding within the 
organisation of an effective risk management policy and processes will ensure that 
the reputation of the CCG is maintained and enhanced as well as using its resources 
effectively to reform services through innovation, large-scale prevention, improved 
quality and greater productivity. 
 
The policy describes the process and rationale for the identification, management 
and reporting of risks using a standard 5x5 classification matrix to determine the 
consequence and likelihood of a risk actually occurring. 
 
Key points and assurances 
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A review has been undertaken to improve the risk register process to ensure the 
correct focus at committee and governing body level on those risks with a potential 
greater impact on the CCG as an organisation.  As a result of this review, the 
governing agreed to revise the CCG’s approach to assessing risk to bring this more 
in line with its ‘open’ risk appetite. 
 
The document appended to the report had been revised and mergers together the 
former framework and policy into one comprehensive document.  The main changes 
are as follows: 

 Establishment of a risk management group to manage lower level risks 

 Revised risk reporting structure to ensure a more robust approach to 

managing risks at the right level 

 Revised risk grading’s to 3 (low, moderate and high) instead of 4 as in the 

previous policy 

 Re-categorisation of risk into either operational or strategic 

 Updated guidance for staff (including the new risk from.) 

 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report, approved the revised 
policy and recommended its submission to the Governing Body for formal approval 
 
 
2015/66 Internal Audit Risk Management Report - Enclosure  
Deborah Cornell presented the Internal Audit Report for Risk Management to the 
committee.  The purpose of the report was to detail the outcome of the risk 
management assurance framework audit recently undertaken as part of the Internal 
Audit work plan for 2014/15.  The report had been brought for assurance purposes in 
relation to risk management specifically. 
 
The CCG is committed to ensure that risk management is part of an overall 
management approach that supports the organisation in achieving its objectives.   
 
Internal Audit had reviewed the risk management processes within the CCG to 
ensure they are robust and fit for purpose.  This had included how the CCG rates 
risks and also what the process was.   
 
Internal Audit had given a rating of significant assurance for the review.  The review 
highlighted 4 low priority issues and an action plan had been developed to address 
these.  A copy of the action plan was attached at appendix 1 of the report and all 4 
issues had now been addressed. 
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report for assurance and noted 
the low priority issues had now been addressed  
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2015/67 Annual Review of Sub Group effectiveness and ToR, HCAI 
Improvement group - Enclosure   
Ann Fox presented the Annual review and effectiveness of the Joint SCCG/STCCG 
HCAI Improvement Group and reviewed terms of Reference to the committee. The 
purpose of the report was to provide an account of the Joint HCAI Improvement 
group’s work and performance and to make the Quality Safety and Risk Committee 
aware of any changes to the terms of reference.  
 
Key Points:  
The HCAI Improvement Group has established regular reporting mechanisms for the 
majority of its key roles and responsibilities and receives regular assurance 
reports/updates at its meetings. 
 
Assurances:  

 Refresh of HCAI Action Plan  

 Monitoring of agreed actions  

 Monitoring outcome/impact  

 Establishing robust review process for peer review CDI to determine 

avoidable/unavoidable  

 The number of C diff/MRSA infections within CHS FT and STFT and 

Sunderland and South Tyneside  communities has reduced in 2014/15 

compared to 2013/15 

 
Ann Fox advised that the Joint HCAI Improvement group now had a joint HCAI 
Whole Systems Action Plan and was in a good position to take this forward.  
 
In regards to the reviewed terms of reference for the Joint HCAI Improvement Group, 
the terms of reference for the HCAI Root Cause Analysis Panel was a sub group of 
this group and its terms of reference had been appended to the terms of reference.  
The HCAI Root Cause Analysis Panel reviewed C diff RCAs and if unavoidable, the 
cases were removed from a contractual perspective but remained on the national 
database.  
 
The scope of the HCAI Improvement Group had been reviewed and was now 
broader to include all HCAIs.  The Joint HCAI Improvement Group was a successful 
Group and had made significant progress in regards to reducing HCAIs across the 
whole system.  
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report for assurance and 
approved the suggested changes to the Terms of reference.  
 
 
ITEMS FOR INFORMATION 
 
2015/68 City Hospitals Sunderland Quality Review Group minutes, 20 February 
2015 
Ann Fox presented the City Hospitals Sunderland Quality Review Group minutes 
from the meeting held on 20 February 2015 to the committee for information.   
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the minutes for information.  
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2015/69 South Tyneside Foundation Trust Quality Review Group minutes of 
the meeting held on 4 February 2015 
Ann Fox presented the South Tyneside Foundation Trust Quality Review Group 
minutes of the meeting held on 4 February 2015 to the committee for information.  
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the minutes for information.  
 
 
2015/70 North East Ambulance Service Quality Review Group minutes of the 
meeting held on 12 January 2015  
Ann Fox presented the North East Ambulance Service Quality Review Group 
minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 2015 to the committee for information. 
 
The Quality Safety and Risk Committee received the report for information.  
 
 
2015/71 Any other business  
Ann Fox advised SCCG would be proposing to change the City Hospitals 
Sunderland Quality Review Group meetings to bi-monthly. Exceptional meetings 
would be convened if and when the need arose.  
 
Ann Fox advised that the Annual Review of the Joint SCCG/STCCG Strategic 
Safeguarding Group would be presented to the committee at the next meeting on 9 
May 2015. 
 
2015/72 Date and time of next meeting:  
Tuesday 12 May 2015, 2pm - 5pm 
Joseph Swan Suite Pemberton House  
 
Signed:          

 
 
 
Date: 13 May 2015 
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Sunderland CCG - Provider Quality Assurance Visits - 2015 

Provider  Date  Time  Clinical CCG Rep Non Clinical CCG Rep  

 May     

City Hospitals Sunderland  Friday 8 May 2015 9am  - 11am  Scott Watson  

Spire Hospital Washington  Thursday 14 May  10am  - 12.00  Aileen Sullivan  

City Hospitals Sunderland Tuesday 19 May 2015 10.30am – 12.30pm Tracey Lucas Natalie McClary & Matt 
Thubron  

Northumberland Tyne and Wear  Friday 15 May 2015 1pm – 3pm   

 June     

City Hospitals Sunderland Friday 5 June 2015 9am – 11am Henry Choi   

City Hospitals Sunderland Tuesday 23 June 2015 10.30am – 12.30pm   

 July    

North East Ambulance Service  Thursday 2 July 2015 2pm – 5pm  Daisy Barnetson 

Northumberland Tyne and Wear Friday 3 July 2015 2pm – 4pm   

City Hospitals Sunderland Friday 10 July 2015 9am – 11am   

Northern Doctors/Urgent Care  Wednesday 15 July 2015 1pm – 4pm    

City Hospitals Sunderland Tuesday 28 July 2015  10.30am – 12.30pm   

 August    

Spire Hospital Washington  Tuesday 4 August 2015 1pm – 3pm    

City Hospitals Sunderland Friday 14 August 2015 9am  - 11am  Scot Watson  

City Hospitals Sunderland Tuesday 25 August 2015 10.30am  - 12.30pm   

 September    

City Hospitals Sunderland Friday 11 September 2015 9am  - 11am  Matt Thubron  

Northumberland Tyne and Wear Wednesday 16 September 2015 Time to be confirmed    

Northern Doctors/Urgent Care Friday 25 September 2015 2pm – 5pm    

City Hospitals Sunderland Tuesday 29 September 2015 10.30am  - 12.30pm   

 October    

City Hospitals Sunderland Friday 9 October 2015 9am  - 11am Ann Fox   

City Hospitals Sunderland Tuesday 20 October 2015  10.30am  - 12.30pm   

 November    
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City Hospitals Sunderland Friday 6 November 2015 9am  - 11am   

Northern Doctors/Urgent Care Friday 13 November 2015 Time to be confirmed    

Spire Hospital Washington  Monday 16 November 2015 1pm  - 3pm    

City Hospitals Sunderland Tuesday 24 November 2015 10.30am  - 12.30pm   

 December     

Northumberland Tyne and Wear Monday 7 December 2015 9am  - 12.00   

North East Ambulance Service Wednesday 9 December 2015 10am  -1pm Sue Goulding   

City Hospitals Sunderland Friday 11 December 2015 9am  - 11am   



NHS Protect  

 

 
 

Item: 9.2 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY MEETING 

26 MAY 2015 

 
Report Title 
 

 
Sunderland GP Out of Hour Procurement 

 
Purpose of report 

To formally request the Governing Body to delegate 
authority to Dr Ian Pattison (Chair), Dave 
Gallagher(CO) and David Chandler (Acting DoF) to 
approve the GP OOH Recommended Bidder Report 
(contract value) on behalf of the Governing Body on 
2nd June 2015 thus allowing contract award and the 
procurement timetable to progress to mobilising from 
1st October 2015.  The fuller report will be sent to the 
Governing Body for information as soon as it is 
released.  
 
The proposed contract value is within the identified 
envelope - £1.9 million per year and is over the £5 
million threshold for the duration of the contract over 
3 years.  Exact financial details are unable to be 
shared at this point due to the confidentiality process 
of procurement until the Evaluation Report is 
approved by the CCG Executive on the 2nd June 
2015. 

 
Key points, risks and assurances 
 

The procurement process will be delayed if 
delegation of authority is not approved. 

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

The Governing body is asked to delegate authority to 
Dr Ian Pattison, Dave Gallagher and David Chandler 
to approve the Recommended Bidder Report on 
behalf of the Governing Body on 2nd June 2015. 

Sponsor/approving director   Ann Fox, Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety 

Report author 

 
Natalie McClary – Service Reform Manager (Urgent 
Care) 
 



    

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO3 CO4 CO5 CO6 CO7 

  x x x   

Any relevant legal/statutory issues N/A 

 
Are the identified risks on the risk 
register? (If so, include reference number) 
 

N/A 

If issue/report has been previously 
reviewed please specify meeting and 
date 

 
N/A Planned for the 2nd June 2015 – Sunderland 
CCG Executive Committee. 

 
Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  

Yes x No  
Not 
relevant 

 

Key implications  Yes No Details 

 
Are additional resources required?  If so 
please specify 
 

  The report will identify CCG 
Contracting supported by the project 
group and clinical leads to assist 
mobilisation of new services in 
readiness for 01 October 2015. 

 
Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  
 

  

Dr. Tracey Lucas – Executive GP 
Lead is a member of the project team 
along with representatives from 
SCCG Clinical Quality and Service 
Reform, as well as stakeholders, 
including patients, careers and clinical 
organisations from across the urgent 
and intermediate care system. 
 
An external GP was commissioned as 
an evaluator within the procurement 
process. 

 
Any current or expected impact on 
patient outcomes/experience? 
 

  

When recommended bidder report 
approved and contract awarded.  
Once mobilised the service will 
provide access to a GP service during 
OOH periods for the population of 
Sunderland. 
 
The service will ensure continuity of 
health, social and psychological care 
in collaboration with the Sunderland 
RAH service. 
 
The service will ensure patients 
access the right professional for their 
care needs at the right time and place. 
 
The service will improve the wider 



    
communities understanding of out of 
hour pathways by providing a clear 
single point of contact for both 
patients and professionals. 
 
Expected impact and outcomes: 
- Reduce unnecessary Emergency 

Department (ED) attendances and 
admissions 

- Reduce emergency readmissions 
- Increase referrals to community 

services thus providing care closer 
to home 

- Reduce patient hand offs between 
professionals/services 

- Reduce patient pathway lead time 
(time taken to receive assessment) 

- Improve patient and professional 
understanding of the GP OOH 
service and pathways 

- Develop clear patient pathways 
between services and introduce 
standard work (patient information, 
outcomes and communication) 

- Promote self-care 
- Provide health advice to health 

and social care professionals 
across Sunderland thus enhancing 
patient experience thus avoid 
admission  

- Work to a key set of national and 
local performance indicators in line 
with up to date policies, guidance 
and frameworks 

 

 
Has there been member practice and/or 
other stakeholder engagement if 
needed?   
 

  

In order to develop the new service 
model the following engagement was 
undertaken as referred to within the 
GP OOH Business Case – hyperlinks 
are included below: 
 

 Patient, Career, Public and NHS 
Provider Engagement Strategy 
implementing a variety of 
engagement methods  

 Event including patients, careers 
and NHS organisations from 
across the urgent and 
intermediate care system   

 Market Engagement to test the 
viability of the new service model 
and test the capability and 



    

 
*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 
CO7 - Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund   

capacity of potential providers 
 

Procurement Patient and Stakeholder 
Engagement Event which provided an 
overview of the proposed service 
model and explored evaluation criteria 
to be used to assess bids received 
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Item: 10.1 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY 

26th May 2015 

 
Report Title 
 

 
Sunderland CCG Financial Report – Year Ended 
2014/15  
 

 
Purpose of report 

 
The purpose of this report is to present to the 
Governing Body a summary of the financial position 
of the CCG for the year ended 2014/15. 
 

 
Key issues, assurances and risks 
 

 

 Key issue is to ensure the CCG has met all 
its financial duties. 

 The report provides assurance that the 
financial outturn for the year 2014/15 has 
achieved those duties. 

 Risks to delivery are documented within the 
report. 

 

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

 
Members are asked to:  
 

 Note the financial position of the CCG for the 
year ended 2014/15 
 

Sponsoring Governing Body member  
(where relevant) 

David Chandler, Acting Chief Finance Officer 
 

Report Author 
Tarryn Lake, Acting Head of Finance  
 

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO3 CO4 CO5 CO6 

√ √   √  

Any relevant legal/statutory issues None 
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*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 

 
 
 
 

Version Date Comments  

1.0 Draft 07/05/2015 TL draft 

2.0  07/05/2015 DC reviewed & amended – sent to 
JT for Gov. Body Papers 

   

   

 

 
Are the identified risks on the Risk 
Register?  
(If so please include reference number) 
 

Yes  
 
649  
653  
990 

Any information governance issues  None 

If report has been previously reviewed 
please specify which Committee and 
date of meeting 

 
N/A 

 
Equality Impact Assessment completed 
(please tick)  

Yes  No  
Not 
relevant 

√ 

Key implications for the following: 

 
Any additional resources needed? 
 

 
None 
 

 
Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  
 

N/A 

 
Any impact on patient outcomes? 
 

None 

 
Has there been member/stakeholder 
engagement if needed?   
 

N/A 
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Governing Body 
Financial Report for 2014/15 

 
1. Purpose of Report  

 
The purpose of this report is to present the Governing Body with the summary 
financial position of the CCG for 2014/15. 
 

2. Summary Financial Performance 
 

The summary financial performance for the CCG against key financial 
performance indicators (KPI’s) is outlined below. The CCG has delivered against 
all financial KPI’s. Further detailed information is provided within this report on 
the performance against each KPI.    
 

 
 

Reporting Area Key Performance Indicator Target Achievement RAG RAG Colour

2014/15 

Target 

£000's

2014/15 

Outturn 

£000's

Forecast to achieve revised planned surplus (18,987) (19,120) ↑ Green

Running costs to remain within allocation 7,746 6,279 ↓ Green

Achievement of QIPP targets 2,850 2,847 ↑ Green
Period End 

Target

Period End 

Position

Cash balance in bank account at period end <£400k £36k ↑ Green

Better payment practice code average achievement >95% 98.47% → Green

Aged debts > £50k and > 90 days old 0 0 → Green
2014/15 

Target 

£000's

2014/15 

Outturn 

£000's

Headroom for mitigation of financial risks N/A N/A

RAG Rating Key

↑ performance is on target and improving

→ performance is on target and has remained steady

↓ performance in on target and has declined

↑ performance is close to target and improving

→ performance is close to target and has remained steady 

↓ performance is close to target and declining 

↑ performance is off target but improving

→ performance is off target and has remained steady 

↓ performance is off target and declining

2014/15 

Income & 

Expenditure

Statement of 

Financial Position

Financial Risks & 

Mitigation 
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Please note that specific performance measurement for RAG rating of KPI 
indicators can be viewed in Appendix 1. The specific indicator with regards cash 
balances at the end of each period has been updated to reflect the NHS England 
national indicator.  
 

 
3. 2014/15 Income and Expenditure  

 
The summarised cumulative financial position of the CCG for 2014/15 is outlined 
below:  
 

 
 

The CCG has reported a surplus of £19,120k for 2014/15 which is slightly greater 
than the planned forecast outturn surplus of £18,987k. The CCG has achieved 
this financial duty for 2014/15 as a result.  
 
 
 
  
 
 

Sunderland CCG

Financial Position - 2014/15

CATEGORY

Budget 

(£000's)

Actual

(£000's)

Variance

(£000's)

ACUTE COMMISSIONING 232,150 232,986 836

AMBULANCE SERVICES 12,571 12,224 -347

COMMUNITY SERVICES 28,920 29,328 408

MH COMMISSIONING 54,049 54,076 27

MISC COMMISSIONING 6,906 5,640 -1,266

PACKAGES 25,660 28,837 3,177

PREMISES 954 954 0

PRESCRIBING 50,745 53,412 2,666

PRIMARY CARE 6,541 6,592 51

REABLEMENT 4,919 3,949 -970

OTHER 22,234 0 -22,234

SUB TOTAL COMMISSIONING BUDGETS 445,650 427,997 -17,653

RUNNING COSTS 7,746 6,279 -1,467

TOTAL CCG 453,396 434,276 -19,120

Sunderland CCG

Other Budgets Breakdown - 2014/15

CATEGORY

Budget 

(£000's)

Actual

(£000's)

Variance

(£000's)

2013/14 Carry Forward Surplus 18,987 0 -18,987

2.5% Non Recurrent Reserve 1,004 0 -1,004

1/2% Contingency Budget 2,243 0 -2,243

TOTAL 22,234 0 -22,234

2014/15

2014/15
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There has been an adverse movement for Acute Services which is due in the 
main to activity pressures at Spire and across non contract activity with both NHS 
and non NHS organisations.  
 
There has been a favourable movement in the outturn for Ambulance Services 
which is due in the main to the agreed outturn on over performance and risk 
shares for North East Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust being less than 
anticipated. The favourable movement in Community Services is due to the 
slippage on the wheelchairs waiting list scheme agreed for 2014/15. The scheme 
was no longer viable in 2014/15 and has been deferred for review in 2015/16. 
 
The favourable movement on Packages was in the main due to the partial 
release of 2013/14 accruals where providers had not billed for periods of care 
between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014. There does however continue be 
pressures on spend in Packages due to growth in clients.  
 
The Premises variance moved adversely in month 12 by £410k.  However this 
was simply due, in the main, to the virement of unutilised budget to reserves as 
per Appendix 3.  

  
 Prescribing, Primary Care and Reablement moved favourably in month 12.  In 
general these movements were due to minor variances on outturn across a 
number of areas of spend. For example, prescribing costs for month 10 were less 
than expected and additional income was recovered for rebates from 
Pharmaceutical companies. Further, in Reablement, there were some minor 

Sunderland CCG

Forecast Outturn for Mth 11 vs Outturn for 2014/15

CATEGORY Month 11 

Variance 

(£000's)

2014/15 

Variance 

(£000's)

Movement 

(£000's)

ACUTE COMMISSIONING 125 836 711

AMBULANCE SERVICES -247 -347 -100

COMMUNITY SERVICES 587 408 -179

MH COMMISSIONING 17 27 10

MISC COMMISSIONING -765 -1,266 -501

PACKAGES 3,453 3,177 -276

PREMISES -410 0 410

PRESCRIBING 2,772 2,666 -106

PRIMARY CARE 167 51 -115

REABLEMENT -730 -970 -240

OTHER -22,293 -22,234 59

SUB TOTAL COMMISSIONING BUDGETS -18,286 -17,653 -329

RUNNING COSTS -1,663 -1,467 196

TOTAL CCG -18,987 -19,120 -133

Forecast
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movements in schemes such as Care Homes and Readmissions schemes 
contributing to the overall favourable movement.  
 
The running cost outturn was reported at £1,467k underspent for 2014/15 moving 
adversely in month 12 by £196k.  This was due to a combination of increases in 
clinical lead costs following an upturn in the volume of invoices from practices 
ahead of year end, and also a rise in public relations costs associated with CCG 
funded communication campaigns towards the end of the year. As mentioned in 
previous reports, £1,016k of this underspend relates to the Quality Premium 
allocation received by the CCG in 2014/15. 
 
More detailed spend information and variance analysis is detailed in Appendix 1. 

 
QIPP / Resource Releasing Efficiency Savings 
 
The CCG has achieved savings of £2,847k against the plan of £2,850k for 
2014/15.  The achievement for 2014/15 is in line with the target and as such is 
reported as green on the CCG’s Assurance Reports with NHS England.  

 
4. Statement of Financial Position  

 
Summary Statement of Financial Position  
 
A copy of the summary Statement of Financial Position (previously known as the 
Balance Sheet) as at 31st March 2015 shows current assets of £1,548k and 
current liabilities stood at £21,689k.  There was an expected reduction in 
liabilities in month 12 due to the processing of a number of year end invoices.   
 

 
Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) 

Mar-15 Feb-15 Movement

£000's £000's £000's

Non Current Assets Property, plant and equipment 101 107 (6)

Total Non Current Assets 101 107 (6)

Current Assets Trade and other Receivables 1,514 1,828 (314)

Cash and cash equivalents 34 246 (212)

Total Current Assets 1,548 2,074 (526)

Total Assets 1,649 2,181 (532)

Current Liabilities Trade and other payables (21,684) (26,859) 5,175

Provisions (5) 0 (5)

Total Current Liabilities (21,689) (26,859) 5,170

TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED (20,040) (24,678) 4,638

Financed by Taxpayers Equity

Capital & Reserves General Fund (20,040) (24,678) 4,638

TOTAL TAXPAYERS EQUITY (20,040) (24,678) 4,638
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BPPC can be summarised as a target to pay 95% of NHS and non-NHS trade 
creditors within 30 calendar days of receipt of goods or valid invoice (whichever 
is later) unless other payment terms have been agreed.  The CCG continues to 
report strong performance in this area. 

 
BPPC Year to Date Performance 
 

 
 

 

Cash Management 
 

The CCG is expected by NHS England to proactively manage the cash it draws 
down each month and the amount it actually spends.  The target is to have no 
more than 1.25% of the monthly drawdown of cash left in the main bank account 
each month. This equates to circa £400k for the CCG. This target was achieved 
in March with £34k left in the bank at the end of the month. Performance for this 
month and last month is shown below: 
  

 
 

Better Payment Practice Code - 30 Days NUMBER £000's

Non-NHS

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 5603 59933

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within 30 Day Target 5390 59,032

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within 30 Day Target 96.20% 98.50%

NHS 

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 1950 319,371

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within 30 Day Target 1935 319,271

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within 30 Day Target 99.23% 99.97%

Average BPPC Achievement 98.47%

Actual Actual

February March

£000's £000's

Income

Balance bfwd 268 246

DOH Income 30,500 35,200

Supplementary/Cash Return 2,100 2,500

Prescribing/Home Oxygen Therapy Charge to Cash Limit 4,593 4,376

CHC Risk Pool

Other Income 38 265

Total Income 37,499 42,587

Expenditure

Pay (335) (334)

NHS Payments including contracts (27,585) (29,458)

Other Payments -  BACS/CHAPS/Pos (4,644) (8,289)

Prescribing/Home Oxygen Therapy (4,593) (4,376)

CHC Risk Pool

Other (96) (96)

Total Expenditure (37,253) (42,553)

BALANCE CFWD 246 34
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Aged Debts  
 
The CCG monitors aged debts on a monthly basis to ensure prompt recovery of 
all outstanding debts and avoidance of debt write offs. The current target is to 
have no outstanding debts over 90 days old and above £50k in value. This target 
was achieved in March with no aged debts over 90 days old and above £50k in 
value outstanding.  

 
 
5. Financial Risks & Mitigation  

 
The CCG has successfully managed and mitigated financial risks in 2014/15 
leading to achievement of all financial duties.  
 

6. Budget Virements 
 
There were no budget virements above £5,000,000 in month 12.  
 

7. Recommendation  
 

The CCG Governing Body is asked to:  
 

 Note the Summary Financial Performance for 2014/15. 
 
 Tarryn Lake  
 Acting Head of Finance  
 Sunderland CCG 
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Appendix 1 –Performance Measurement Thresholds for KPIs 

 

Reporting Area Key Performance Indicator Green Blue Red

Status of 

Indicator

Forecast to achieve revised planned surplus

Forecast 

surplus 

greater than 

or within 

0.1% of plan. 

Forecast 

surplus less 

than plan by 

more than 

0.1% but less 

than 0.5%.

Forecast 

surplus less 

than plan by 

more than 

0.5%.

NHS England 

national 

assurance 

indicator.

Running costs to remain within allocation 

Running 

costs 

forecast 

equal to or 

less than 

allocation.

not 

applicable.

Running 

costs 

forecast 

above 

allocation.

NHS England 

national 

assurance 

indicator.

Achievement of QIPP targets

Forecast 

QIPP 

achievement 

greater than 

95% of QIPP 

plan.

Forecast 

QIPP 

achievement 

less than 95% 

but greater 

than 75% of 

QIPP plan.

Forecast 

QIPP 

achievement 

below 75% of 

QIPP plan.

NHS England 

national 

assurance 

indicator.

Cash balance in bank account at period end

Cash balance 

less than 

£400k at 

period end.

Cash balance 

greater than 

£400k but 

less than 

£600k at 

period end. 

Cash balance 

greater than 

£600k at 

period end.

NHS England 

national 

assurance 

indicator.

Better payment practice code average achievement

BPPC 

average 

achievement 

greater than 

95%.

BPPC 

average 

achievement 

greater than 

75% but less 

than 95%.

BPPC 

average 

achievement 

less than 

75%.

NHS England 

national 

assurance 

indicator.

Aged debts > £50k and > 90 days old

No aged 

debts greater 

than £50k 

and older 

than 90 days. 

Number of 

aged debts 

greater than 

£50k and 

older than 50 

days  not 

greater than 

two in total.

Number of 

aged debts 

greater than 

£50k and 

older than 50 

days greater 

than two in 

total.

Local CCG 

indicator. 

Financial Risks & 

Mitigation 

Headroom for mitigation of financial risks

Mitigations 

are greater 

than or equal 

to risks 

identified.

Risks not 

fully 

mitigated 

and, if they 

were to 

materialise, 

the CCG 

would not be 

in deficit or 

would be in 

deficit up to 

1% of 

allocations.

Risks not 

fully 

mitigated 

and, if they 

were to 

materialise, 

the CCG 

would be in 

deficit 

greater than 

the 1% of 

allocation

NHS England 

national 

assurance 

indicator.

Statement of 

Financial Position

Rating Measurement

2014/15 

Income & 

Expenditure
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Appendix 2 – Budget Category Analysis 
Acute Commissioning

Month 12 2014/15

CATEGORY

Budget 

(£000's)

Actual

(£000's)

Variance

(£000's)

CITY HOSPITALS SUNDERLAND NHSFT 183,273 183,250 -23

GATESHEAD HEALTH NHSFT 15,713 16,054 341

NEWCASTLE TYNE HOSP NHSFT 9,049 9,051 2

CO. DURHAM & DARL NHSFT 6,218 6,212 -7

SPIRE HEALTHCARE LTD 3,619 3,828 209

NORTHERN DOCTORS 2,008 2,011 3

SOUTH TYNESIDE NHSFT 1,159 1,104 -55

WASHINGTON WALK IN CENTRE 415 415 0

SOUTH TEES HOSPITAL NHSFT 427 647 220

NORTHUMBRIA HC NHSFT 319 429 110

NORTH TEES & HARTLEPOOL NHSFT 223 165 -58

EXEMPT OVERSEAS VISITORS 0 -13 -13

AQP SERVICES 1,663 1,712 49

WINTER PRESSURES 5,405 5,122 -282

NON CONTRACT ACTIVITY NHS & NON NHS 2,660 2,998 338

TOTAL 232,150 232,986 836

YTD Notes

End of year positions are agreed with all main providers which is reflected within the outturn position

Spire showed a significant increase from M11 forecast based on updated information from contracting 

team which highlighted a high level of overpeformance in Q4.

Mental Health Commissioning

Month 12 2014/15

CATEGORY

Budget 

(£000's)

Actual

(£000's)

Variance

(£000's)

NORTHUMBERLAND T/W NHST 51,327 51,305 -22

TEES ESK/WEAR VAL NHSFT 259 255 -4

MIND 388 371 -18

OTHER 1,885 1,955 71

WINTER RESILIENCE 190 190 -0

TOTAL 54,049 54,076 27

YTD Notes

Contracts on track for 2014/15. Minor underspend on NTW contract largely relates to 2013/14 credit.

Community Services

Month 12 2014/15

CATEGORY

Budget 

(£000's)

Actual

(£000's)

Variance

(£000's)

S TYNESIDE NHSFT 26,239 26,276 37

MSKCAT SERVICE 712 890 178

SUNDERLAND LA 1,178 1,336 157

OTHER CONTRACTS 790 826 36

TOTAL 28,920 29,328 408

YTD Notes

Pressure on STFT contract due to overperformance on continence products spend based on recharges 

received. Currently undergoing service transformation within FT. 

MSK CAT overspend due to increase property pass through costs from NHS Propco (£41k) with the 

remainder coming from contract overperformance. Sun LA overspend relates to additional spend to 

manage Community Equipment Services pressures. 

2014/15

2014/15

2014/15
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NHS Protect  

 

 
Item: 10.2 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY 

26 MAY 2015 

 
Report Title 
 

 
2014/15 Annual Accounts 

 
Purpose of report 

 
The purpose of this item is to gain approval of the 
Annual Accounts for 2014/15 from the Governing 
Body of the CCG.  
 

 
Key points, risks and assurances 
 

 

 Key issue is to ensure the CCG meets its 
financial duties.  

 The report provides assurance that the CCG 
has met its financial duties in 2014/15. 

 

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

 
To recommend the Annual Accounts for 2014/15 for 
approval by the Governing Body following scrutiny at 
Audit Committee.  
 

Sponsor/approving director   David Chandler – Acting Chief Finance Officer 

Report author 
 
Tarryn Lake – Acting Head of Finance 
 

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO3 CO4 CO5 CO6 CO7 

       

Any relevant legal/statutory issues 

 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) 
Department of Health Group Manual for Accounts 
(MfA) 
 

 
Are the identified risks on the risk 
register? (If so, include reference number) 
 

Yes  
649 
653 
990 



    

 
*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 
CO7 - Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund  
 
 
 
 
 

Version Date Comments  

1.0 18/05/2015 TL Initial draft of report  

2.0 20/05/2015 TL amendments & finalization of 
report 

  
 
 
 
 
 

If issue/report has been previously 
reviewed please specify meeting and 
date 

Not applicable  

 
Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  

Yes  No  
Not 
relevant 

 

Key implications  Yes No Details 

 
Are additional resources required?  If so 
please specify 
 

  
 

 

 
Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  
 

  None known  

 
Any current or expected impact on 
patient outcomes/experience? 
 

  None known  

 
Has there been member practice and/or 
other stakeholder engagement if 
needed?   
 

  None known  



    

 
 

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2014/15 
 

Executive Summary 
 

1. Introduction 
 

All NHS bodies are responsible for submitting their audited accounts in 
accordance with a pre-determined timetable. 
 
The deadline for submission of CCG’s audited information is 12.00am on the 29th 
May 2015, however, the accounts require adoption by the Governing Body prior 
to this date, as various certificates have to be completed as part of the ‘sign off’ 
process. 
 
The Governing Body should also note that the CCG has worked closely with 
“Mazars” to achieve submission by the due deadline.  
 
The attached paper and set of accounts highlight the process undertaken along 
with a brief commentary on information contained within the financial statements. 

 
2. Recommendation 
 

The Governing Body is requested to: 
 
i) Approve and adopt the accounts for 2014/15; 
ii) Authorise the Accountable officer and Chief Finance Officer to sign the 

various certificates relating to the accounts. 
 
 
 
 
David Chandler     
Acting Chief Finance Officer     
NHS Sunderland CCG      
May 2015     
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



    

APPROVAL OF ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2014/15 
 

NHS Sunderland CCG 
 
1) Reason for the Report 

 
To provide an opportunity for members of the Governing Body to examine and 
recommend approval of the annual accounts for the year ended 31st March 2015 
for NHS Sunderland CCG. 

 
2) Background Information 
 

Members will be aware that all NHS Bodies including Clinical Commissioning 
Groups have to submit their Annual Accounts to NHS England in accordance 
with a predetermined timetable. Annual Accounts attached to this report were 
completed in accordance with the timetable and were submitted in an unaudited 
form for verification ahead of the April 2015 deadline. 
 
Our External Auditors have now completed their formal audit of the final 
accounts.  Our Director and Engagement Lead (Auditor) Cameron Waddell has 
reviewed the work of his audit team and our Senior Audit Manager, Diane Harold, 
has indicated that the accounts were completed in an extremely professional 
manner and that she will be recommending to Cameron the issuing of an 
unqualified audit opinion on the accounts and associated information.  Once 
adopted and approved by the Governing Body it is the intention of our auditors to 
formally provide the audit opinion. 

 
3) Accounting Policies/Key Estimates 
 

The accounts for the CCG are in prescribed format laid down by the Secretary of 
State contained within the CCG’s annual reporting guidance published by NHS 
England.   
 
In producing its accounts the CCG has adopted policies in line with guidance 
provided by NHS England.  . 
 
Key estimates contained within the accounts relate to, partially completed spells 
of activity and prescribing liabilities yet to be billed.  In preparing estimates we 
have taken account of advice provided by appropriate internal and external 
“experts” and information provided centrally by NHS England.  In preparing the 
accounts we assure the Governing Body that we are satisfied these policies and 
key accounting estimates are relevant to the CCG’s local circumstances, and that 
they have been appropriately and consistently applied. 
 
The main accounting statements are the Statement of Comprehensive NET 
Expenditure for the year ended 31st March 2015, a Statement of Financial 
Position as at 31st March 2015, Statement relating to changes in taxpayers equity 



    
for the year ending 31st March 2015 plus a Statement of cash flows for the year 
ended 31st March 2015.  
 
In addition, an in accordance with the annual reporting guidance a number of 
notes illustrating further detailed information have to be shown as part of the 
annual accounts information.  These notes are an integral part of the annual 
accounts and are subject to the same degree of audit scrutiny as the main 
accounting statements. 
 

 
4) Going Concern 
 

We would wish to draw to the Governing Body’s attention the note within the 
Accountings Policies relating to going concern. It states the following:  
 
These accounts have been prepared on the “going concern” basis. Public Sector 
bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision 
of the service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial 
provision for that service in published accounts. 

 
 
 
5) Highlight from the Accounts 

 
Contained within the accounts/notes is the following information that we wish to 
draw to the attention of members of the Governing Body: 
 
i) Note 21 contained within the supporting information details how the 

organisation fared against its financial performance targets.  CCG’s have 
a number of statutory financial duties, which form part of their overall 
performance management arrangements.  The 4 financial performance 
targets applicable to the CCG are as follows: 

 
 

a) Expenditure not to exceed income. Note 21 indicates that the 
organisation charged £434,277k against its final resource limit of 
£453,396k. This produces a £19,119k underspend, clearly 
demonstrating achievement of this particular duty; 

 
b) Revenue Resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 

“Directions”. Note 21 identifies that the organisation charged 
£434,277k against its final resource limit of £453,396k.  

 
c) Revenue Administration Resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions. Note 21 identifies that the organisation charged 
£6,279k against its final resource limit for Administration Spend of 
£7,746k. This produces a £1,467k underspend, clearly demonstrating 
achievement of this particular duty. It should be noted that the CCG 



    
received a non-recurrent administration allocation in 2014/15 of 
£1,016k in relation to quality premium achievement in 2013/14. The 
expenditure associated with this resource has been charged to 
programme expenditure.  

 
ii) Note 6 records the CCG’s achievement regarding the Better Payment 

Practice Code.  From the note it can be seen that the CCG was able to 
pay 96% of its Non-NHS trade creditors within 30 days of receipt of goods 
or agreed credit terms. 

 
The accounts themselves and the supporting notes contain a considerable 
amount of financial and related information.  It is impossible in terms of this report 
to produce a detailed commentary on every specific point.  This paper therefore 
deliberately concentrates on demonstrating achievement of statutory duties and 
associated information.  We will be pleased to answer any questions at the 
Governing Body meeting regarding the information contained within the 
accounts, however, if the question is of a detailed nature an ‘early warning’ would 
be appreciated. I would also want to point out that the accounts and associated 
information have already been subject to considerable scrutiny at an “informal 
Audit Committee” and personal briefings have been provided to the Accountable 
Officer and Clinical Chair of the CCG.  
 

6) Recommendation 
 

The Governing Body is requested to: 
 
Approve the accounts for 2014/15.  In addition the Governing Body is requested 
to consider authorising the Accountable Officer and Chief Finance Officer to sign 
the various certificates contained within the accounts. 
 

 
David Chandler      
Acting Chief Finance Officer     
NHS Sunderland CCG     
May 2015  
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended

31 March 2015
2014-15 2013-14

Note £000 £000

Total Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 4.1 3,659 3,086

Operating expenses 5 432,146 412,817

Other operating revenue 2 (1,528) (1,434)

Net operating expenditure 434,277 414,469

Net operating expenditure for the financial year 434,277 414,469

Of which:

Administration Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 4.1 2,987 2,751

Operating expenses 5 3,292 3,370

Other operating revenue 2 0 (21)

Net administration costs 6,279 6,100

Programme Income and Expenditure

Employee benefits 4.1 672 335

Operating expenses 5 428,854 409,447

Other operating revenue 2 (1,528) (1,413)

Net programme expenditure 427,998 408,369

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 434,277 414,469
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Statement of Financial Position as at

31 March 2015
31 March 2015 31 March 2014

Note £000 £000

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 8 101 178

Total non-current assets 101 178

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 9 1,514 1,747

Cash and cash equivalents 10 34 50

Total current assets 1,548 1,797

Total assets 1,649 1,975

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 (21,684) (21,886)

Provisions 12 (5) 0

Total current liabilities (21,689) (21,886)

Total assets less current liabilities (20,040) (19,911)

Total assets employed (20,040) (19,911)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity

General fund (20,040) (19,911)

Total taxpayers' equity: (20,040) (19,911)

The notes on pages 5 to 28 form part of this statement

David Gallagher

Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)

26 May 2015

The financial statements on pages 1 to 28 were approved by the Governing Body on 26th May 2015 and signed on its 

behalf by:
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended

31 March 2015

General 

fund

Total 

reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (19,911) (19,911)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS 

bodies 0 0

Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2014 (19,911) (19,911)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15:

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (434,277) (434,277)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial  year (434,277) (434,277)

Net Parliamentary funding 434,148 434,148

Balance at 31 March 2015 (20,040) (20,040)

Restated 

General 

fund

Restated 

Total 

reserves

£000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14

Balance at 1 April 2013 0 0

Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 

April 2013 transition 255 255

Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2013 255 255

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14:

Net operating costs for the financial year (414,469) (414,469)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial  year (414,469) (414,469)

Net Parliamentary funding 394,303 394,303

Balance at 31 March 2014 (19,911) (19,911)

The 2013-14 net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year has been restated to exclude the adjusted CCG 

balance at 1 April 2013 so that it is consistent with revised presentation for 2014-15.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended

31 March 2015
2014-15 2013-14

Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (434,277) (414,469)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 77 77

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 9 233 (1,747)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 11 (202) 21,886

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 5 0

Net cash outflow from operating activities (434,164)        (394,253)        

Net cash outflow before financing (434,164)        (394,253)        

Cash flows from financing activities

Net funding received 434,148 394,303

Net cash inflow from financing activities 434,148 394,303

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10 (16) 50

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 50 0

Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the financial 

year 34                  50                  
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Accounting Policies

1.1 Going Concern

1.2  Accounting Convention

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

1.4

1.5 Pooled Budgets

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the 

accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts  issued by the Department of Health.  Consequently, the 

following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2014-15  issued 

by the Department of Health.  The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts  follow International 

Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning 

groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the 

Manual for Accounts  permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most 

appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true 

and fair view has been selected.  The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are 

described below.  They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 

accounts.

These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in 

the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be 

provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of 

going concern for the final set of financial statements.  If services will continue to be provided the financial 

statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation 

of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial 

liabilities.

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are 

considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely.  They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they 

transfer from one public sector body to another.

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the 

Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury.  The Government Financial Reporting Manual 

does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under 

merger accounting) have not been restated.  Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their 

transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions 

transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.

                The liabilities the clinical commissioning group incurs;

                The expenses the clinical commissioning group incurs; and

                The clinical commissioning group's share of the income from the pooled budget activities.

If the clinical commissioning group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the 

above, the clinical commissioning group recognises:

                The clinical commissioning group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according

                  to the nature of the assets);

                The clinical commissioning group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 

20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.

Where the clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the 

National Health Service Act 2006 the clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, 

income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled 

budget agreement.

If the clinical commissioning group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the clinical commissioning group 

recognises:

                The assets the clinical commissioning group controls;

                The clinical commissioning group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.6

1.6.1

1.6.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

1.7 Revenue

1.8 Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical 

commissioning group's accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 

the financial statements:

•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed 

   treatment spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date. The full value of partially completed 

   spells included in the financial statements for the clinical commissioning group as at the Statement of 

   Financial Position date is £1,753,717 (for the period to 31st March 2014 the full value included in the        

   financial statements totalled £2,055,574). This value is determined through assessment of the 

   estimations made by service providers of the expected liability payable by the clinical commissioning 

   group as at the Statement of Financial Position date. 

•  the assumptions applied in the estimation of prescribing liabilities not yet billed as at the Statement of

   Financial Position date. Nationally derived phasing profiles from the NHS Business Services Authority  

   provided for forecasting the likely prescribing outturn has been utilised in deriving the estimated liability 

   of costs not yet billed for the clinical commissioning group. This was estimated at £8,549,559 as at the 

   Statement of Financial Position date (for the period to 31st March 2014 the full value included in the 

   financial statements totalled £8,095,582).

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is 

deferred.

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received 

from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 

apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 

and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates and the 

estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management 

has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

•  None

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.  The scheme is an 

unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed 

under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.  The scheme is not designed to be run in a 

way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.  

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical 

commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme 

for the accounting period.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 

scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical 

commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.9 Other Expenses

1.10 Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:

1.10.2 Valuation

1.10.3 Subsequent Expenditure

                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,

                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,

                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of 

                  more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly 

                  simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are 

                  under single managerial control; or,

                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, 

                  irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset 

lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been 

received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group  has a 

present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have 

been met.

                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;

                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to 

                  the clinical commissioning group;

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any 

impairment loss.  Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses 

immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.  Assets are re-valued and depreciation 

commences when they are brought into use.

Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different 

from fair value.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for 

the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of 

the decrease previously charged there.  A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic 

value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that 

there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Impairment losses that arise from 

a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure.  Gains and losses recognised in the 

revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 

Expenditure.

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost 

is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is 

capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating 

expenses.

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to 

acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.

Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated 

in the Statement of Financial Position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation 

less any impairment.

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different 

from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:

                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and

                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern 

equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an 

alternative site can be valued.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.11 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments

1.12 Leases

1.12.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee

1.12.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor

1.13 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and 

equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a 

manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets.  The estimated 

useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic 

benefits or service potential from the asset.  This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be 

shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.  Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each 

year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.  Assets held under finance leases 

are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of 

its tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If there is indication of an 

impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss 

and, if so, its amount.  Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.

A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as 

an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the 

asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic 

benefit are taken to expenditure.  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the 

asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have 

been determined had there been no initial impairment loss.  The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to 

expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 

than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three months or less from the date of 

acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable 

on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Initial 

direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 

leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 

to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at 

fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease 

obligation to the lessor.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease 

obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges 

are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group's surplus/deficit.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 

incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually 

assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical 

commissioning group’s net investment in the leases.  Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so 

as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical commissioning group’s net investment outstanding 

in respect of the leases.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.14 Provisions

1.15   Clinical Negligence Costs

1.16   Non-clinical Risk Pooling

1.17  Continuing healthcare risk pooling

1.18  Contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation 

as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the 

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  The amount recognised as a 

provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting 

period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 

estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM 

Treasury’s discount rate as follows:

                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third 

Parties Scheme.  Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual 

contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising.  

The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to 

operating expenses as and when they become due.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 

the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a 

payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently 

reliably.  A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical 

commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim 

periods prior to 31 March 2013.  Under the scheme, clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled 

fund, which is used to settle the claims. The contributions made by the clinical commissioning group are 

determined by NHS England and disclosed in note 12.

                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%

                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%

                All employee early departures: 1.80%

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 

third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received 

and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal 

plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the 

restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it.  The 

measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, 

which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going 

activities of the entity.

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays 

an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims.  The 

contribution is charged to expenditure.  Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for 

all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

 The clinical commissioning group has entered into risk share arrangements with local clinical commissioning 

groups for continuing healthcare. The contributions made by the clinical commissioning group to this 

arrangement are included within the reported accounts. 
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Notes to the financial statements

1.19 Financial Assets

1.19.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

1.19.2 Held to Maturity Assets

1.19.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets

1.19.4 Loans & Receivables

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial 

instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered.  

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not 

quoted in an active market.  After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation 

techniques.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected 

life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified into the following categories:

                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

                Held to maturity investments;

                Available for sale financial assets; and

                Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of 

initial recognition.

At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other 

than those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired.  Financial assets are impaired and impairment 

losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred 

after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 

asset’s original effective interest rate.  The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the 

asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 

loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the 

impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 

recognised.

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with 

embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value 

through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the 

clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest 

earned on the financial asset.

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

maturity, and there is a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  After initial recognition, they are held at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the 

effective interest method.

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or 

that do not fall within any of the other three financial asset classifications.  They are measured at fair value with 

changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses.  Accumulated gains 

or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.20 Financial Liabilities

1.20.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities

1.20.2 

1.20.3 Other Financial Liabilities

1.21  Value Added Tax

1.22 Losses & Special Payments

1.23 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted

                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

                 IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

                IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 

2014-15, were they applied in that year.

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be 

applied in 2014-15, all of which are subject to consultation:

                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for 

the health service or passed legislation.  By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.  They are 

therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.  They are divided into 

different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals 

basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical 

commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal 

revenue expenditure).

           The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,

           The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: 

             Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with 

embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit and loss.  They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical 

commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.  The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial 

liability.

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost.  The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net 

carrying amount of the financial liability.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 

does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 

expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged 

or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group 

becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when 

the goods or services have been received.  Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been 

discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially 

recognised at fair value.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-patient care services to other bodies 807 0 807 586 0 586

Other revenue 721 0 721 848 21 827

Total other operating revenue 1,528 0 1,528 1,434 21 1,413

3. Revenue
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

From rendering of services 984 0 984 1,073 21 1,052

From sale of goods 544 0 544 361 0 361

Total 1,528 0 1,528 1,434 21 1,413

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the clinical commissioning group and 

credited to the General Fund.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1 Employee benefits 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 3,014 2,917 97 2,451 2,364 87 563 553 10

Social security costs 280 276 4 236 232 4 44 44 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 365 358 7 300 293 7 65 65 0

Total employee benefits expenditure 3,659 3,551 108 2,987 2,889 98 672 662 10

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other Total

Permanent 

Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 2,540 2,468 72 2,270 2,198 72 270 270 0

Social security costs 247 247 0 220 220 0 27 27 0

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 299 299 0 261 261 0 38 38 0

Total employee benefits expenditure 3,086             3,014             72                  2,751             2,679             72                  335                335                0

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year (2013-14: £0).

4.2 Average number of people employed

Total

Permanently 

employed Other Total

Permanently 

employed Other

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 67                  66                  1                    59                  58                  1                    

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects (2013-14: None).

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2014-15 2013-14

Number Number

Total Days Lost 709 183

Total Staff Years 72 59

Average working Days Lost 10 3

The staff sickness numbers for 2014-15 are based on data for  the calendar year January 2014 to December 2014 (2013-14: based on data from April 2013 to December 2013).

No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year (2013-14: none).

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

No exit packages have been agreed in the financial year (2013-14: none).

Admin ProgrammeTotal

2014-15

Total Admin Programme

2013-14
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4.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these 

provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the 

direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 

to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 

participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 

determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period between formal valuations shall be 

four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years". An outline of these follows: 

4.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an 

actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current 

reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme 

liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2014, updated to 31 March 2015 with summary global member 

and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM intepretations, and 

the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.  

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS 

Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Resource Account, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions 

website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its 

recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.

The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and 

consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate. 
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4.5 Pension costs (continued)

4.5.3 Scheme Provisions

• Members can purchase additional service in the scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s 

approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, 

and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before 

these benefits can be obtained:

• The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the 

best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per 

year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions 

based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service;

• With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free 

lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HM Revenue & Customs rules. This new provision is known as 

“pension commutation”;

• Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based 

on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI);

• Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the Scheme who are permanently incapable 

of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death 

in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable;

• For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The 

full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.
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5. Operating expenses

5.1 Analysis of Operating Expenses
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

Total Admin Programme Total Admin Programme

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits

Employee benefits excluding governing body members 3,098 2,426 672 2,494 2,159 335

Executive governing body members 561 561 0 592 592 0

Total gross employee benefits 3,659 2,987 672 3,086 2,751 335

Other costs

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 2,456 1,150 1,306 757 742 15

Services from foundation trusts 315,139 50 315,089 307,328 0 307,328

Services from other NHS trusts 343 0 343 466 0 466

Services from other NHS bodies 133 0 133 0 0 0

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 57,475 0 57,475 46,856 0 46,856

Chair and Non Executive Members 118 118 0 104 104 0

Supplies and services – clinical 0 0 0 32 0 32

Supplies and services – general 281 224 57 934 736 198

Consultancy services 83 68 15 60 60 0

Establishment 995 380 615 491 380 111

Transport 60 24 36 68 22 46

Premises 1,497 542 955 2,974 691 2,283

Depreciation 77 1 76 77 1 76

Audit fees 108 108 0 119 119 0

Prescribing costs 51,691 0 51,691 51,026 0 51,026

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 415 0 415 988 0 988

Other professional fees excl. audit 378 378 0 332 330 2

Education and training 280 249 31 205 185 20

Provisions 5 0 5 0 0 0

CHC Risk Pool contributions 612 0 612 0 0 0

Total other costs 432,146 3,292 428,854 412,817 3,370 409,447

Total operating expenses 435,805 6,279 429,526 415,903 6,121 409,782

Administration expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

5.2 Analysis of Non NHS Healthcare Operating Expenditure
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

Total ISTCs Other Private Voluntary Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Purchase of Secondary Healthcare

Social Care 1,743 0 2 0 1,741

Mental Health 8,130 0 1,031 567 6,532

Maternity 33 18 0 15 0

General and Acute 6,722 6,437 0 0 285

Accident and Emergency 0 0 0 0 0

Community Health Services 33,965 5,586 5,997 497 21,885

Other Contractual 6,882 85 1,807 533 4,457

Total Secondary Healthcare Purchased 57,475 12,126 8,837 1,612 34,900

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

Total ISTCs Other Private Voluntary Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Purchase of Secondary Healthcare

Social Care 1,695 0 216 0 1,479

Mental Health 7,648 0 1,550 199 5,899

Maternity 16 0 0 16 0

General and Acute 3,818 3,743 0 0 75

Accident and Emergency 0 0 0 0 0

Community Health Services 26,700 4,521 8,600 576 13,003

Other Contractual 6,979 166 2,104 468 4,241

Total Secondary Healthcare Purchased 46,856 8,430 12,470 1,259 24,697

The CCG has entered into an agreement with NHS England to undertake delegated commissioning of primary care GP services from 1 April 2015. This will result in an increase on GPMS/APMS and PCTMS expenditure of circa £35,681k in 

2015-16.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

6.1 Measure of compliance

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 5,603           59,933        5,524          45,530                

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 5,390           59,032        5,314          43,884                

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 96.20% 98.50% 96.20% 96.38%

NHS Payables

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 1,950           319,371      1,337          307,422              

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1,935           319,271      1,294          306,634              

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.23% 99.97% 96.78% 99.74%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

The clinical commissioning group had no late payments of commercial debts in 2014-15 (2013-14: none).

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of 

receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
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7. Operating Leases

7.1 As lessee

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14

Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments 1,325 29 1,354 2,739

Total 1,325 29 1,354 2,739

7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2014-15 2013-14

Buildings Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:

No later than one year 70 20 90 28

Between one and five years 280 5 285 4

After five years 314 0 314 0

Total 664 25 689 32

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased 

cars and photocopiers, none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual arrangement but are 

based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.

The clinical commissioning group also has arrangements in place with NHS Property Services in respect of the utilisation of 

various clinical and non-clinical properties.  These largely relate to payments made in respect of void space in clinical 

properties, as well as for the clinical commissioning group's accommodation costs. Funding in respect of void spaces was 

made available from NHS England in the clinical commissioning group's allocation. 

Accordingly the payments made in 2014-15 for void spaces are disclosed as minimum lease payments in the buildings 

category in note 7.1.1 below.  In the absence of formal contracts however, it is not possible to confirm minimum lease 

payments for future years hence no figures are included in note 7.1.2 below for these arrangements.  It is expected that the 

payments recognised in 2014-15 would continue to be minimum lease payments in 2015-16. The clinical commissioning 

group is aware that NHS Property Services are preparing leases for signature during 2015-16.

Although formal signed leases are not in place for void spaces in these properties, the transactions involved do convey the 

right of the clinical commissioning group to use property assets.  The clinical commissioning group has considered the 

substance of these arrangements under IFRIC 4 'Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease' and determined 

that the arrangements are (or contain) leases.  
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8. Property, plant and equipment

2014-15

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment Total 

£000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014 252 3 255

Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2015 252 3 255

Depreciation 1 April 2014 75 2 77

Charged during the year 76 1 77

Depreciation at 31 March 2015 151 3 154

Net Book Value at 31 March 2015 101 0 101

Purchased 101 0 101

Total at 31 March 2015 101 0 101

Asset financing:

Owned 101 0 101

Total at 31 March 2015 101 0 101

8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Plant & machinery 27 0

Transport equipment 3 0

Total 30 0

8.2 Economic lives

Plant & machinery 2 2

Maximum 

Life (Years)

Minimum 

Life (years)
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9.  Trade and other receivables Current Current

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 96 155

NHS prepayments and accrued income 1,109 1,085

Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 270 480

Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income 22 10

VAT 10 15

Other receivables 7 2

Total Trade & other receivables 1,514 1,747

Total current and non current 1,514 1,747

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

By up to three months 11 146

By three to six months 0 239

Total 11 385

£11k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

10. Cash and cash equivalents

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 50 0

Net change in year (16) 50

Balance at 31 March 2015 34 50

Made up of:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 34 50

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 34 50

Balance at 31 March 2015 34 50

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to clinical 

commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The clinical commissioning group held no cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2015 on behalf of patients (31 March 

2014: £0).

The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2015 (31 March 

2014: £0).
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Current Non-current Current Non-current

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 1,150 0 4,812 0

NHS accruals and deferred income 3,860 0 2,056 0

Non-NHS payables: revenue 940 0 1,151 0

Non-NHS accruals and deferred income 15,051 0 13,305 0

Social security costs 42 0 38 0

Tax 48 0 46 0

Other payables 593 0 478 0

Total Trade & Other Payables 21,684 0 21,886 0

Total payables (current and non-current) 21,684 21,886

12. Provisions

Current Non-current Current Non-current

2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14

£000 £000 £000 £000

Legal claims 5 0 0 0

Total 5 0 0 0

Total current and non-current 5 0

Legal  Claims Total

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2014 0 0

Arising during the year 5 5

Balance at 31 March 2015 5 5

Expected timing of cash flows:

Within one year 5 5

Balance at 31 March 2015 5 5

13. Contingencies

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Contingent liabilities

Other 5 0

Net value of contingent liabilities 5 0

The clinical commissioning group had no contingent assets as at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: none).

The clinical commissioning group has one legal case outstanding as at 31 March 2015 for which a provision and linked 

contingent liability has been identified. This relates to excess in respect of a non clinical case held by NHSLA on behalf of the 

clinical commissioning group amounting to £5k. 

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014 and 24 February 2015, NHS England is responsible 

for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the 

clinical commissioning group. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total value of legacy NHS Continuing 

Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2015 is £5,372k (31 March 2014: 

£7,203k). 

11. Trade and other payables

At 31 March 2015, the clinical commissioning group had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the 

liability for early retirement over 5 years (31 March 2014: £0).

Other payables include £42k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: £38k).

Legal claims are calculated from the number of claims currently lodged with the NHS Litigation Authority and the probabilities 

provided by them.
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14. Financial instruments

14.1 Financial risk management

14.1.1 Currency risk

14.1.2 Interest rate risk

14.1.3 Credit risk

14.1.4 Liquidity risk

Because the majority of the clinical commissioning group’s revenue comes parliamentary funding, the clinical 

commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in 

receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits agreed with NHS 

England, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down 

cash to cover expenditure, from NHS England, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, 

exposed to significant liquidity risks.

The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and 

liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The clinical 

commissioning group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in 

creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of 

financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing 

risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical 

commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated 

by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in 

undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the 

clinical commissioning group’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity 

is subject to review by the clinical commissioning group’s internal auditors.

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by 

NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at 

the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to 

interest rate fluctuations.
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14. Financial instruments (continued)

14.2 Financial assets

Loans and 

Receivables Total

31 March 2015 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Receivables:

·          NHS 96 96

·          Non-NHS 270 270

Cash at bank and in hand 34 34

Other financial assets 7 7

Total at 31 March 2015 407 407

Loans and 

Receivables Total

31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Receivables:

·          NHS 155 155

·          Non-NHS 480 480

Cash at bank and in hand 50 50

Other financial assets 2 2

Total at 31 March 2014 687 687

14.3 Financial liabilities

Other Total

31 March 2015 31 March 2015

£000 £000

Payables:

·          NHS 5,009 5,009

·          Non-NHS 16,585 16,585

Total at 31 March 2015 21,594 21,594

Other Total

31 March 2014

Restated

31 March 2014

Restated

£000 £000

Payables:

·          NHS 6,868 6,868

·          Non-NHS 14,934 14,934

Total at 31 March 2014 21,802 21,802

15. Operating segments

The clinical commissioning group has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 

in determining its operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the clinical 

commissioning group's Governing Body, considered to be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the clinical 

commissioning group, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the clinical commissioning group relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for 

its relevant population.  As a result, the clinical commissioning group considers that it has only one operating 

segment, being the commissioning of healthcare services.

An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the 

statement of comprehensive net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.

The 2013-14 non-NHS expenditure has been restated. Other payables from note 11 has now been included in 

the total non-NHS financial liabilities.
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16. Pooled budgets

2014-15 2013-14

£000 £000

Income 0 0

Expenditure (4,238) (3,932)

17. Intra-government and other balances
Current 

Receivables

Non-current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

Non-current 

Payables

31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2015 31 March 2015

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 10 0 347 0

·          Local Authorities 232 0 2,454 0

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 26 0 91 0

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 1,179 0 4,918 0

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 1,205 0 5,009 0

·          Public corporations and trading funds 0 0 0 0

·          Bodies external to Government 67 0 13,874 0

Total balances at 31 March 2015 1,514 0 21,684 0

Current 

Receivables

Non-current 

Receivables

Current 

Payables

Non-current 

Payables

31 March 2014 31 March 2014 31 March 2014 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances with:

·          Other Central Government bodies 15 0 192 0

·          Local Authorities 477 0 1,638 0

Balances with NHS bodies:

·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group 155 0 128 0

·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 1,084 0 6,740 0

Total of balances with NHS bodies: 1,239 0 6,868 0

·          Public corporations and trading funds 0 0 0 0

·          Bodies external to Government 16 0 13,188 0

Total balances at 31 March 2014 1,747 0 21,886 0

The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget with Sunderland City Council. The pool is hosted by Sunderland 

City Council.

Under the arrangement funds are pooled under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 for the Community Equipment services, Learning 

Disability services, Intermediate Care services and a Mental Capacity Act safeguarding practitioner. 

The clinical commissioning group’s shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were:

The CCG has entered into a Section 75 agreement with Sunderland City Council to create a pooled budget as part its plans for the Better Care Fund from 

1 April 2015. This will result in an increase on pooled budgets of circa £89,404k in 2015-16.
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18. Related party transactions

Name Title Declaration Related Party 

Payments 

to Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Ian Pattison Clinical Chair
Partner, Dr Pattison & Partner, Southlands 

Medical Group
Southlands Medical Group 61 0 0 0

Pat Taylor Lay Vice Chair
Married to Commissioning Support Officer, 

North of England Commissioning Support

North of England Commissioning 

Support
2,597 0 86 0

Dr Tracy Lucas Executive GP GP, Encompass Healthcare Washington Encompass Healthcare 125 0 19 0

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP & Governance / 

Public Patient Involvement (PPI) 

Lead

Partner, Ford & Partners, St Bede's Medical 

Practice

Ford & Partners, St Bede's Medical 

Practice
79 0 0 0

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP & Governance / 

Public Patient Involvement (PPI) 

Lead

Married to Specialist Midwife at The 

Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust

The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust
8,855 0 387 0

Dr Valerie Taylor Executive GP Salaried GP, Kepier Medical Practice Kepier Medical Practice 87 0 0 0

Dr Henry Choi
Executive GP & Clinical 

Effectiveness Lead

Partner, Dr Cloak & Partners, Southwick 

Health Centre
Dr Cloak & Partners 134 0 2 0

Dr Jackie Gillespie 
Executive GP & Prescribing 

Lead
Partner, Millfield Medical Centre Millfield Medical Centre 176 0 1 0

Dr Jackie Gillespie 
Executive GP & Prescribing 

Lead

Married to Dr P Peverley, GP Partner at the 

Old Forge Surgery, Sunderland
Old Forge Surgery, Sunderland 104 0 0 0

Prof. Mike Bramble Secondary Care Clinician
Part Time Medical Consultant, South Tees 

NHS Foundation Trust
South Tees NHS Foundation Trust 823 0 96 0

Ann Fox
Director Of Nursing, Quality And 

Safety

Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety, South 

Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group

South Tyneside Clinical 

Commissioning Group
234 55 0 1

Gloria Middleton 
Practice Manager 

Representative
Partner, Westbourne Medical Group Westbourne Medical Group 57 0 3 0

Gloria Middleton 
Practice Manager 

Representative
NEAS Community First Responder

North East Ambulance NHS 

Foundation Trust
12,189 0 633 0

Dr Geoff Stephenson Medical Director
Managing Partner, Dr Stephenson & 

Partners, Victoria Road Health Centre
Dr Stephenson & Partners 166 0 2 0

David Chandler Head Of Finance

Married to Jane Fay, head of costing, income 

& contracts, South Tyneside NHS 

Foundation Trust

South Tyneside NHS Foundation 

Trust
29,060 0 158 0

Scott Watson Head Of Contracting
Son of Councillor Paul Watson, Sunderland 

City Council
Sunderland City Council 29,330 953 2,097 232

Scott Watson Head Of Contracting

Partnership arrangement with Actuate Ltd for 

the provision of advice and guidance in 

relation to data / intelligence developments in 

the public sector

Actuate Ltd 18 0 3 0

Name Title Declaration Related Party

Payments 

to Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party
£000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Ian Pattison Clinical Chair

Partner, Dr Pattison & Partner, Southlands 

Medical Group (and partner to Dr K Benton, 

GP at Southlands Medical Practice)

Southlands Medical Group 25 0 0 0

Dr Geoff Stephenson Medical Director
Managing Partner, Dr Stephenson & 

Partners, Victoria Road Health Centre
Dr Stephenson & Partners 74 0 1 0

Ann Fox
Director Of Nursing, Quality And 

Safety

Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety, South 

Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group

South Tyneside Clinical 

Commissioning Group
0 46 66 1

Dr Iain Gilmour
Executive GP & Clinical Vice 

Chair
Partner, Deerness Park Medical Group Deerness Park Medical Group 114 0 8 0

Dr Iain Gilmour
Executive GP & Clinical Vice 

Chair

Married to S Gilmour, practice manager at 

The Wearside Practice, managed by South 

Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

South Tyneside NHS Foundation 

Trust
30,821 0 300 0

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP & Governance / 

Public Patient Involvement (PPI) 

Lead

Partner, Ford & Partners, St Bede's Medical 

Practice

Ford & Partners, St Bede's Medical 

Practice
40 0 0 0

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP & Governance / 

Public Patient Involvement (PPI) 

Lead

Married to Specialist Midwife at The 

Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust

The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust
8,870 0 115 0

Dr Henry Choi
Executive GP & Clinical 

Effectiveness Lead

Partner, Dr Cloak & Partners, Southwick 

Health Centre
Southwick Health Centre 82 0 0 0

Dr Jackie Gillespie 
Executive GP & Prescribing 

Lead
Partner, Millfield Medical Centre Millfield Medical Centre 109 8 0 0

Dr Jackie Gillespie 
Executive GP & Prescribing 

Lead

Married to Dr P Peverley, GP Partner at the 

Old Forge Surgery, Sunderland
Old Forge Surgery, Sunderland 46 0 0 0

Dr Valerie Taylor Executive GP
Part-time Clinician, Rheumatology, City 

Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 

Foundation Trust
179,141 0 2,737 1,082

Dr Valerie Taylor Executive GP Salaried GP, Kepier Medical Practice Kepier Medical Practice 56 0 0 0

Gloria Middleton 
Practice Manager 

Representative
Partner, Westbourne Medical Group Westbourne Medical Group 34 0 0 0

Prof. Mike Bramble Secondary Care Clinician
Part Time Medical Consultant, South Tees 

NHS Foundation Trust
South Tees NHS Foundation Trust 76 0 302 0

Scott Watson 

Head Of Contracting, 

Performance and Business 

Intelligence

Son of Councillor Paul Watson, Sunderland 

City Council
Sunderland City Council 19,112 800 1,506 477

David Chandler Head Of Finance

Married to Jane Fay, head of costing, income 

& contracts, South Tyneside NHS 

Foundation Trust

South Tyneside NHS Foundation 

Trust
30,821 0 300 0

During the year 2014-15 the clinical commissioning group has undertaken transactions with the following clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key 

management staff, or parties related to any of them:

During the year 2013-14 the clinical commissioning group has undertaken transactions with the following clinical commissioning group Governing Body members or members of the key 

management staff, or parties related to any of them:
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18. Related party transactions (continued)

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

241 0 19 0

45 0 2 0

63 0 1 0

220 0 9 0

84 0 2 0

177 0 20 0

134 0 1 0

66 0 1 0

125 0 1 0

166 0 2 0

53 0 1 0

56 0 1 0

75 0 1 0

23 0 0 0

112 0 0 0

79 0 0 0

176 0 1 0

65 0 0 0

134 0 2 0

104 0 0 0

87 0 0 0

55 0 1 0

90 0 2 0

82 0 1 0

125 0 19 0

31 0 0 0

80 0 2 0

89 0 1 0

24 0 0 0

57 0 3 0

71 0 2 0

59 0 2 0

43 0 1 0

61 0 0 0

14 0 3 0

18 0 0 0

29 0 2 0

55 0 1 0

70 0 2 0

21 0 1 0

94 0 6 0

3 0 1 0

21 0 1 0

45 0 1 0

78 0 1 0

38 0 2 0

25 0 1 0

16 0 0 0

32 0 2 0

34 0 1 0

28 0 2 0

28 0 2 0

423 0 0 0

117 0 117 0

0 0 27 0

* Member Practice of Sunderland GP Alliance

** Member Practice of Washington Community Health Care

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party
£000 £000 £000 £000

188,187 0 2,065 1,102

51,399 0 558 0

29,060 0 158 0

17,014 0 283 0

12,189 0 633 0

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party
£000 £000 £000 £000

29,330 953 2,097 232

Dr H Pepper & Partners (Hetton Group Practice)*

Dr Brigham & Partners (Vilette Surgery)*

Dr Shetty & Partners*

The clinical commissioning group is a membership organisation.  The GP Practices of Sunderland are all members of the clinical commissioning group. 

The table below lists the 2014-15 related party transactions with the Member Practices of Sunderland.

Possible Related Party

Deerness Park Medical Group*

Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre)*

Dr Vakharia & Hegde (The Galleries Health Centre)**

Dr Lefley & Associates*

Dr Reddy & Partners (Redhouse Medical Centre)*

Dr Lilley & Partners (Herrington Medical Centre)*

Dr Stephenson & Partners*

Dr Joshi (Village Surgery)*

Dr Dixit Practice (The Galleries Health Centre)**

New City Medical Group

Roker Family Practice

Dr Rutherford & Partners (Fulwell Medical Group)*

Dr Ford & Partners (St. Bede's Medical Practice)*

Dr Wright & Partners (Millfield Medical Group)*

Ashburn Medical Centre (Dr Parry & Partners)*

Dr Cloak & Partners*

Dr Spagnoli & Partners (Old Forge Surgery)*

Dr Mishreki & Partners (Kepier Medical Practice)*

Dr Mazarelo & Partners (Concord Medical Practice)**

Houghton Medical Group*

Broadway Medical Practice (Dr Mekkawy & Partners)*

Encompass Health Care**

Victoria Medical Practice (Dr Ray)

Springwell Medical Group (Dr Sharma & Partners)*

Grangewood Surgery (Dr Wallace & Partners)*

Springwell House (Dr Singh Sunderland)

Westbourne Medical Group*

Hylton Medical Group (Dr Ela & Al Khalidi)*

Colliery Medical Group (Dr K Stephenson)*

Park Lane Practice (Drs Mackrell & Joseph)*

Southlands Medical Group 
(Dr Pattison & Partner)*

Castletown Medical Group*

Barmston Medical Centre**

Monkwearmouth Medical Centre*

Dr Weaver (Happy House Surgery)

Church View Medical Centre*

Dr Obonna*

Dr Weatherhead & Associates*

Conishead Medical Group (Dr Hipwell)*

Eden Terrace Surgery*

Dr Nathan (Riverview)*

South Hylton Surgery (Dr Widdrington & Partner)*

Rickleton Medical Centre (Dr Aiyegbayo)*

Harraton Surgery

Wearside Practice (Dr Johannes Dalhuijsen)

Dr Thomas (Victoria Road Health Centre)*

Pennywell Medical Centre

Chester Surgery (Dr El Safy)*

Dr Bhatt & Dr Benn*

Encompass GP Practice Two**

Sunderland GP Alliance (Collaboration of Local Practices) 

Washington Community Health Care (Collaboration of Local Practices) 

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year 2014-15 the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of 

material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

Department of Health Entity

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 

South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 

North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust 

In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local 

government bodies in 2014-15. Most of these transactions have been with Sunderland City Council as outlined below.

Other Government Bodies

Sunderland City Council 
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18. Related party transactions (continued)

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

114 0 8 0

38 0 0 0

25 0 0 0

103 1 0 0

52 0 0 0

29 0 0 0

59 0 0 0

32 0 0 2

50 0 0 0

74 0 1 0

22 0 0 0

26 0 0 0

42 0 0 0

10 2 0 0

51 0 0 0

40 0 0 0

109 0 0 0

29 0 0 0

82 8 0 0

46 0 0 0

56 1 0 0

22 0 0 0

45 0 0 0

44 0 0 0

101 0 0 0

15 0 0 0

37 0 0 0

51 0 0 0

9 0 0 0

34 0 0 0

35 0 0 0

25 0 0 0

22 0 0 0

25 0 0 0

10 0 0 0

13 0 0 0

1 0 0 0

16 0 0 0

38 0 0 0

8 0 0 0

22 0 0 0

23 0 0 0

16 0 0 0

32 0 0 0

41 0 0 0

22 0 1 0

10 0 0 0

8 0 0 0

16 0 0 0

16 0 0 0

12 0 0 0

13 0 0 0

739 0 0 0

1 0 0 0

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party

£000 £000 £000 £000

179,141 0 2,737 1,082

51,726 0 149 0

30,821 0 300 0

14,602 0 1,148 0

11,767 0 580 0

Payments to 

Related 

Party

Receipts 

from 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

owed to 

Related 

Party

Amounts 

due from 

Related 

Party
£000 £000 £000 £000

19,112 800 1,506 477Sunderland City Council 

Encompass GP Practice Two

Maritime Surgery

Department of Health Entity

Harraton Surgery

Wearside Practice (Dr Johannes Dalhuijsen)

Dr Thomas (Victoria Road Health Centre)

Pennywell Medical Centre

Chester Surgery (Dr El Safy)

Dr Bhatt & Dr Benn

South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 

The table below lists the material transactions with local government bodies in 2013-14.

North East Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust 

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.

The table below lists the significant material transactions with entities in the Department of Health group in 2013-14.

Department of Health Entity

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 

Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 

Rickleton Medical Centre (Dr Aiyegbayo)

Castletown Medical Group

Barmston Medical Centre

Dr Crummie

Dr Weaver (Happy House Surgery)

Church View Medical Centre

Dr Obonna

Dr Weatherhead & Associates

Conishead Medical Group (Dr Hipwell)

Eden Terrace Surgery

Dr Nathan (Riverview)

South Hyton Surgery (Dr Widdrington & Partner)

Southlands Medical Group

Houghton Medical Group

Broadway Medical Practice

Encompass Health Care

Victoria Medical Practice (Dr Ray)

Springwell Medical Group (Dr Sharma & Partners )

Grangewood Surgery (Dr Wallace & Partners)

Springwell House (Dr Singh Sunderland)

Westbourne Medical Group

Hytlon Medical Group (Dr Ela & Al Khalidi)

Colliery Medical Group (Dr K Stephenson)

Park Lane Practice (Drs Mackrell & Joseph)

Dr Mazarelo & Partners (Concord Medical Practice)

Dr Joshi (Village Surgery)

Dr Dixit's Practice

New City Medical Group

Roker Family Practice

Dr Rutherford & Partners (Fulwell Medical Group)

Dr R N Ford (St. Bede's Medical Practice)

Dr Wright & Partners (Millfield Medical Group)

Ashburn Medical Centre

Dr Cloak & Partners

Dr Spagnoli & Partners (Old Forge Surgery)

Dr Mishreki & Partners (Kepier Medical Practice)

Dr Stephenson & Partners

The table below lists the related party transactions with the Member Practices of Sunderland in 2013-14.

 Related Party

Deerness Park Medical Group

Drs Bhate & El-Shakankery (Riverview Health Centre)

Dr Vakharia & Hegde

Dr H Pepper & Partners

Dr Brigham & Partners

Dr Shetty & Partners

Dr Lefley & Associates

Dr Reddy & Partners

Dr Lilley & Partners
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19. Events after the end of the reporting period

20. Losses and special payments

The clinical commissioning group had no losses or special payments cases during 2014-15 (2013-14: £0).

21. Financial performance targets

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

NHS Act Section Duty Duty Duty 

Target Performance Achieved? Target Performance Achieved? 

£000 £000 £000 £000

223H (1) Expenditure not to exceed income 453,396 434,276 Yes 431,744 414,469 Yes

223I (2)

Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 

Directions 0 0 Yes 0 0 Yes

223I (3)

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified 

in Directions 453,396 434,276 Yes 431,744 414,469 Yes

223J (1)

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed 

the amount specified in Directions 0 0 Yes 0 0 Yes

223J (2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 Yes 0 0 Yes

223J (3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the 

amount specified in Directions 7,746 6,279 Yes 6,770 6,100 Yes

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:

2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2013-14 2013-14 2013-14

Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource Total

Programme 

Resource

Administration 

Resource Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Revenue resource 445,650 7,746 453,396         424,974           6,770               431,744              

Net operating cost for the financial year 427,998 6,279 434,277         408,369           6,100               414,469              

Underspend against revenue resource 17,652             1,467               19,119           16,605             670                  17,275                

2013-14 

Restated2014-15

The CCG received no capital resource during the year ended 31 March 2015 and incurred no capital expenditure (year ended 31 March 2014: £0)

The 2013-14 performance for 223J (2) has been restated. A performance target and actual performance were incorrectly reported for this period. 

There are no post balance sheet events which would have a material effect on the financial statements of the clinical commissioning group (2013-14: none)
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Item: 10.3 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance  √ 

 
GOVERNING BODY 

26 MAY 2015 

Report Title 

 
Annual Internal Audit Report 2014/15 

Purpose of report 
To inform the Committee of the Head of Internal 
Audit Opinion on the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control for the year ending 31 March 
2015, and summarise the internal audit work 
undertaken. 

Key points, risks and assurances 

 
The overall opinion for the year ending 31 
March 2015 is that:  

On the basis of work carried out in accordance 
with the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2014/15, 
significant assurance can be given that there is a 
generally sound system of internal control, 
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, 
and that controls are generally being applied 
consistently. However, some weaknesses in the 
design and/or inconsistent application of controls, 
puts the achievement of particular objectives at 
risk. 

Recommendation/Action Required 
The Committee is asked to note the report and 
seek clarification as necessary. 

Sponsor/approving director   David Chandler, Acting Chief Finance Officer 

Report author 
Amanda Bellis, Interim Head of Internal Audit 

Governance and assurance  

 

Link to CCG corporate objectives* 

(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO
3 

CO4 CO
5 

CO
6 

CO7 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Any relevant legal/statutory issues None known 

Are the identified risks on the risk 
register? (If so, include reference 
number) 

Not applicable 
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If issue/report has been previously 
reviewed please specify meeting 
and date 

Not applicable 

Equality analysis completed 

(please tick)  
Yes  No 

 
 
 
 

Not 
relevant 

 
√ 

Key implications  Yes No Details 

Are additional resources required?  
If so please specify 

 √  
 

Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  

 
√ 

 

Any current or expected impact on 
patient outcomes/experience? 

 
√ 

  

Has there been member practice 
and/or other stakeholder 
engagement if needed?   

 

√ 
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Introduction 
 
In accordance with the Public Internal Audit Standards, this report provides the 
Accounting Officer and the Audit Committee with a formal annual report, based on 
the work performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
framework of governance, risk management and control processes. The report is 
structured as follows: 
 

 Section 2 sets out the Head of Internal Audit Opinion for the year ending 31 
March 2015.   

 Section 3 provides a summary of the audit service provided. 

 Section 4 provides a summary of our performance during the year. 

 Section 5 provides an overall conclusion. 
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1. Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Roles and responsibilities 
 
The Governing Body is collectively accountable for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control and is responsible for putting in place arrangements for gaining 
assurance about the effectiveness of that overall system.   
 
The Annual Governance Statement is a statement by the Accounting Officer, on 
behalf of the Governing Body, setting out: 
 

 how the individual responsibilities of the Accounting Officer are discharged with 
regard to maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of policies, aims and objectives; 

 the purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the 
risk management and review processes, including the Assurance Framework 
process; and 

 the conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control including any disclosures of significant control failures together with 
assurances that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues 
arising. 

 
The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence 
required to support the Annual Governance Statement requirements. 
 
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit 
is required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work 
performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk 
management, control and governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of 
internal control). This is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with 
management and approved by the Audit Committee, which should provide a 
reasonable level of assurance, subject to the inherent limitations described below. 

The opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and assurances 
relating to the organisation. The opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of 
risk-based plans generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance 
Framework. As such, it is one component that the Board takes into account in 
making its Annual Governance Statement. 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Purpose of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
The purpose of my Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances 
available to the Accounting Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the 
Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system 
of internal control. This opinion will in turn assist the Governing Body in the 
completion of its Annual Governance Statement. 
 
My opinion is set out as follows: 
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 overall opinion; 

 basis for the opinion; and 

 commentary. 
 
Overall opinion 
 
My overall opinion is that: 
 
On the basis of work carried out in accordance with the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
2014/15, significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system 
of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls 
are generally being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design 
and/or inconsistent application of controls, puts the achievement of particular 
objectives at risk. 
 
Basis for the Opinion 
 
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

 an assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes; 

 an assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based 
audit assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have 
been reported throughout the period. This assessment has taken account of 
the relative materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect 
of addressing control weaknesses; and 

 any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances. 
 
Commentary 
 
The commentary below provides the context for my opinion and together with the 
opinion should be read in its entirety. 
 
The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and associated processes 
 
The Governing Body Assurance Framework 2014/15 is based on the CCG’s 
strategic objectives and an analysis of the principle risks to achieving those 
objectives.  The key controls that have been put in place to manage the risks have 
been documented, and the sources of assurance for individual controls have been 
identified.  It has been assessed by internal audit that the assurance framework is 
effective in bringing together all of the activities and objectives of the CCG.  It 
provides the CCG with a comprehensive mechanism for the management of the 
principal risks to meeting its strategic objectives and supports the compilation of the 
Annual Governance Statement.  Although there are a number of gaps in control, 
plans were put in place to mitigate or eradicate the gaps and these are being 
followed. 

The CCG has developed risk management processes that are operating within the 
organisation.  A risk management framework, supported by appropriate procedures, 
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is in place. The Quality Safety and Risk Committee oversee the risk management 
agenda and report to the Governing Body. Together with the Audit Committee, they 
provide assurance to the Governing Body on the systems and processes by which 
the organisation leads, directs and controls its functions in order to achieve its 
strategic objectives. 
 
Individual audit opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments 
 
My opinion is derived from the completion of a range of risk-based Internal Audit 
assignments, which have been undertaken in accordance with the Annual Internal 
Audit Plan 2014/15. A table outlining these individual opinions is attached at 
Appendix 1. Definitions of assurance levels, findings and recommendations are set 
out at Appendix 2. 
 
The outcome of Internal Audit work is reported regularly to the Audit Committee.  In 
addition, we have issued a copy of all individual assignment reports to the Chief 
Finance Officer, and other appropriate directors and managers, throughout the year. 
 
We have issued 20 reports since completion of the Annual Internal Audit Report for 
2013/14 in May 2014.  Of those reports issued, we issued an assurance rating of 
‘significant’ for 19 audits. No reports have been issued with assurance rating of 
‘limited assurance’, and our business continuity planning audit was a follow up to the 
limited assurance audit report issued in 2013/14; no assurance level has been 
assigned to this report. 
 
A total of 39 issues were raised; the issues were ranked to reflect priority ratings and 
appropriate management responses were agreed. Thirteen medium priority issues 
and 26 low priority issues have been raised. We have not raised any high priority 
issues during 2014/15. 
 
Conclusion 
 
Taking into account all of my findings, and the CCG’s actions in response to issues 
raised, I consider that there are no areas of significant weakness remaining that are 
relevant to the preparation of the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Acknowledgement  
 
The assistance provided by Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group staff during 
the course of our work is greatly appreciated. 
 
Amanda Bellis 
Interim Head of Internal Audit 
May 2015 
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3.    Internal Audit Service  
 
The Internal Audit service at Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group is provided 
by Sunderland Internal Audit Services (SIAS). SIAS was originally set up to provide 
an internal audit function for hospitals in the Sunderland area. Since then we have 
expanded to service a range of clients on a not-for-profit basis across the health 
sector. Our clients include four Foundation Trusts, seven Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, and two NHS business partners in the third sector. 
 
Our mission is to provide “Excellence in audit and service by putting the client first”. 
 
We provide an effective internal audit service to our clients, ensuring that our internal 
audit plans focus on the key risks facing the organisation, and are flexible in 
addressing risks as they emerge in year. We also offer consulting activities on 
request and all work is carried out in accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. 
 
We have a highly skilled team, with significant experience in the public and private 
sectors, including: 
 

 NHS internal audit; 

 NHS external audit; 

 local government internal audit; 

 local government external audit; 

 education internal audit; 

 education external audit; and 

 private sector internal and external audit. 
 
The team includes qualified accountants, qualified internal auditors, a NEBOSH 
qualified health and safety specialist, accredited counter fraud specialists and a 
ISACA certified information systems auditor. 
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4. Internal Audit Performance 
 
A number of performance indicators are reported to the Audit Committee as a means 
of helping to assess the performance of Internal Audit. The indicators are derived 
through the analysis of a range of internally generated performance indicators and 
from the independent assessment of the service by external bodies.  
 
Achievement of the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
 
The original Annual Audit Plan 2014/15 included an audit of sustainable 
development which has subsequently been deferred to 2015/16, as requested by the 
Deputy Head of Finance. The audit was deferred as work is currently ongoing in the 
area of corporate social responsibility and this was to be tested as part of the audit. 
Management therefore requested that the audit be completed in 2015/16 when it will 
add more value. 
 
For all of the audit work in the revised Annual Internal Audit Plan, we issued audit 
reports by 18 May 2015. 
 
Issues raised 
 
Management have agreed to take appropriate action in relation to issues raised by 
Internal Audit. 
 
Internal Audit satisfaction questionnaire results 
 
Satisfaction surveys are issued after the completion of audit reviews and the results 
are monitored. A total of 15 client satisfaction surveys have been returned during 
2014/15. The results are positive and the average figure across all survey criteria is 
4.6 (good). 
 
 
 
  

 
 
Key: 
1 - Poor                             2 – Fair                               3 – Average                                  
4 – Good                                        5- Excellen 

 1.00  1.50  2.00  2.50  3.00  3.50  4.00  4.50  5.00

Professionalism

Quality of planning

Validity of findings

Practicality of…

Responsiveness to…

Overall satisfaction

Figure 1 Survey Analysis 2014/2015 
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Service development  
 
We have continued to develop the provision of an effective Internal Audit service to 
our clients by ensuring that Internal Audit plans focus on the key risks facing NHS 
organisations in a fast moving environment, and being flexible in addressing risks as 
they emerge in year. 
 
We continue to be a member of NHS Audit England, a national group representing 
NHS based Internal Audit and Counter Fraud service providers. The purpose of the 
group is to facilitate collaboration between members for the benefit of NHS audit 
clients, for example by benchmarking and sharing of best practice. 
 
Quality control 
 
External quality accreditation for providers of Internal Audit services is recommended 
in the Public Internal Audit Standards, in order that clients can gain assurance of the 
quality of service provided. We are accredited to the internationally recognized 
quality standard ISO 9001:2008 and we are regularly monitored by SGS - the world's 
leading inspection, verification, testing and certification company. 
 
The last ISO 9001:2008 quality standard external inspection was carried out in 
March 2015. We received a favourable review and no significant weaknesses 
requiring action were identified. 
 
Organisational independence and individual objectivity 
 
In order to ensure compliance with the Public Internal Audit Standards, the Head of 
Internal Audit is required to confirm to the Board, at least annually, the organisational 
independence of the internal audit activity. We can confirm that organisational 
independence is in place, i.e. the Head of Audit has free and unfettered access to 
the Accounting Officer, and internal audit is free from interference in relation to 
determining and performing its work, and communicating the results of that work.  
 
With respect to individual objectivity, the Public Internal Audit Standards state that 
steps must be taken to avoid or manage transparently and openly conflicts of interest 
so that there is no real or perceived threat or impairment to independence in 
performing the audit role. All internal auditors working within the NHS must complete 
an annual declaration of interest identifying possible conflicts of interest and the 
actions taken to mitigate them. Annual declarations have been completed by all 
SIAS staff for 2014/15 and no conflicts of interest were identified.  
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5.     Conclusion 
 
There has been a very positive working relationship between internal audit and CCG 
staff, which has enabled us to deliver our programme of work successfully.  
 
Significant assurance has been given for 2014/15 in the Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion for the financial year ending 31 March 2015. 
 
We have issued 20 reports; it is considered that there are no issues arising in these 
reports that need to be reflected in the Trust’s Annual Governance Statement for the 
financial year ending 31 March 2015. 
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Appendix 1 
Individual assurance opinions 

 

Audit Assurance opinion 

Financial Planning and QIPP Significant assurance 

Corporate Decision Making Significant assurance 

Developing and Implementing the Strategic 

Vision 

Significant assurance 

Assurance Framework and Risk Management Significant assurance 

Standards of Business Conduct / Conflicts of 

Interest 

Significant assurance 

Safeguarding Arrangements Significant assurance 

Patient and Public Involvement Significant assurance 

Healthcare Contract Monitoring Significant assurance 

Data Quality Significant assurance 

Freedom of Information Significant assurance 

Communication and Engagement Significant assurance  

Performance Framework and the Quality 

Premium 

Significant assurance  

Preparation for the Implementation of the 

Better Care Fund 

Significant assurance  

Financial Systems Significant assurance  

Quality Action Plan Significant assurance 

Serious Incident Management Significant assurance 

Continuing Health Care Significant assurance  

Monitoring the SLA with NECS Significant assurance 

Information Governance/Data 

Protection/Record Management 

Significant assurance  

Business Continuity Planning Not applicable – follow-up audit 

only 
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Appendix 2 
 

Individual Audit Opinions 

Significant: Significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound 

system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that 

controls are generally being applied consistently.  

 

Limited: Limited assurance can be given as weaknesses in the design, and/or 

inconsistent application of controls, put the achievement of the organisation’s 

objectives at risk in a number of the areas reviewed. 

 

Findings and Recommendations 

High Priority: Findings referring to important issues that are fundamental and 

material to the Trust’s system of internal control.  Action needs to be taken as a 

matter of urgency. 

Medium Priority: Issues arising referring mainly to matters that have an important 

effect on the Trust’s system of internal control but do not require immediate action.  

A system objective may still be met in full or in part or a risk adequately mitigated but 

the weakness represents a significant deficiency in the system. 

Low Priority: Issues arising that would, if corrected, improve the Trust’s system of 
internal control in general but are not vital to the overall system of internal control. 
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              Mazars LLP 

The Rivergreen Centre 

Aykley Heads 

Durham 

DH1 5TS 

 

 

The Governing Body 

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group 

Pemberton House 

Colima Avenue 

Sunderland 

SR5 3XB 

 

20 May 2015 

Dear Sirs / Madams 

Audit Completion Report – year ended 31 March 2015 

We are delighted to present our Audit Completion Report for the year ended 31 March 2015. The purpose of this 

document is to summarise our audit conclusions.  

The scope of our work, including identified significant audit risks and areas of management judgement was outlined in 

our Audit Strategy Memorandum which we presented on 3 February 2015. We have reviewed our Audit Strategy 

Memorandum and concluded the original significant audit risks and areas of management judgement remain 

appropriate.  

We would like to express our thanks for the assistance of your team during our audit. 

If you would like to discuss any matters in more detail then please do not hesitate to contact me on 0191 383 6314. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

Cameron Waddell 

Director, for and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
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01 Executive summary 
Purpose of this document 

This document has been prepared to communicate the findings of our audit for the year ended 31 March 2015 to the 
Members of NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) and forms the basis for discussion at the 
Governing Body meeting on 26 May 2015.  

Our communication with you is important to: 

 share information to assist both of us to fulfil our respective responsibilities; 

 provide you with constructive observations arising from the audit process; 

 ensure as part of the two-way communication process we, as external auditors, gain an understanding of your 

attitude and views in respect of the internal and external operational, financial, compliance and other risks facing 

the CCG; and 

 receive feedback from yourselves as to the performance of the engagement team. 

Section 3 sets out internal control recommendations and section 4 sets out audit misstatements.   

Principal conclusions and significant findings 

As outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, our audit has been conducted in accordance with International 
Standards of Auditing (UK and Ireland) and means we focus on audit risks that we have assessed as resulting in a 
higher risk of material misstatement.  

In section 2 of this report we have set out our conclusions and significant findings from our audit. This section includes 
our conclusions on the audit risks and areas of management judgement in our Audit Strategy Memorandum which 
were: 

 management override of controls; and 

 revenue recognition. 

Status and audit opinion 

We have substantially completed our audit in respect of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015. 
We are in the process of finalising our work on the financial statements in a small number of areas: 

 service auditor reports (North East Commissioning Support Unit and Prescription Pricing Authority); 

 post balance sheet events; and 

 review and closure processes, including checking the final amended version of the financial statements and annual 

report.  

At the time of issuing this report and subject to the satisfactory conclusion of the remaining audit work, we anticipate 
issuing an unqualified opinion, without modification, and have not identified any matters from our value for money 
work that we need to report, as set out in Appendix B. 

Following completion of the specified tests for non-significant components on your consolidation return to the 
Department of Health, we have not identified any issues arising which would require us to report to the National Audit 
Office.  
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02 Significant findings 
 

Set out below are the significant findings from our audit. These findings include: 

 our audit conclusions regarding the significant risks and key areas of management judgement outlined in the Audit 

Strategy Memorandum; 

 our comments in respect of the accounting policies and disclosures that you have adopted in the financial 

statements. We have concluded overleaf whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

the financial reporting framework and commented on any significant accounting policy changes that have been 

made during the year; and 

 any significant difficulties we experienced during the audit. 

 

Significant risks and key areas of management judgement  

Management override of controls  

Description of the risk 

International auditing standards (ISA (UK&I)) presume that management override of controls is a fraud risk and 
therefore should always be recorded as a significant risk. This does not imply that we suspect actual or intended 
manipulation but that we approach the audit with due professional scepticism. 

How we addressed this risk 

Auditing standards mandate an element of substantive testing for every audit regardless of the operating 
effectiveness of the system of internal control.  The standards require us to: 

 test the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in 
preparing the financial statements;  

 review the key areas within the financial statements where management has used judgement and applied 
estimation techniques and consider whether there is evidence of unfair bias; and  

 review significant transactions outside the normal course of business or that otherwise appear to be highly 

unusual. 

Audit conclusion 

We found:  

 no evidence of unfair bias where management has used judgement and estimation techniques:  

 no unusual or unexpected journal and other adjustments;  

 no transactions outside the normal course of business; and  

 no income or expenditure included in the wrong year. 

Our work has provided the assurance we sought and has not highlighted any material issues to bring to your 
attention. 
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Revenue recognition  

Description of the risk 

There is a risk of fraud in financial reporting relating to revenue recognition due to the potential to inappropriately 
record income in the wrong period. This is not to imply we suspect actual fraud, but that we approach our audit 
maintaining due professional scepticism. 

How we addressed this risk 

We addressed this risk by:  

 undertaking cut-off testing of receipts around the year-end; 

 agreeing net parliamentary funding received in-year to supporting documentation; 

 sample testing of material year-end receivables, seeking direct confirmation from third parties or their external 
auditors for any material receivables;  

 reviewing inter-NHS reconciliations and data matches provided by the NHSE (income and receivables). 

This work also informed our conclusion on the regularity element of our audit opinion. 

Audit conclusion 

Our sample testing did not identify any:  

 income or receipts recorded in the wrong year;  

 errors in income transactions;  

 significant errors in year-end receivables and accruals; and  

 issues to report in respect of NHS reconciliations and data matches. 

Our work has provided the assurance we sought and has not highlighted any material issues to bring to your 
attention. 

Accounting policies and disclosures 

We have reviewed the CCG’s accounting policies and disclosures and concluded they comply with the Manual for 
Accounts issued by the Department of Health (as required by NHS England).  

Accounting policies are in line with those set out in the Manual for Accounts, appropriately tailored to the CCG’s 
circumstances. In line with expectations, there are no significant changes to the accounting policies for 2014/15; there 
is one new accounting policy relating to continuing healthcare risk pooling which the CCG is tailoring to also reflect the 
local risk pooling arrangement.  

The CCG is also taking the opportunity to delete a number of irrelevant or immaterial accounting policies from the 
revised financial statements; we are satisfied the deleted policies are either irrelevant or immaterial, relating to areas 
such as charitable trusts, research and development and private finance initiative.  

Comparatives have been added to a number of disclosure notes (in particular, Note 4 Employee Benefits and Note 18 
Related Party Transactions), including splitting comparatives, where appropriate, into programme and administration 
categories.  

Significant matters discussed with management 

Our audit has proceeded smoothly, and despite the tight timescales for the CCG to prepare its financial statements 
and for us to audit them, we have not experienced any significant difficulties. Officers have been responsive during the 
course of our work which is greatly appreciated.  

We have not had any discussions with management which were not routine and in the process of us gathering our 
audit evidence. 

Significant difficulties during the audit 

During the course of the audit we did not encounter any significant difficulties. In addition, we would highlight the good 
quality of working papers provided and the full co-operation of management.  
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03 Internal control recommendations 
 

The purpose of our audit was to express an opinion on the financial statements. As part of our audit we have 
considered the internal controls in place relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures to allow us to express an opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control or to identify any significant deficiencies in their design or operation. 

The matters reported are limited to those deficiencies and other control recommendations that we have identified 
during our normal audit procedures and that we consider to be of sufficient importance to merit being reported. If we 
had performed more extensive procedures on internal control we might have identified more deficiencies to be 
reported or concluded that some of the reported deficiencies need not in fact have been reported. Our comments 
should not be regarded as a comprehensive record of all deficiencies that may exist or improvements that could be 
made. 

There are no significant deficiencies in internal control we wish to report. 

 

Follow up of previous internal control points 

We set out below an update on internal control points raised in the prior year. 

 

Previous internal control point – North East Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) control weaknesses  

Description of deficiency 

In 2013/14, the CCG disclosed in its Annual Governance Statement (AGS) the issues arising from the part-year 
assurance from the Service Auditor Report it received from its Commissioning Support Unit, North of England 
Support (NECS). This was highlighted as the CCG is reliant in part on NECS for all of its financial systems and for 
some elements of the production of its annual statements. 

We concluded the CCG did not have adequate assurance that some of the controls in place at NECS were operating 
effectively during the financial year as the Report on Internal Controls (type II) did not cover the period 1 April 2013 to 
30 September 2013, and was qualified for the period 1 October 2013 to 31 March 2014 in respect of a number of 
control failures.  

Mitigation of internal control weaknesses 

The CCG had mitigating controls in place which reduced the impact of these internal control failings which it has 

detailed in its Annual Governance Statement. For example, the greater capacity at this CCG than in others which 

included greater checking of data e.g. the prescribing data, payables largely processed by the CCG itself rather than 

NECS. In terms of addressing the weaknesses highlighted in the NECS service auditor report, the CCG strengthened 

its own checking of data received from NECS throughout the year as the internal control environment developed. 

Follow-up for 2014/15 

The service auditor report for NECS for the first half of 2014/15 identified a number of control failures.  As highlighted 
by the CCG in its Annual Governance Statement, these control failures were addressed via compensating controls 
within the CCG.  The CCG is also actively liaising with NECS to address issues arising.  
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Previous internal control point – correcting journals  

Description of deficiency 

Some coding correction journals are necessary at the year end to reallocate year end accruals to the correct codes 
and to reallocate recharged expenditure from income codes to expenditure codes. However, a number of the 
remaining journals reviewed at the year-end were to correct coding errors during the year or at the year end. Whilst 
some correcting journals are to be expected, this is an area where efficiencies could be made. 

Potential effects 

Scope for efficiencies if less correcting journals are processed. 

Recommendation 

More vigilance to be exercised in approving purchase orders, manual payments and journals. Investigate whether 
system can be amended to allow posting of recharges to expenditure codes at source. In the interim, amend coding 
at the time the sales invoice is raised, rather than at the year end. 

Management response 

Most of the correcting journals have been required because of late notification of national coding change. We will 
look however at other coding with a view to minimising correcting journals. 

Follow-up during 2014/15 

There have been less correcting journals during 2014/15.  We are aware however there is likely to be an increase in 
correcting journals for 2015/16 based on early discussions with the CCG – for example as a result of journals that 
may be required as a result of primary care co-commissioning.  
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04 Summary of misstatements 
 

We set out below the misstatements identified during the course of the audit, above the level of triviality, for 
adjustment.  

There is one adjustment to the primary statements (no overall impact on the balances carried forward). There are no 
unadjusted material errors brought forward from the previous year.  

 

Primary statements: amendment to Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the year 
ended 31st March 2015 

The formula for the line ‘Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year’ 
incorrectly includes ‘Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014’ i.e. the opening balance of 
£19.911 million.  The CCG has amended the formula and there is no impact on the balance carried forward.   A similar 
amendment has been made to the formula in respect of the previous year’s statement (£0.255 million).  

 

Disclosure amendments 

A small number of disclosure issues were identified during our audit, which management have agreed to amend, as 
set out in the table below.  

Disclosure note / area Amendment 

Note 4.3 Employee Benefits 
– sickness absence 

Inclusion of figures not available at the time the draft financial statements were 
produced; noting the new narrative also clarifying the basis of calculation.  

Note 4.5 Pension costs Amendment to narrative in respect of pensions costs, derived from NHS guidance 
issued during the audit.  

Note 22 Financial 
performance targets 

Deletion of figures included on line NHS Act s223J (2) ‘revenue resource use on 
specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions – as this line 
should be nil.  

Remuneration Report 

There have been a small number of amendments to: 

 change the comparatives back to the audited figures and include narrative 
explaining basis of calculation for two people (salaries and allowances table);  

 include narrative in respect of taxable benefits (salaries and allowances table);  

 amend the calculation of the highest paid person (now excluding Directors as 
required) for both the current year and comparative; and 

 include narrative to clarify basis of calculation of the median in 2014/15 compared 
to the previous year.  

Annual Governance 
Statement 

Update as expected to include details of the second six-month service auditor report 
in respect of NECS.  

Update also in respect of the Head of Internal Audit’s opinion (changing from draft to 
final status as appropriate).  

 

Our audit also identified a small number of more minor presentational and consistency issues, as well as deletion of 
irrelevant and immaterial accounting policies and addition of comparatives to several notes, as detailed on page 4. 



 

8 

 

05 Value for money 
 

We expect to conclude the CCG has arrangements in place to secure Value for Money (VfM) in its use of resources, 

based on the two specified reporting criteria: 

 proper arrangements in place for securing financial resilience; and 

 proper arrangements for challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

We did not identify any significant risks relevant to the value for money conclusion in our Audit Strategy Memorandum. 

Scope of work 

For 2014/15, we were required to give a statutory conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements to secure VfM in its use of 

resources, based on the following two specified reporting criteria.  

Specified criteria Focus of the criteria 

The CCG has proper 
arrangements in place for 
securing financial resilience. 

The CCG has robust systems and processes to manage financial risks and 
opportunities effectively, and to secure a stable financial position that enables it to 
continue to operate for the foreseeable future. 

The CCG has proper 
arrangements for challenging 
how it secures economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 

The CCG is prioritising its resources within tighter budgets, for example by achieving 
cost reductions and by improving efficiency and productivity. 

As part of our work, we also: 

 reviewed your annual governance statement; 

 reviewed the work of other relevant regulatory bodies or inspectorates, such as the Care Quality Commission, to 

the extent the results of the work have an impact on our responsibilities; and 

 carried out any risk-based work we determined to be appropriate. 

Arrangements for securing financial resilience  

Like other public sector bodies, the CCG faces a number of challenges in this area, including the need to: 

 improve service quality and respond to rising demand within reduced budgets; 

 deliver required efficiency savings; 

 work with the public and private providers to obtain high quality services; and 

 manage the impact of increases on demand linked to demographic changes. 

In light of these challenges we reviewed the CCG’s arrangements for managing financial risks and securing a stable 

financial position. Our findings against each of the three aspects of this criterion are set out below 

Financial governance 

Financial position 

The CCG has successfully met all its business rules in 2014/15 and has a balanced budget forecast to achieve the 

same for the period of its five year strategic plan.   

The CCG is in a comparatively strong financial position, with a carried forward surplus of 19.119 million. It is not 

however complacent and is focused on managing its budget within lower levels of growth in the future given its 

‘distance from target’ in terms of funding.  In 2014/15, it has achieved efficiencies of just under £3 million. 
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As highlighted by the CCG itself, the level of its surplus is both an achievement and a risk requiring on-going 

monitoring (with a cumulative surplus of £15.9 million forecast for 2015/16). Drawdown of £2.7 million in respect of 

three business cases has been approved for 2015/16, including Accident and Emergency Transformation Support.    

Leadership 

The Governing Body has demonstrated a good understanding of the challenges facing the CCG and the wider (health) 
economy.  The CCG is clear on managing its budget within lower levels of growth given its ‘distance from target’ in 
terms of future funding, whilst at the same time improving services for patients and, crucially, transforming patient 
pathways.  

A strong finance team is in place with good capacity, following recruitment during the year.  The Director of Finance 
retired as at 31 March 2015, with the Head of Finance taking over in an acting role.  We understand a formal 
recruitment process for the substantive role is to take place later in the year.  Continued strong financial leadership will 
be crucial in allowing the CCG to realise the ambitions of its transformation agenda.  

Partnership working 

Partnership working is inevitably an area of focus for the CCG, given the national focus on health and social care 
integration.  For example, robust governance arrangements have been put in place for 2015/16 - the first year of the 
operation of the Better Care Fund.  With a pooled value of approximately £150 million, this is one of the largest pooled 
funds in the country and the plan has been recognised as one of eleven national exemplars.   

Achievements and challenges during 2014/15 

There is a wide range of activities and initiatives the CCG has progressed during 2014/15, such as achieving 
vanguard status (new care models programme) and level 3 primary care co-commissioning. Some represent both 
achievements and challenges e.g. the operation of primary care co-commissioning and making a success of health 
and social care integration. 

The CCG has made progress against the key transformational changes it identified in 2014 as laying the foundations 
for delivery of its five year vision.  2015/16 is the year, as highlighted by the CCG itself, when many planned initiatives 
should start to bear fruit.   

There are a number of challenges facing the CCG in the coming years over which continued strong financial 
governance is essential, in particular the scale of savings required across the Sunderland health economy (estimated 
at approximately £250 million) and continuing the transformation agenda.  

Financial planning 

Strategic and operational plans 

The CCG has refreshed its five year strategic plan as well as its latest operational plan taking into account the ‘5 year 
forward view’ and ‘Everyone Counts’.  Its plans include the useful summary ‘plan on a page’.  The CCG’s own 
assessment of whether its plan is realistic refers to its ability to use reserves and non-recurring monies to smooth the 
transition from the current to the future state –to enable transformation.   

The strategic plan is based upon realistic assumptions, in line with planning guidance. In particular, a prudent 
approach has been taken to growth assumptions as detailed below.   

Assumptions 

As set out in the strategic plan, 2015/16 growth allocations by CCG were announced in December 2014 by NHS 
England with indicative growth figures for the following three years included within the ‘Everyone Counts’ Guidance.  
This guidance stated Commissioners as a whole should assume growth increases of 1.8% to 1.7% over the next three 
years.  For Sunderland CCG, given its ‘distance from target’ of 12%, it has deemed it prudent to assume growth of just 
0.5% for the remaining years of the plan. This strategy is further supported by the announcement of NHS England's 
intention to move CCGs to within 5% of their target allocations over the next 5 years. 

Quality, innovation, productivity and prevention plan (QIPP) 

For 2015/16, its QIPP plan of £3.5 million includes planned efficiencies, the majority of which are based on 
benchmarking and VfM assessments the CCG has carried out.  These include crucial out of hospital care 
transformation projects.  Achievement of the QIPP programme is overseen by the QIPP steering group, which reports 
into the Audit Committee.  During 2014/15, there was overachievement of some QIPP projects and underachievement 
in others – notably the pressure area of prescribing.  The CCG is well aware of this and is taking action to address it, 
both in the short and medium-term.  

The CCG recognises how it positions itself financially in the later years of the plan will be instrumental in delivering 

future success. 
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Financial control 

The CCG actively and effectively manages performance during the year, demonstrated by its outturn for the year, with 

no significant variances between the outturn and the forecast position.  Pressure areas, e.g. packages and 

prescribing, are identified and actively monitored. The CCG has highlighted a number of other key financial risks 

requiring on-going monitoring, including the Better Care Fund, primary care co-commissioning, efficiencies, spending 

1% of the budget non-recurrently, the transformation agenda and financially distressed trusts.  

Finance reports are regular and in a user-friendly format.  Reporting includes monthly reports to the Executive 

Committee, regular verbal updates to the Audit Committee with an overarching review of financial performance by the 

Governing Body. 

The CCG is not reliant on one-off measures to achieve its targets or achieve a balanced financial position.  It is keenly 

aware of the need to use its surplus wisely, investing in initiatives which will contribute to its transformation agenda. 

Arrangements for challenging economy, efficiency and effectiveness  

Like other public sector bodies, the CCG faces a number of challenges in this area, including the need to: 

 deliver significant efficiency savings, which may mean that services are no longer affordable or have to delivered 

differently; and 

 make difficult decisions on priorities and find more efficient or innovative ways to meet its responsibilities. 

In light of these challenges we reviewed the CCG’s arrangements for prioritising resources within tighter budgets, 

achieving sustainable cost reductions and improving efficiency and productivity. Our findings against both aspects of 

this criterion are set out below.  

Prioritising resources 

As detailed earlier, the transformation agenda is key to the CCG’s ambitions for ensuring better patient outcomes for 

residents.  

The CCG produced a new report in the year; reporting on how it is achieving VfM in terms of the outcomes being 

achieved.  This is good practice.  The report, which the CCG anticipates will be developed over the years to come, in 

terms of its measures and what is reported, has led to the identification of a number of actions, investigating both 

variances and also actions required.   This report is potentially an invaluable tool to the CCG in considering whether 

inputs are truly achieving VfM in terms of outputs; building on this baseline is the next step.  

The CCG works closely with its partners and has an overarching awareness of the level of savings required across the 

entire Sunderland health economy.  For example, the CCG is well represented at both safeguarding boards and 

provides support to the sub-committees of both boards.   

Improving efficiency and productivity 

The CCG has a good understanding of costs and performance.  Its comparative performance is set in the context of 

the historic health inequalities and levels of deprivation in the area; addressing these inequalities is undoubtedly a 

challenge for the CCG.   

The CCG has monitored closely the results of the service auditor report in respect of its Commissioning Support Unit 

(CSU), North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS).  It has documented its consideration of identified 

control failures and compensating controls in place within the CCG in its Annual Governance Statement.   

The CCG has taken action recently to strengthen arrangements around both the monitoring and recording of conflicts 

of interest. 

As highlighted earlier, there is robust monitoring of the achievement of the QIPP programme by the QIPP steering 

group.  Robust challenge of the efficiency programme should be maintained.  
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Overall assessment 

Having gathered evidence of the CCG’s arrangements for each criterion we conducted a ‘reality check’, building upon 

our existing knowledge of the CCG and in particular: 

 reports by statutory inspectorates or other regulators; 

 achievement of performance and other targets; and 

 performance against budgets and other financial targets. 

Evidence Auditor assessment 

Reports by 
statutory 
inspectorates or 
other regulators 

As part of our reality check, we have in particular challenged senior management in respect of the 
likely assurance framework rating of ‘assured – with support’ for quarter 3 of 2014/15 (quarter 4 
not yet known), as well as the possible rating of ‘limited assurance – improvement required’ for 
quarter 1 of 2015/16.  N.b. quarter 1 and 2 of 2014/15 were assessed as ‘assured’. 

The changed assurance ratings for 2014/15 and 2015/16 relate to two main areas, Referral to 
Treatment (RTT) and Accident and Emergency (A & E) four hour waits.  

For both of these areas, the CCG acknowledges there is scope for improvement.  Contextually, 
the targets were narrowly missed and there is also the impact of the stricter application of the 
assurance framework in 2014/15 (potentially as a result of the A & E waits target being missed 
nationally), as well as a more rigorous revised framework applying from 2015/16.  We are aware 
plans are in place for improvement.  

Achievement of 
performance 
and other 
targets 

We also considered the provisional quarter 3 and 4 assurance ratings against the performance of 
the CCG for 2014/15, as reported in both its draft Annual Report and outturn assurance report for 
the year.  As set out in its Annual Report, the CCG acknowledges targets have not been met for a 
number of key areas, namely: 

 Accident and Emergency: 92.57% achieved against the 95% standard for over four hour waits;  

 Referral to Treatment (RTT):  

 ambulance response times (red incidents); 

 healthcare acquired infections (HCAI); and 

 improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT).  

Whilst these targets have not been met, understanding the context and extent of 
underperformance is important in assessing the performance of the CCG as a whole. Based on 
our assessment, the CCG is taking appropriate action to improve performance in these areas.  
There is also an impact on performance of factors largely within the control of providers and which 
are similarly affecting other CCGs in the North East.  For example, staffing issues at North East 
Ambulance Service.  

Performance 
against budgets 
and other 
financial targets 

All business rules for 2014/15 have been met, in line with in-year projections and as set out in the 
table overleaf.  A balanced budget has been set for 2015/16 onwards.   

QIPP programme 

Achievement of the QIPP programme for 2014/15 was in line with the target. 

Key pressure areas 
The CCG continues to monitor closely key budget pressure areas, in particular prescribing and 
packages.  

Continuing healthcare 
The CCG has recognised a potential new risk in relation to continuing healthcare, following the 
recent announcement of a cut-off of March 2017 for retrospective claims (for processing claims to 
be paid from the national pool) and is taking appropriate action to minimise any resulting financial 
liabilities.  The CCG is also aware the revised 2015/16 assurance framework is to include a focus 
on on-going continuing healthcare.  
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Performance against financial targets 2013/14 
allocation 

£000s 

2013/14 
actual 

£000s 

2014/15 
allocation 

£000s 

2014/15 
actual 

£000s 

Targets met 

Expenditure - programme 424,974 408,369 445,650 427,998 Yes 

Expenditure - administration 6,770 6,100 7,746 6,279 Yes 

Total expenditure 431,744 414,469 453,396 434,277 Yes 

Under/(over)spend - 17,275 - 19,119 Yes 

The CCG has met all its financial targets for 2014/15, including: 

 delivery of a minimum of a 1% surplus (actual of 4.2% 2014/15, 4% 2013/14);  

 maintain running costs (administration expenditure) within the allocation (underspend of £1.467 million 2014/15, 
£0.670 million 2013/14);  

 maintain capital spending within allocations (nil capital allocation in both 2014/15 and 2013/14); and 

 ensure cash spending is within the cash limit set (target met).  

Conclusion 

Our overall conclusion, having carried out a ‘reality check’, is that CCG has adequate arrangements in place for each 
criterion. Our proposed unqualified VfM conclusion is set out in our draft auditor’s report at Appendix B. 

Specified criteria Auditor commentary Conclusion 

The CCG has proper 
arrangements in place for 
securing financial resilience. 

The CCG has put in place systems and processes to effectively 
manage the financial risks it faces, and to secure a stable financial 
position that will enable it to continue to operate for the foreseeable 
future.  

It has achieved its financial duties for the year, delivering a surplus of 
£19.119 million.  

Criterion 
met 

The CCG has proper 
arrangements for 
challenging how it secures 
economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness. 

The CCG is focused on improving outcomes for patients and 
demonstrating VfM in terms of outputs.  It has identified a number of 
pressure areas which it is actively monitoring.  It is actively focused on 
delivering a transformation agenda which will transform patient 
pathways and help to address some of the historical health 
inequalities of Sunderland.  

Achievement of its QIPP programme for 2014/15 was in line with the 
target.  

Criterion 
met 
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Appendix A – draft management 
representation letter 
 
 
 

Mr Cameron Waddell 
Director 
Mazars LLP 
The Rivergreen Centre 
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TS 

 

26 May 2015 

Dear Cameron 

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - audit for year ended 31 March 2015 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of NHS Sunderland 

Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2015 for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the Manual for Accounts. 

I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant 

knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to satisfy 

ourselves that I can properly make each of the following representations to you. 

My responsibility for the financial statements and accounting information 

I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and preparation of the financial 

statements in accordance with the Manual for Accounts and relevant legislation and International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by HM Treasury. 

My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information 

I have provided you with:  

 access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such 

as records, documentation and other material; 

 additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and 

 unrestricted access to individuals within the CCG you determined it was necessary to contact in order to obtain 

audit evidence. 

I confirm as Accountable Officer that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware of this information. 

As far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are unaware. 
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Accounting records 

I confirm that all transactions that have a material affect on the financial statements have been recorded in the 

accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. All other records and related information, including 

minutes of all Governing Body and Committee meetings, have been made available to you.  

Accounting policies 

I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in accordance with the Manual for 

Accounts and International Accounting Standard 8 and consider these policies to faithfully represent the effects of 

transactions, other events or conditions on the CCG's financial position, financial performance and cash flows 

Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value 

I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the CCG in making accounting estimates, including those 

measured at fair value, are reasonable. 

Contingencies 

There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that should be accrued where: 

 information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability had been 

incurred at the balance sheet date; and 

 the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 

There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either or both the conditions 

specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may have 

been incurred at the balance sheet date. 

There are no contingent gains which should be disclosed. 

All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the CCG have been brought to 

your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing 

the financial statements have been disclosed to you and accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the Manual 

for Accounts and relevant legislation and IFRSs as adopted by HM Treasury. 

Laws and regulations 

I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve known or suspected non-

compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual or contingent consequences which may arise 

therefrom. 

We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the accounts in the 

event of non-compliance. 

Fraud and error 

I acknowledge my responsibility as Accountable Officer for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 

control to prevent and detect fraud and error.  

I have disclosed to you: 

 all the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of 

fraud; 

 all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the CCG involving: 

 management and those charged with governance; 

 employees who have significant roles in internal control; and 

 others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
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I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the CCG's 
financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

Related party transactions 

I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances, have been appropriately accounted for and 

disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Manual for Accounts and relevant legislation and IFRSs. 

I have disclosed to you the identity of the CCG’s related parties and all related party relationships and transactions of 

which I am aware.  

Impairment review 

To the best of my knowledge, there is nothing to indicate that there is a permanent reduction in the recoverable 

amount of the property, plant and equipment below their carrying value at the balance sheet date. An impairment 

review is therefore not considered necessary. 

Future commitments 

I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 

assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities. 

Subsequent events 

I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Manual for Accounts, relevant 

legislation and IFRSs require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 

Should further material events occur after the date of this letter which may necessitate revision of the figures included 

in the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I will advise you accordingly. 

Going concern 

To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the CCG will not continue as a going concern in the 

foreseeable future. The period to which I have paid particular attention in assessing the appropriateness of the going 

concern basis is not less than twelve months from the date of approval of the accounts. Unadjusted misstatements 

There are no unadjusted misstatements for which we need to provide you with representations (to be updated, if 

applicable, to confirm nil unadjusted misstatements upon completion of outstanding auditor’s work).  

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

Accountable Officer 
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Appendix B – draft auditor’s report 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF NHS SUNDERLAND CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (NHS Sunderland CCG) 
for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The financial statements comprise the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning 
Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England.  

We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is marked as subject to audit, being:  

 the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers (and related narrative notes) on page x; 

 the table of pension benefits of senior managers (and related narrative notes) on page y; and 

 the table of pay multiples (and related narrative notes) on page z.  

This report is made solely to the members of NHS Sunderland CCG in accordance with Part II of the Audit 
Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose. 

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of:  

 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have been consistently applied 

and adequately disclosed;  

 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; and  

 the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. 
If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report. 

In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and 
income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the 
financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Opinion on regularity 

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial statements have been 
applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern 
them. 
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Opinion on the financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Sunderland CCG as at 31 March 2015 and of its net 

operating costs for the year then ended; and 

 have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning 

Board with the approval of the Secretary of State. 

Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion: 

 the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in accordance with the 

requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State; and 

 the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we report by exception 

We report to you if: 

 in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with NHS England’s guidance; 

 we refer the matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 because we have 

a reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision involving 

unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 1998. 

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
resources 

Respective responsibilities of the CCG and auditor 

The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements. 

We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit 
Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements, 
having regard to relevant criteria specified by the Audit Commission in October 2014. 

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the CCG has put in 
place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not 
required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the 
specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in October 2014, as to whether the CCG has proper 
arrangements for: 

 securing financial resilience; and 

 challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

The Audit Commission determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider under its Code of Audit 
Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2015. 

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook 
such work as we considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place 
proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
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Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published by the Audit Commission in 
October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, NHS Sunderland CCG put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 
2015. 

Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Sunderland CCG in accordance with the 
requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission. 

 

 

 

 

 

Cameron Waddell  
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP 

 

The Rivergreen Centre 
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TS 

 

Date: 
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Appendix C – independence 
 

As part of our ongoing risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or perceived 
threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors. 

We can confirm no new threats to independence have been identified since issuing the Audit Strategy Memorandum 
and therefore we remain independent. 

 



NHS Protect  

 

 
Item: 10.5 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY 

26 MAY 2015 

 
Report Title 
 

 
Management Letter of Representation  

 
Purpose of report 

 
The purpose of this item is to provide Governing 
Body a copy of the Management Letter of 
Representation to be sent by the Accountable 
Officer, David Gallagher to the Director of 
Mazars, Cameron Waddell. 
 

 
Key points, risks and assurances 
 

 
Key issue is to ensure the CCG meets its 
statutory duties for financial performance and 
reporting.  

 

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

 
To consider and note the letter to be sent. 

Sponsor/approving director   David Gallagher – Chief Officer 

Report author 
 
Tarryn Lake – Acting Head of Finance 
 

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO
1 

CO2 CO
3 

CO4 CO
5 

CO
6 

CO7 

       

Any relevant legal/statutory issues 
 
Not applicable 
 

 
Are the identified risks on the risk 
register? (If so, include reference 
number) 

Not applicable 



    

 
*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned 

services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 
CO7 - Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund  
 
 
 
 
 

Version Date Comments  

1.0 20/05/2015 TL Initial draft of report  

2.0 20/05/2015 TL amendments & finalization of 
report 

 

If issue/report has been previously 
reviewed please specify meeting and 
date 

Not applicable  

 
Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  

Yes  No  
Not 
relevant 

 

Key implications  Yes No Details 

 
Are additional resources required?  If 
so please specify 
 

  
 

 

 
Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  
 

  None known  

 
Any current or expected impact on 
patient outcomes/experience? 
 

  None known  

 
Has there been member practice 
and/or other stakeholder 
engagement if needed?   
 

  None known  



    
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mr Cameron Waddell 

Director 

Mazars LLP 

The Rivergreen Centre 

Aykley Heads 

Durham 

DH1 5TS 
 
26 May 2015 
 
Dear Cameron 
 

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - audit for year ended 31 March 
2015 

 
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial 
statements of NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) for the year 
ended 31 March 2015 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the 
financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the Manual for 
Accounts. 
 
I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of 
management and staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, where 
appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to satisfy ourselves that I 
can properly make each of the following representations to you. 
 

My responsibility for the financial statements and accounting information 

I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Manual for Accounts and 

 
Pemberton House 

Colima Avenue 
Sunderland 

SR5 3XB 
 

Tel: (0191) 529 7000 
Fax: (0191) 529 7396 

www.sunderlandccg.nhs.uk 

 



    
relevant legislation and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by HM Treasury. 

 

My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information 

I have provided you with:  

 access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation 
of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other material; 

 additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the 
audit; and 

 unrestricted access to individuals within the CCG you determined it was 
necessary to contact in order to obtain audit evidence. 

 
I confirm as Accountable Officer that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware 
of this information. 
As far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are 
unaware. 
 
Accounting records 

I confirm that all transactions that have a material affect on the financial statements 
have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements. All other records and related information, including minutes of all Governing 
Body and Committee meetings, have been made available to you.  

 

Accounting policies 

I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in 
accordance with the Manual for Accounts and International Accounting Standard 8 and 
consider these policies to faithfully represent the effects of transactions, other events or 
conditions on the CCG's financial position, financial performance and cash flows 

 

Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value 

I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the CCG in making accounting 
estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable. 

 

Contingencies 

There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that 
should be accrued where: 

 information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has 
been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the balance sheet date; and 

 the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 



    
There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either 
or both the conditions specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that 
a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may have been incurred at the balance sheet 
date. 

There are no contingent gains which should be disclosed. 

All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the 
CCG have been brought to your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and 
claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements 
have been disclosed to you and accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the 
Manual for Accounts and relevant legislation and IFRSs as adopted by HM Treasury. 

 

Laws and regulations 

I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve 
known or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual 
or contingent consequences which may arise therefrom. 

We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a 
material effect on the accounts in the event of non-compliance. 

 

Fraud and error 

I acknowledge my responsibility as Accountable Officer for the design, implementation 
and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud and error.  

I have disclosed to you: 

 all the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud; 

 all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the CCG involving: 

 management and those charged with governance; 

 employees who have significant roles in internal control; and 

 others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

 
I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or 
suspected fraud, affecting the CCG's financial statements communicated by employees, 
former employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

 

Related party transactions 

I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances, have been 
appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the 
Manual for Accounts and relevant legislation and IFRSs. 

I have disclosed to you the identity of the CCG’s related parties and all related party 
relationships and transactions of which I am aware.  



    
 

Impairment review 

To the best of my knowledge, there is nothing to indicate that there is a permanent 
reduction in the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment below their 
carrying value at the balance sheet date. An impairment review is therefore not 
considered necessary. 

Future commitments 

I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the 
carrying value or classification of assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities. 

 

Subsequent events 

I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the 
Manual for Accounts, relevant legislation and IFRSs require adjustment or disclosure 
have been adjusted or disclosed. 

Should further material events occur after the date of this letter which may necessitate 
revision of the figures included in the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, 
I will advise you accordingly. 

 

Going concern 

To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the CCG will not continue 
as a going concern in the foreseeable future. The period to which I have paid particular 
attention in assessing the appropriateness of the going concern basis is not less than 
twelve months from the date of approval of the accounts.  

 

Unadjusted misstatements 

There are no unadjusted misstatements for which we need to provide you with 
representations. (to be updated, if applicable, to confirm nil unadjusted 
misstatements upon completion of outstanding auditor’s work) 

 
Yours faithfully 
 
Copy of final letter to be signed 
 
David Gallagher  
Chief Officer 
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Item: 10.6 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY 

 
26 May 2015 

 
Report Title 
 

 
Annual Report 2014/15  

(including the annual governance statement)  
 

 
Purpose of report 

To present the governing body with the CCG’s 
annual report (including the annual governance 
statement) for 2014/15.   

 
Key points, risks and assurances 
 

The attached report gives an overview of 2nd year of 
the CCG as a statutory NHS Body, highlighting the 
key achievements during the year.  The report also 
outlines the key challenges and risks the CCG has 
faced, as well as detailed description of the internal 
control mechanisms to manage these.     
 
Key points and assurances 
The report includes the following sections: 
 

 Member practices’ introduction 

 Strategic report 

 Members report  

 Remuneration report (subject to audit) 

 Annual governance statement  

 Report by the auditors  
 
Please note the annual accounts are covered in a 
separate report but will be merged into one 
document prior to submission to NHS England.  
 
The attached report has been drafted in accordance 
with the annual reporting guidance issued by NHS 
England in February 2015. The report and 
governance statement have also been reviewed in 
detail by the audit committee at its meetings in April, 
shared with executive committee members for 
comments and reviewed by external auditors to 
ensure for accuracy, appropriateness and 
compliance with current guidance.  

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

The governing body is asked to: 

 Formally approve the annual report, including 
the annual governance statement;  

 Note the Chief Officer is required to sign and 
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*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 
CO7 - Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund  
 

date strategic report, members report, 
remuneration report, statement of 
accountable officer’s responsibilities, 
governance statement and the statement of 
financial position.   

 Agree for the approved report to be 
submitted to NHS England by the required 
deadline of 12 noon on Friday 29 May 2015.  

Sponsor/approving director   David Gallagher, Chief Officer  

Report author 
Deborah Cornell, Head of Corporate Affairs  
NECS Communications Team  

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO3 CO4 CO5 CO6 CO7 

       

Any relevant legal/statutory issues Department of Health manual for accounts   

Are the identified risks on the risk 
register? (If so, include reference number) 

n/a 

If issue/report has been previously 
reviewed please specify meeting and 
date 

The draft report and governance statement has 
been considered by the audit committee at its 
meetings in March and April and was formally 
approved by the committee at its meeting on 26 May 
for submission to the governing body. 

Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  

Yes  No  
Not 
relevant 

 

Key implications  Yes No Details 

Are additional resources required?  If so 
please specify 

  
 

None identified – the report contains 
detailed financial information relating 
to the first year of the CCG. 

Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?    

n/a – annual report information 
gathered throughout the year 

Any current or expected impact on 
patient outcomes/experience?   

As detailed in the achievements 
section of the strategic report  

Has there been member practice and/or 
other stakeholder engagement if 
needed?   

  
n/a – annual report information 
gathered throughout the year 
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Foreword 

Looking back over the last twelve months of 2014/15, we believe that we have continued 
to lay solid foundations to help us deliver our ambitions for “Better Health for Sunderland”. 
 
Firstly, we would like to thank everyone at NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning 
Group (the CCG), our member practices, partners, and stakeholders for their hard work 
and support throughout this year. Everyone’s hard work is a key part of what we have 
achieved this year as we have continued to meet challenges to improve healthcare and 
health services in the borough. 
 
We have had some key successes in 2014/15 – including being recognised as the top 
100 places in the NHS to work, by the Health Service Journal. In fact, we were one of 
only 15 CCGs in the country to receive this recognition.   
 
To add to this, our recognition for the gold Standard of Investors in People in December 
2014 is not to be underestimated. It is a significant achievement and testament to the 
quality and quantity of hard work by all involved that, only nineteen months into a new 
organisation, this level has been achieved. 
 
We have also just recently been shortlisted as the best newcomer for the Investors in 
People awards. They received over 400 nominations from across the world and a wide 
range of sectors so this is an incredible achievement and we look forward to the 
announcement in June 2015. 
 
While there have been notable achievements this year, we know that there will be new 
and tougher challenges in the future.  However, we are sure that with everyone’s 
continuing support we will continue to make progress for the people of Sunderland. We 
look forward to working with you all again in 2015/16. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Dr Ian Pattison      David Gallagher 
Clinical chair        Chief officer 
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Member Practices’ introduction 

We are pleased to present our second annual report and accounts. 
 
As NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG), we are responsible for 
commissioning the majority of health services for our population of 276,080 people.  Over 
the next 10 years this is expected to rise by at least 2,179 (0.8%). 
 
Large increases in the elderly population, and particularly the very elderly, have 
significant implications for healthcare over the next five, ten, and twenty years.  
Sunderland’s community is also affected by lifestyle factors such as obesity, smoking and 
alcohol abuse which pose a major risk to health and wellbeing. 
 
The major health challenges are consistent across our 51 practices and the five localities 
in which they sit. They include: a growing aging population with escalating health needs, 
poor health compared to the rest of the UK, excess deaths, particularly from heart 
disease, cancer and respiratory problems; an over-reliance on hospital care; separated 
healthcare and health inequalities across the city. 
 
Our vision is ‘Better Health for Sunderland’ and to achieve this, we work with partners to 
provide joined-up health and social care, underpinned by effective clinical decision-
making, and reducing the inequalities in health across the city. 
 
Linked to our vision, we have set a number of strategic objectives.  We revisited these 
recently to focus on: 
 

 Transforming out of hospital care 

 Transforming in hospital care (specifically urgent and emergency care); and  

 Enabling self-care and sustainability.   
 
In 2014/15, as members we took part in a ballot on primary medical care co-
commissioning to decide which of three options we’d like the CCG to pursue. 80% of our 
members voted for a constitutional change, with 59% opting for level 3 (delegated 
commissioning), 23% for level 2 (joint commissioning with the area team), 12% for level 1 
(greater involvement) and 4% for no change.  
 
Level 3 offers an opportunity for CCGs to assume full delegated responsibility for 
commissioning primary care services, although the initial scope for 2015-16 will be 
general practice services.  
 
Although we have opted for delegated commissioning, accountability for delivering the 
primary care commissioning function remains with NHS England. Therefore NHS 
England will require assurance that its statutory duties are being discharged effectively.  
Once delegated arrangements have been established, their overall effectiveness will be 
monitored as part of the CCG assurance process. 
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Co-commissioning proves an opportunity to further develop an integrated health and 
social care system in Sunderland by enabling greater local influence over a wider range 
of services for the benefit of the people of Sunderland.  There is a busy work plan 
underway to deliver the challenges we have set ourselves.  We are determined to 
continue with this as well as the additional responsibilities that co-commissioning will 
bring. 
 
We were delighted to see the CCG awarded Gold in its Investors in People assessment.  
For such a relatively young organisation it is a great recognition for the quality and 
quantity of hard work our staff have put in to delivering a first class service to our patients 
in Sunderland.  We have recently been shortlisted as the best newcomer for the Investors 
in People awards.  
 
It was also a great accolade to be listed by the Health Service Journal in their top 100 
best places to work, supported by NHS Employers. 
 
As part of our ambitious vision of ‘better health for Sunderland’, we have also won 
national recognition for our work with Sunderland City Council, South Tyneside NHS 
Foundation Trust, the city’s 2 GP alliances (Sunderland GP Alliance and Washington 
Community Healthcare) and Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Foundation NHS 
Foundation Trust to transform care in and out of hospital through increased integration of 
services and more person-centred care.  We have been selected as one of the 29 
‘vanguard’ areas within England for this model. 
 
Key changes will include an enhanced citywide Recovery at Home service, which will 
help to support people’s recovery after discharge from hospital and prevent future 
emergency admissions.  Other initiatives include bringing together district nursing, 
community matrons, social workers and GP practices into multi-disciplinary teams for 
local areas, so that care can be planned in a more coordinated and preventative way, 
while GP practices throughout the city will have additional support to work more 
effectively together.  
 
We have also launched extended hours schemes in the East and West of Sunderland, 
which have proved invaluable in supporting the GP practices especially over the winter 
and Easter period when pressures would often mean lack of appointments.  
 
While there have been notable achievements in 2014/15, we know that there will be new 
and tougher challenges over the next few years.  We recognise that co-commissioning 
can change the dynamic between the CCG team and member practices and we will need 
to work hard to ensure we stick to our culture, values and ways of working. 
 
As members, we believe that a clinically-led organisation is best placed to make the most 
of these challenges.  The elected GP representatives and the CCG team will continue to 
work to ensure that we deliver our commissioning and statutory responsibilities. 
 
We are committed to involving local patients, carers and members of the public in our 
decision-making to help us develop a city wide response to local needs.  Examples 
include patient participation groups, locality patient groups, local engagement boards, 
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engagement events, social media and by joining our public membership ‘My NHS’, where 
members receive updates on our services, invites to consultations and events and 
opportunities to get involved with their local NHS services.   
 
The involvement of local people, along with the strengthening our partnerships, will help 
us attain better health and wellbeing for the people living in Sunderland.  
 
The annual report reflects on our progress and performance throughout the year and 
gives details of the impact our members have had in key areas.  The report also includes 
information about how the governing body has evaluated their performance and this 
information can be found in the governance statement.   
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Strategic report  

Welcome to NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group’s second annual report 
covering the financial year 2014/2015. 
 

Introduction 

We are NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) which is the statutory 
health body responsible for the planning and buying of NHS services to meet the needs 
of the local community. We are a membership organisation and our members are the 51 
GP practices in Sunderland. To enable more effective engagement in the work of the 
CCG, the practices are organised into five localities: Coalfields, Sunderland North, 
Sunderland East, Sunderland West and Washington, and together we cover a population 
of around 281,500.  
 
The CCG became a statutory body on 1 April 2013 following the changes described in 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012. We were formed to take over the commissioning of 
the majority of health services including planned and emergency hospital care, 
rehabilitation, community and mental health and learning disability services. We also 
commission emergency and urgent care services throughout the city and services for any 
patients not registered with a general practice who live locally.  
 

Preparation of our accounts 

The accounts included in this document have been prepared under a Direction issued by 
the NHS Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended).  
 
The CCG is a ‘going concern’ with nothing arising in-year or at the year end, including up 
to the time of this report to call that into doubt. The notes to the accounts indicate that the 
accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. Public sector bodies are 
assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the 
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in 
public documents. The financial allocations for 2015/16 have been approved by 
parliament and there is no reason to believe that future approvals will not be forthcoming.   
In addition, the CCG has an approved 5 year financial plan which prudently accounts for 
the implications of the current national CCG funding formula and the anticipated pace of 
change. 
 

Our vision and objectives  
The CCG was licenced without conditions from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the NHS Act 2006.   
 
We have overall responsibility for the development and planning of local healthcare 
services and our vision is to achieve: 
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‘Better Health for Sunderland’ 
 
 
To respond to our health challenges, a joint assessment of local needs with Sunderland 
City Council recommended that those commissioning services in Sunderland prioritise 
the following: 

 Improve mental health and mental wellness 

 Raise the expectation of being healthy for all individuals, families and communities 
and promote health seeking behaviours 

 Reduce unemployment 

 Address the impact of tobacco leading to reduced overall smoking prevalence (all 
ages) and numbers of young people starting to smoke 

 Reduce overall alcohol consumption and increase treatment services for those 
with problem drinking 

 Increase active living 

 Commission excellent services for cancer 

 Commission excellent services for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 

 Commission excellent services for cardiovascular disease including diabetes 

 Support people to live independently and increase levels of self-care 
 
To address these priorities we will continue to work closely with the local community and 
engage with a wide range of local partners to ensure the very best health and social care 
for our patients.  
 
We have worked closely with Sunderland City Council and sit with other partners on the 
Sunderland health and wellbeing board. We have developed relationships with 
Healthwatch Sunderland, who work to ensure that the views of people who use health 
and social care services are heard. We regularly engage with the community and 
voluntary sector as they provide an important voice for patients, and invaluable insight 
into the health challenges faced by local people.  
 
We will use all of our clinical and managerial expertise, knowledge of our patients, our 
relationships with other NHS organisations, our local authority, local hospitals and other 
partners to follow best practice and use evidence-based medicine to commission health 
services that will ensure “Better Health for Sunderland”. 

 
Our objectives  
 
We have identified our 3 key strategic objectives as: 

 Transforming out of hospital care (through joining up health and social care and 
enable seven day working)  

 Transforming in hospital care, specifically urgent and emergency care (and 
enabling seven day working) 
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 enabling self-care and sustainability to ensure the NHS can survive and 
thrive in the future. 

 
We aim to meet these objectives by having a whole system approach, working closely 
with citizens, patients, carers, providers and partners to utilise evidence based service 
improvement techniques to maximise ‘value adding’ activities. We have adopted the 
evidence based North East Transformation System (NETS) as our reform methodology 
and will adopt other complimentary approaches as needed. 

We have tailored our approach to utilise our resources where they are most needed and 
ensured individual providers are clear of their own responsibilities to lead and 
demonstrate improvements. Our ambitious transformation programme comprises of 10 
programmes, involving multiple stakeholders. By using a continuous improvement 
approach, this enables us to capture current issues, encourage providers to collectively 
undertake root cause analysis and work collaboratively to find innovative solutions. 

Informed through local engagement with member practices, patients and local people, we 
have identified a set of core values, which will continue to shape and underpin all of the 
work we undertake to deliver our vision. These seven core values are outlined below 
around our vision: 
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CCG plan on a page for 2014/15 
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Overview of Sunderland’s population 

Sunderland has a population of 276,080 people.  Over the next 10 years this is expected 
to rise by at least 2,179 (0.8%). 
 
Large increases in the elderly population, and particularly the very elderly, have 
significant implications for healthcare over the next five, ten, and twenty years. 
 
Sunderland’s community is also affected by lifestyle factors such as obesity, smoking and 
alcohol abuse which pose a major risk to health and wellbeing. 
 
Major health challenges are consistent across our five localities. They include: a growing 
aging population with escalating health needs; poor health compared to the rest of the 
UK; excess deaths, particularly from heart disease, cancer and respiratory problems; an 
over-reliance on hospital care; disintegrated healthcare service and health inequalities 
across the city. 
 
To respond to our health challenges, a joint assessment of local needs with Sunderland 
City Council recommends that those commissioning services in Sunderland prioritise the 
following: 

 Improve mental health and mental wellness 

 Raise the expectation of being healthy for all individuals, families and communities 
and promote health seeking behaviours 

 Reduce unemployment 

 Address the impact of tobacco leading to reduced overall smoking prevalence (all 
ages) and numbers of young people starting to smoke 

 Reduce overall alcohol consumption and increase treatment services for those 
with problem drinking 

 Increase active living  

 Commission excellent services for cancer 

 Commission excellent services for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 

 Commission excellent services for cardiovascular disease including diabetes 

 Support people to live independently and increase levels of self-care 
 
To address these priorities, we will continue to work closely with the local community and 
engage with a wide range of local partners to ensure the very best health and social care 
for our patients.  
 
 

Health and wellbeing board 

The CCG is a key member of the health and wellbeing board in the city which has key 
statutory duties and powers to encourage integrated work of both commissioners and 
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providers to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population, reduce inequalities, 
and improve the quality and experience of services for the local population. 
 
The vision of the Sunderland health and wellbeing board is to have the: 

‘Best possible health and wellbeing for Sunderland ….by which we mean a city 
where everyone is as healthy as they can be, people live longer, enjoy a good 
standard of wellbeing and we see a reduction in health inequalities.’ 
 
The CCG was represented on the board in 2014/15 by Dr Ian Pattison, clinical chair, Dr 
Gerry McBride, executive GP and David Gallagher, chief officer. 
 

Clinical leadership 

The CCG clinical chair is Dr Ian Pattison, who chairs the governing body.  
 
The CCG has a medical director who is a local GP and five GP executive GPs who are 
elected by locality leads.  In addition, the governing body membership includes an 
executive nurse and there an executive practice nurse as a member of the executive 
committee, giving the CCG a strong mandate from the clinical leaders.  
 

Securing continuous improvement in the quality and safety of 
healthcare services 
 
The CCG has a duty to secure continuous improvement in the quality of services and is 
committed to this in all aspects of its work.  We have developed our quality strategy for 
2014-2017 (ratified in August 2014) which supports us to ensure we keep quality at the 
heart of all we do.  The strategy sets out our vision, key drivers and ambitions for quality, 
and explains how we will deliver this vision.  We are now taking steps to create and 
embed a culture of continuous quality improvement, based on openness, transparency 
and candour, within our own organisation and across the health and social care system.  
We have put quality at the centre of all our discussions with providers. 
 
We have embedded robust governance structures to provide assurance to our governing 
body and to Cumbria and North East Area Team of NHS England regarding the quality 
and safety of commissioned services. We have provided challenge to providers where 
issues or concerns have been identified, and ensured that they are held to account 
appropriately where necessary.  Moreover, we have focussed our attention on patient 
outcomes, and encouraged and nurtured a culture of openness, transparency and 
honesty with all providers, identifying examples of good practice as well as sharing 
lessons learned. 
 
We have systems and processes in place to fulfil our specific duties of co-operation and 
best practice in relation to safeguarding vulnerable people 
 
We have ensured that the patient voice is heard, and we have achieved this by sharing 
patient stories with our committees, ensuring that good practice is commended, and that 
any areas for improvement are identified with the respective providers, and acted upon. 
We monitor local and national patient experience data, themes and trends from user 
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feedback, as well as complaints and concerns. We have robust processes in place to 
engage patients, carers and the public in the commissioning of services. 
We use a number of levers to support delivery of our vision for continuous quality 
improvement.  We have various incentive schemes including the primary care incentive 
scheme for GP practices and commissioning for quality and innovation for NHS 
contracted services. We use these incentives to promote quality improvement and to 
support the delivery of our key priorities. 
 

 
Organisational Development  

 

Organisational development is a planned and systematic approach to enabling sustained 
organisational performance through the involvement of people in the organisation.  It is 
often termed as the “oil that keeps the engine going”. In Sunderland we have fully 
embraced this philosophy and the concept of continuous improvement and development. 
This strategic approach is critical as we continue to develop and grow as an organisation.  
 
Our organisational development plan:  
 

 Supports the delivery of the 5 year strategic and 2 year operational plans to deliver our 
vision and transformational changes to improve health outcomes 

 Ensures a system wide approach with partners to organisational learning 

 Ensures the actions we take in the shorter term support delivery of our longer term 
objectives 

 Ensures that the organisational enablers for delivery are in place and are being 
progressed 

 Establishes a cross-cutting approach by connecting our efforts, skills, experiences and 
competencies to develop a more effective system of commissioning. 

 
As a clinically led organisation, the CCG continues to use appropriate mechanisms to add 
value to our work and seek feedback on our performance as leaders of the local health 
economy. We have worked with our partners, and will continue to do so, to address our 
shared priorities and challenges and ensure our approach to organisational development 
across the health economy provides a strong platform to deliver our vision.  As an 
organisation we promote organisational learning and are committed to promoting a learning 
culture to ensure that all staff are developed to provide safe and effective care and to achieve 
their full potential. 
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Performance 

Financial targets and performance for the year 
 
 
In accordance with NHS England planning guidance, the CCG is required to deliver a 
surplus of at least 1% of available resources. A planned surplus of £18,987k was agreed 
with NHS England during the year and the CCG’s successful management of financial 
risks and robust financial management has ensured that the target surplus has been 
delivered as planned.  
 
The CCG’s successful results are set out in the table below, with further detail included in 
note 22 of the full annual accounts published alongside the Annual Report.  
 

 

Unlike commercial companies which make a profit or loss, CCGs are set resource 
allocation limits within which they must contain net expenditure for the year. There are 
separate resource allocation limits for revenue and capital expenditure, with revenue 
expenditure limits further split between programme spend and running costs.  
 
 

Performance against targets 
 
Throughout the year, we have been working hard to achieve our targets as set out by the 
NHS Constitution. The next few pages highlight our performance against the key areas – 
A&E four hour waits, ambulance handovers, cancer waiting times, referral to treatment, 
our local quality indicator, healthcare acquired infections, and mental health. 
 
In summary, some of our key challenges for performance have been: 
 

 Accident and emergency (A&E):  the CCG achieved 92.57% against the 95% 
standard for over 4 hour waits in A&E due to capacity and pressures within City 
Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust (CHS).  This has been a main focus 
during the year as part of the emergency care intensive support team (ECIST) 
system-wide action plan.  During 2014/15, CHS carried out a pilot of the ‘perfect 
week’ to focus on those processes required to support the patient journey through 
the hospital with no unnecessary delays. Performance increased significantly 
during the week and has been evaluated to highlight sustainable improvements.  

Target Outcome Target Met? 
Delivery of 1% surplus on 

revenue allocations

Total surplus of £19,119k against a total revenue 

resource allocation of £453,396k. P
Maintain running costs within 

the running cost allocation

Surplus of £1,467k delivered on running cost 

budgets. P

Maintain capital spending within 

capital allocations

No capital resource provided to the CCG and no 

capital spend in year. N/A
Ensure cash spending is within 

the cash limit set Cash managed within available resources. P
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The CCG has funded a number of system-wide resilience schemes to support 
CHS and other providers to increase staffing and capacity.  A&E will continue to be 
a focus for the CCG in the next financial year.  

 Referral to treatment (RTT):  the CCG experienced pressures in the latter part of 
2014/15 around the delivery of the 18 week RTT waiting times for admitted 
patients.  Incomplete and non-admitted pathways remain above the 92% and 95% 
targets despite some pressures within a number of specialties such as urology and 
gynaecology.  Urology has been a particular pressure throughout the year but 
performance has improved recently.  The CCG re-procured an intermediate 
musculoskeletal service to help alleviate pressures on providers and continue to 
work closely with CHS to further improve RTT waiting times. 

 Ambulance response times (red incidents): performance against the red 
incidents was maintained in the Sunderland locality for 2014/15.  However, North 
East Ambulance Service (NEAS) did not achieve the national quality requirements 
for red incidents which was as a result of continued staffing pressures.  
Performance has now improved but this remains a key risk for 2015/16 and the 
CCG will continue to work with NEAS on this.   

 Healthcare acquired infections (HCAI): over the last few years performance 
against national targets for both C.Difficle and MRAS has been below target.  The 
CCG has coordinated work across the city to reduce C.Difficle infections, resulting 
in achievement of its targets in 2014/15.  For MRSA, the zero tolerance target set 
by NHS England was not met with 1 incident.   

HCAI remains a key risk and therefore an area of focus for 2015/16. 

 Improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT): the CCG had 2 indicators 
relating to IAPT; access to services and maintaining a 50% recovery rate (based 
on national data definitions).  The CCG had a very challenging target of a 15% 
access rate for 2014/15 and worked closely with Northumberland, Tyne and Wear 
NHS Foundation Trust (NTW) to achieve this.  Despite improved performance in 
the latter part of the year, the 15% full year position was not achieved. However 
we are optimistic this will be delivered in 2015/16. 

 
Although the CCG missed some performance targets detailed above, this was in the 
context that nationally the NHS experienced continual increased demand during a very 
difficult winter.   The CCG has a number of robust recovery plans in place and is working 
very closely with providers of healthcare to ensure performance improves in 2015/16.  

 

The full performance measures are shown in the tables on the following pages:
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NHS Constitution 

A&E four hour waits for the Sunderland health community  

 
 

Ambulance handovers 
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Cancer waiting times – two week waits  

 
 
Cancer waiting times – 31 day waits 

 
 
Cancer waiting times – 62 day waits 
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Referral to treatment – 18 weeks 

 
 

Outcome framework 

Sunderland CCG local quality indicator 
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Healthcare acquired infections 
 

 
 
 
Mental health 
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Achievements in 2014/15 

A summary of some of our achievements in 2014/15 includes: 

 Winning national recognition for Sunderland’s health vision where key changes 
will include an enhanced citywide ‘recovery @ home service’, which will help to 
support people’s recovery after discharge from hospital and prevent future 
emergency admissions. 

 Working with Sunderland Armed Forces Network to help the city’s estimated 
26,000 veterans access appropriate health services. 

 Improving health in Sunderland by working with care homes and extending 
access to primary care to provide patients with greater GP access. 

 Two new mental health services facilities were opened at Monkwearmouth and 
Hopewood Park. 

 A pioneering system being developed between the CCG, department of obstetrics 
at City Hospitals Sunderland, Sunderland City Council, the University of 
Sunderland, and NHS England which enables pregnant mothers with mild 
pregnancy-induced hypertension or gestational diabetes mellitus to keep a tighter 
check on their health via a simple kit and their mobile phone. This sparked 
interest from doctors from the United States who visited in the summer to see how 
it worked.  

 Implementing a joint action plan with City Hospitals Sunderland within hospital 
and community settings to reduce/prevent health care associated infections in the 
hospital. 

 Being given the go-head for primary care co-commissioning from 2015/16 for 
‘delegated commissioning’ which will mean that will be assume full responsibility 
for commissioning primary medical care services. 

 Holding a joint event as the Stadium of Light in September 2014 to start the work 
in developing locality integrated teams with input from key partners. This 
important piece of work will ensure that there are better out of hospital services for 
the people of Sunderland. 

 Delivering the North East Transformational System (NETS) for leaders ‘in-house 
programme’ with 6 members of staff successfully completing the programme.  
Each of the delegates completed a work based project and removed remove 
waste (e.g. delays, duplication, preventable errors) and unnecessary steps from 
processes with projects covering a number of areas.  Such was the success of 
the programme, a further programme is now underway 

 Building on the success of the NETS, we are continuing to implement the 
methodology throughout the CCG to drive quality and continuous improvement in 
our commissioning processes, by undertaking:  

 regular visibility wall stand-up meetings to ensure continuous improvement 
in performance are at the heart of our management method; 
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 a number of improvement events to progress statutory and 
transformational work programmes, such as children’s safeguarding, 
developing a new model for GP out of hours provision in collaboration with 
all stakeholders; and improved ways of working for the quality, safety and 
risk committee to the balance workload of the committee more effectively. 

 Funding, co-designing and leading 2 successful accelerated solutions events 
engaging stakeholders to help develop and influence the vision for integrated 
health and social care in Sunderland.  

 Delivering quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) savings of just 
less than £3m this year, all of which has been reinvested into front line service 
delivery.  

 Collaborating with Sunderland City Council to commission a new ‘move to 
improve’ service aimed at improving the health and wellbeing and quality of life for 
those with long term conditions by giving them the opportunity to access 
evidence-based activity programmes.  

 
 

Urgent care in Sunderland 
From 1 September 2014, we improved the way urgent care services in Sunderland are 
delivered by creating GP-led urgent care centres, including a new urgent care centre in 
Houghton-le-Spring, alongside the existing services in Bunny Hill and Washington.  
 
This marked a milestone in our reconfiguration of the urgent care system, following the 
public consultation exercise before authorisation of the CCG took place. 
 

Better Care Fund 
A key foundation in developing improved integrated services for the people of 
Sunderland was the signing off of the Better Care Fund, which combines resources 
between health and social care to enable the changes needed to improve services while 
making maximum use of combined resources. At around £150m, the fund is one of the 
biggest in the country, a measure both of the strength of our partnerships and the 
ambition to see streamlined, efficient health and social care services working seamlessly 
together.  
 
Our plan was also recognised as one of eleven national exemplars, five of which were 
used to test the processes for other CCGs and local authorities.  
 
 

Local relationships 
 
Over the past year, the CCG has continued to develop its local relationships within the 
city and further afield.   
 
We have worked closely with Sunderland City Council and sit with other partners on the 
Sunderland health and wellbeing Board. We have developed relationships with 
Healthwatch Sunderland, who work to ensure that the views of people who use health 
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and social care services are heard. We regularly engage with the community and 
voluntary sector as they provide an important voice for patients, and invaluable insight 
into the health challenges faced by local people.  
 
The CCG works with a range of partners including: 

 NHS England 

 NHS providers of healthcare – City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust, 
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Mental 
Health NHS Foundation Trust, North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust and GP practices 

 Other providers of NHS healthcare – independent sector, community and 
voluntary sector, including Spire Washington Hospital and Northern Doctors 
Urgent Care  

 Sunderland City Council – in particular working with adult social care, housing and 
public health 

 Sunderland health and wellbeing board 

 Sunderland HealthWatch 

 Neighbouring CCGs 

 Local MPs 

 Local schools 
 
Each year a 360 degree stakeholder survey is completed to provide an analysis of the 
key partners of the CCG. Some of the highlights from 2014/15 included: 

 90% of stakeholders felt engaged with the CCG 

 85% of stakeholders felt they were able to raise concerns about the quality of 
local services 

 75% of stakeholders felt they had the opportunity to influence plans and priorities 
 
We have an open gateway process to encourage partners to develop ideas to help us 

improve and redesign services to achieve our vision.   
 
Overall, partners feel that have contributed to the wider discussions with the CCG 
through various means and in particular the urgent care working groups. 
 

Public and patient engagement 

Public and patient engagement is an integral part of the work that the CCG does. As part 
of this, the patient and public voice is truly embedded into the organisation. 
 
To prevent discrimination, value diversity and achieve equality of opportunities in relation 
to the protected characteristics as set out by the Equalities Act 2010 is fundamental to all 
the public and patient engagement that we do.  
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Some of the main areas of public and patient engagement include: 

 My NHS 

 Sunderland health forum (formerly the local engagement board) 

 Public events 

 Governing body meetings  

 Patient participation groups 

 Locality patient groups 

 Patient participation during procurement  

 Social media  
 
Some of the areas that patient and public engagement has had a real impact upon 
include: 

 A winter campaign for ‘keep calm’ – as a direct result of patient feedback, we 
amended the font sizes and the layout for the campaign to make sure that the 
messages were clearer and easier to understand 

 urgent care in Sunderland – there was some confusion amongst patients in 
Sunderland about where to go to get treated. As a result, urgent care in 
Sunderland was changed to introduce GP led urgent care centres and an 
information campaign launched to provide further information about where people 
should go 

 An urgent care centre was opened in Houghton-le-Spring after people felt that 
there was no out of hours GP services locally available in this area of Sunderland 

 We have worked with Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust and 
their crisis team intervention service to improve access to the crisis services for 
people with mental health needs 

 Patient and public feedback has told us that health and social care services were 
very confusing and, as a result, we are working towards making sure that all the 
services are joined up. We will be continuing with this area of work throughout 
2015/16 

 
A benchmarking exercise was undertaken in March 2015 to align the engagement 
activity to NHS England’s Transforming Participation to identify what worked well, what 
could be improved upon and where the opportunities for development where. The main 
areas reviewed individual participation, public participation, and insight and feedback. 
Further work on these areas is planned for 2015/16. 
 

Winter planning and promoting good health 
Throughout the year, we have been promoting good health by focusing on providing 
information to people about how they can look after themselves, under a campaign, 
‘keep calm and look after yourself’. Also national campaigns such as encouraging people 
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to have flu injections, Stoptober, and keep warm have been localised across Sunderland 
under the ‘all together Sunderland’ brand. As part of the campaign development, the 
keep calm campaign was taken to one of the local engagement boards.  The campaign 
was also supported by the Foundation of Light as well as Sunderland Council and City 
Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
The main focus of the campaign ties in with the national self-care week. The campaign 
lasted six weeks and used a variety of media with a reach of 1.9 million, which equates 
to 73% of the north-east population having seen or heard the campaign. 
 
 

GP out of hours stakeholder consultation  
Engaging and involving the public in decisions for our local population is particularly 
essential when we develop and consider proposals for changes in the way services are 
provided to our local population.  We worked with key stakeholders, including patients 
and carers, to develop a new service model for future GP out of hours services.   
 
We developed a detailed patient and public involvement strategy and used this during a 
6 week engagement period to seek views and collate information about the current 
services.  An improvement event was held, attended by patients, and this feedback was 
used to generate ideas for a future model of our of hours services with all stakeholders 
across health economy.   
 

The launch of MY NHS 
A new membership service called MY NHS was launched and it puts the public at the 
centre of healthcare services, ensuring that their opinion counts. MY NHS helps people 
to get involved in the development and improvements of their local health services, how 
and when they want to. Membership in the Sunderland area is currently 730 people.  
 

New models of care - city wide integrated teams 
We are progressing with developing multi-disciplinary teams, which include staff who 
provide core community services to patients with the most complex needs.  
 
It has been identified that patients with varied and complex needs would benefit from a 
person-centred, co-ordinated care model.  In addition, frail elderly patients in Sunderland 
would benefit from a highly proactive, multidisciplinary model of care and those patients 
with long-term conditions would benefit from the continuity of a team wrapped around 
them to prevent them deteriorating and ‘bouncing’ in and out of hospital as an 
emergency. 
 
Our vision is that these teams will work with clusters of GP practices and, together, be 
responsible for jointly planning, co-ordinating and delivering care to local people.   
 
All five localities are working with their appointed design team to develop the model for 
their integrated team.  These locality integrated teams will be able to identify and 
respond to individual patient needs and working in a multidisciplinary way to resolve the 
current barriers that prevent a joined up response for individual patients.  
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Dementia friendly metro stations 
Dementia is increasing in prevalence so by working in partnership with the Sunderland 
City Council and key local partners, we aim to raise awareness of dementia.  All GP 
practices have undertaken dementia training and identified dementia champions within 
each of the practices. 
 
On 5 February, working in partnership with the east area committee, Sunderland City 
Council, and Nexus, we looked at ways to create dementia friendly metro stations and 
platforms at Park Lane, University and Millfield. 
 
We were joined by the Sunderland Alzheimer’s Society to carry out audits of the metro 
stations based on national standards and included items such as approach routes, 
signage, lighting and flooring. The results of the audit will be shared with Nexus so that 
improvements to the stations can be considered. 
 
There are some small changes that can have a major impact on improving accessibility 
for people with dementia such as clear signage and making sure that stations are well lit. 
 

Mentoring university students 
To support Sunderland University, a number of staff at the CCG have become student 
mentors and are working with students to support them in their studies. 
 

Extended hours 
Following the success of the original pilot during the winter of 2013/14 and the continued 
success of the service this year, the pilot was extended till the end of May 2015 having 
previously been extended to cover the Easter bank holiday period. The pilot was also 
introduced in the west of Sunderland. 
 

Best practice 
We will use all of our clinical and managerial expertise, knowledge of our patients, our 
relationships with other NHS organisations, our local authority, local hospitals and other 
partners to follow best practice and use evidence-based medicine to commission health 
services that will ensure ‘Better Health for Sunderland’. 
 
Throughout the year, we have been successful in a number of awards.  As well as 
receiving the gold award from Investors in People, we were also listed by the Health 
Service Journal in their top 100 best places to work, a list supported by NHS Employers 
and shortlisted for the best newcomer category in the IIP worldwide awards. 
 
The winter campaign, keep calm won the best healthcare campaign in the Chartered 
Institute of Public Relations Pride awards.  
 
We also supported and sponsored the Sunderland Best of Health Awards again which 
showcase the best of health and healthcare via nominees from the public and patients.   
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Sustainability 

Our approach to sustainable development sets out our commitment to work in ways 
which maximise the health, social and economic benefits our activities bring to the 
community while minimising our impact on the environment. 
 
Sustainable development requires us to be mindful of the need to safeguard the future in 
all of our choices, decisions, and actions. Wherever possible we will take opportunities to 
contribute positively to the local economy and community, reduce waste and utilities 
consumption, and minimise any negative impact on the environment both now and for 
future generations. 
 
This means rethinking a lot of what we do. It affects not only the major strategic 
decisions we take but also how we go about our daily business. 
 
Getting these decisions right will not only help us save money, eliminate unnecessary 
waste in the system and reduce our carbon footprint.  It also demonstrates our 
commitment to enhancing the wellbeing of the local and global community through taking 
seriously our corporate responsibilities. 
 
We have recently refurbished our headquarters building and adopted a low energy 
policy. 
 

Travel 
We encourage sustainable travel wherever possible. We have an electric car that staff 
are able to use to attend meetings and work-related events off site.  We offer reduced 
cost public transport initiatives and are developing a cycle to work scheme. We offer 
shower facilities and cycle parking. We also promote care closer to home and home 
working opportunities where possible. 
 

Waste 
We work hard to minimise the creation of waste and have a robust approach to 
recycling. Paper, cardboard, glass, metal, ink cartridges, batteries, waste electrical 
goods and confidential waste are all recycled. 
 

Workforce development 
All of our staff are encouraged to work sustainably.  We promote environmental 
awareness, encourage low carbon travel and facilitate flexible working where possible. 
 

Utilities usage 
Where possible we try and reduce our electricity, gas and water consumption.  For 
example, we have a policy to make sure we switch off our lights and close down 
computers when they are not being used.  We refurbished our headquarters building 
during the year and adopted low carbon/energy solutions, such as automatic lighting, to 
help reduce our carbon footprint and every cost as much as possible.    
 
For 2014/15, our usage of utilities was: 
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  Cost 
Electricity Usage – 205,286.7 

Carbon emissions – 101,466.03 
(Conv. Factor 0.494265) 

£32,317.66 

Gas Usage – 356,851 
Carbon emissions – 66,007.8 
(Conv. Factor 0.184973) 

£11,692.44 

Water usage Units – 651.96 
(Estimate) 

£1,667.04 

Notes:  

 The above information has been provided by NHS Property Services 

 Water consumption calculation - water consumption has been calculated from costs on the basis 
of using a conversion factor of £2.55696 per cubic meter. This conversion figure is an average of 
ten water company charges for both Fresh Water supply and Sewerage processing from 2013 and 
2014 that supply NHS Property Services properties 

 Electric consumption calculation - where no details are available for electric consumption the 
consumption figures have been estimated using a conversion factor of 12.8 pence per unit. This 
conversion figure is based on an average taken from a representative sample of NHS Property 
Services properties 

 Gas consumption calculation - where no details are available for gas consumption the 
consumption figures have been estimated using a conversion factor of 2.4978 pence per KWh. 
This conversion figure is based on an average taken from a representative sample of NHS 
Property Services properties 

 
 
 

Equality report 

We are committed to ensuring that equality and diversity is part of everything that we do. 
We comply with the Equality Act 2010 which outlines the specific duties that the 
organisation has to meet, including: 
 

 publishing information to demonstrate their compliance with the equality duty 

at least annually; 

 setting equality objectives at least every four years. 

 
Equality delivery system 
The CCG have adopted the Equality Delivery System which focuses on four goals. 

These are: 

 

 Better health outcomes; 

 Improved patient access and experience; 

 A representative and supported workforce; 

 Inclusive leadership. 
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The framework is based around 18 outcomes which are grouped under the four goals 

above. We are required to submit evidence to reflect how well we are performing in 

respect of each of these outcomes for all 9 protected characteristics including age, 

disability, gender re-assignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 

maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  

 

In doing this, we have been able to identify areas of inequalities within the protected 

characteristic groups which has helped us identify any areas requiring further focus.  

These areas have helped us to shape our equality objectives which are: 

 

 Work with partners to improve the safety and quality of commissioned services 
across Sunderland 

 Ensure all patients and carers can be involved and that patient experience is 
captured and acted upon to inform service change and delivery where possible 

 Ensure we have sufficient organisational data to demonstrate that staff from all 
protected groups are paid equivocally and in line with pay levels for the 
organisation as a whole and that appropriate training has been given on equality 
and diversity matters 

 The governing body receives adequate assurance around equality and diversity 
including the equality objectives, strategy and progress towards achievement 

 
A detailed action plan has been developed to ensure that we deliver on these objectives 
and progress against them is monitored by the executive committee.   
 

Equality analysis 
Equality analysis is a legal requirement under the Equality Act 2010 and the public 
sector equality duty and is a process of systematically analysing a new or existing policy 
or strategy to identify what effect or likely effect will follow as a result of its 
implementation for different groups within the community. It can also be used as a 
mechanism for analysing the impact of a whole service or one aspect of the service. 

 
 
Gender profile  
The balance of staff in the CCG by gender in 2014/15 was: 
 

 Male Female 

Governing body members 7 5 

Directors 3 2 

CCG employees 23 56 
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Staff training  
Equality and Diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff. Those involved 
in recruitment are also required to undertake recruitment and selection training which 
includes awareness of equality and diversity legislation. 

 
Diversity matters newsletter  
During the year, the North of England Commissioning Support Service (from whom we 
buy equality and diversity support) produced a quarterly newsletter to provide up-to-date 
information on relevant equality, diversity and human rights legislation and 
developments.  This was circulated to all staff within the CCG. 
 
 

Certification of strategic report 
As chief officer (accountable officer) for the CCG, I certify that the clinical commissioning 
group has complied with the statutory duties laid down in the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended).  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
David Gallagher  
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer)  
26 May 2015  
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Members report 

Details of members of the membership body and 

governing body 

The CCG’s constitution sets out the terms by which we, through our appointed members, 
elected GP executives and governing body, implement all statutory obligations including 
the commissioning of secondary health care and other services for Sunderland. The 
constitution was agreed and signed by all member practices in August 2012, updated in 
November 2013 and again in January 2015 to reflect the forthcoming additional 
responsibilities for primary medical care co-commissioning. The constitution contains the 
main governance rules of the CCG and governing body. 

 
Each member practice sits within one of five locality regeneration groups as follows: 

 Coalfields 

 Sunderland East 

 Sunderland North 

 Sunderland West 

 Washington 

 
Each of the localities has a lead GP elected by the GPs of Sunderland (who is also a 
member of the executive committee) as well as an assigned practice manager and 
practice nurse. The locality teams also work in close partnership with the local authority 
and local patients. 
 
The CCG covers the whole of the city of Sunderland as shown on the following page: 
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The member practices within each locality are as follows: 
 
 

Coalfields Locality Practices  

Hetton Group Practice  DH5 9EZ 

Herrington Medical Centre  DH4 4LE 

Kepier Medical Practice  DH4 5EQ 

Houghton Medical Group  DH4 4DN 

Grangewood Surgery  DH4 4RB 

Westbourne Medical Group  DH4 4RW 

Sunderland East Locality Practices  

Deerness Park SR2 8AD 

Dr S M Bhate and Dr H El-Shakankery  SR1 2HJ 

Villette Surgery  SR2 8AX 

The New City Medical Group  SR1 2QB 

Ashburn Medical Centre SR2 8JG 

Park Lane Practice  SR2 7BA 

Southlands Medical Group  SR2 0RX 

Conishead Medical Group  SR2 0RY 

Eden Terrace Surgery  SR2 7PF 

Nathan Jr  SR1 1XW 

Sunderland North Locality Practices  

Red House Medical Centre SR5 5PS 

Roker Family Practice  SR6 0HT 

Fulwell Medical Centre  SR6 8DZ 

St.Bede Medical Centre   SR6 0QQ 

Drs Cloak, Choi and Milligan  SR5 2LT 

Castletown Medical Centre  SR5 3EX 

Dr Gelia and Dr Balaraman  SR6 0AB 

Dr R Obonna SR5 2LT 

Dr Weatherhead and associates  SR5 2LT 

Sunderland West Locality Practices  

Dr Shetty and Partners  SR4 7XF 

Pallion Family Practice  SR4 7XF 

Village Surgery  SR3 2AN 

Millfield Medical Group  SR4 7AF 

The Old Forge Surgery  SR4 6QE  

The Broadway Medical Practice  SR3 4HG 

Springwell Medical Group  SR3 4HG 

Springwell House  SR3 1RN 

Hylton Medical Group  SR4 7ZF 

Colliery Medical Group  SR3 2AN 

Happy House  SR3 4BY 

http://www.theoldforgesurgery.nhs.uk/contact1.aspx?p=A89020
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Church View Medical Centre SR3 2AW 

South Hylton Surgery  SR4 0LS 

Pennywell Medical Centre  SR4 9AS 

Chester Surgery  SR4 7TU 

Drs Vakhara and Hedge  NE38 7NQ 

Dr Stephenson and Partners NE37 2PU 

Dr Dixit’s Practice  NE38 7NQ 

Concord Medical Practice  NE37 2PU 

Encompass Health Care  NE38 7NQ 

Victoria Medical Practice  NE38 7NQ 

Intrahealth Barmston Medical Group  NE38 8JF 

Rickleton Medical Centre  NE38 9EH 

Harraton Surgery  NE38 9AB 

Dr Thomas  NE37 2PU 

Dr N J Bhatt and Dr H M Benn  NE37 2PU 

 
 
 

Chair and accountable officer 
The chair of the CCG during 2014/15 was Dr Ian Pattison who is a practicing GP within 

Sunderland.  Dr Pattison was re-elected in March 2014 to serve as an executive GP and 

chair for a further four year term. 

 
David Gallagher is the chief officer of the CCG a position which includes the role of 

accountable officer. 

 
 

The committee structure of the CCG 
The diagram on the following page shows the committee structure of the CCG: 
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Quality, Safety & Risk Committee 
 

(chaired by lay member, PPI) 
 

 

Audit Committee 
 

(chaired by lay 
member, audit) 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

(chaired by leader of 
Sunderland City Council) 

 
 

Governing Body 
 

(chaired by GP executive)  
 

Executive Committee 
 

(chaired by chief officer) 

Remuneration Committee 
 

(chaired by lay member, 
audit) 

 

Transformation Board  
 

(chaired by chief officer)  
  

CCG Member Practices 
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The governing body is made up of the following members: 

 Executive GP chair (elected) 

 Executive GP vice chair (elected) 

 Executive GP x4 (elected) 

 Chief officer 

 Chief finance officer 

 Director of nursing, quality and safety 

 Lay member, audit and non-clinical vice chair 

 Lay member, patient and public involvement  

 Secondary care clinician 
 
In addition to the above members, the following are regular non-voting attendees and 
participants to the governing body meeting: 

 Director of public health, Sunderland City Council 

 Executive director of people, Sunderland City Council 

 Medical director 

 Director of commissioning, planning and reform 

 Executive practice manager 
 

There is also the provision within the CCG’s constitution for a patient representative to attend 
the governing body and discussions are underway with Healthwatch Sunderland about how to 
fill this. 

 
The audit committee was established in accordance with the CCG’s constitution. The terms 
of reference set out the membership, remit, responsibilities and reporting arrangements of 
the committee. 
 
Membership of the committee consists of: 

 Lay member, audit and governance (chair) 

 Lay member, patient and public involvement 

 Independent audit support  
 

Please refer to the chief officer’s governance statement section for details of members of the 
other CCG committees. 
 
Please refer to the governing body profiles section of the remuneration report for details of 
conflicts of interest. 
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Pension liabilities 

Pension liabilities are treated in the accounts in line with the accounting policies in note 4 of 
the annual accounts. 
 

Sickness absence 

 

Average of 12 
months  

(2014 calendar 
yes) 

 

Average FTE 
2014 

 

FTE Days 
Available 

 

FTE days Lost to 
sickness absence  

Average Sick 
Days per FTE 

 

2.9% 71.77 24,172.97 708.60 9.9 

 

*Note:  the above sickness and absence data is based on the calendar year as per the Department of 
Health guidance. 

 
 

External audit 

The Audit Commission appointed Mazars LLP as the CCG’s external auditor for the years 
2013/14 to 2016/17.  The 2014/15 audit fee was £90,000 plus VAT.  

 
 

Disclosure of serious untoward incidents 

The CCG has not had any serious incidents or serious information breaches during the year. 
 

Cost allocation and setting of charges for information 

We certify that the CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and 
the setting of charges for information. 

 

Principles for remedy 

The CCG complaints policy and procedure has been developed and updated in line with 
current legislation and statutory requirements and best practice. This includes adopting the 
principles as outlined in the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman’s principles of 
good complaints handling, principles of good administration and principles of remedy. 
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Employee consultation 

The CCG continued to promote an open and transparent culture with all of its employees. 
Monthly staff briefings are held, led by the chief officer, to share key information and updates 
on the work of the governing body and its committees as well as provide a forum for staff to 
raise any issues or concerns. 

 
In addition, quarterly staff events are held to enable staff to review key topics in more detail 
and to seek their views and input into key planning and developments. 
Regular updates on the CCG’s performance are also included in the briefings and staff 
events, as well as feedback and actions identified as a result of the staff survey. 

 
The CCG is a member of the North East and Cumbria staff partnership forum. The forum is 
coordinated by the human resources team within the North of England Commissioning 
Support Service (who provide human resources advice and support) and includes 
representation from all CCGs across in the North East and Cumbria, human resources 
advisors and the recognised unions. 

 

Disabled employees 

We ensure that our headquarters building and the public buildings of service providers are 
accessible for people with a disability by ensuring all buildings have had disability access 
audits.    

 
We have also maintained the two tick ‘positive about disabled people’ symbol awarded by 
Jobcentre Plus which demonstrates our continued commitment to employ, retain and develop 
the abilities of disabled staff. 

 
Information for patients and the general public is available in other languages or formats such 
as large print or Braille and audio, upon request. 
 

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response 

The CCG has a business continuity plan in place which is fully compliant with NHS England’s 
Emergency Preparedness Framework 2013.  The plan sets out the necessary process for staff 
to follow in the event of a business continuity incident and includes key contacts to support this.  
In addition, the CCG has completed business impact analysis for all its key functions and used 
these to prioritise which activities would need to be continued in the event of such an incident.  
The CCG is also a member of the Local Health Resilience Forum; however as a category 2 
responder, the CCG is not required to have a major incident plan. 

 

Statement of disclosure to auditors 

Each individual who is, or was, a member of the governing body in the year covered by this 
report confirmed that, as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the clinical commissioning group’s external auditors is unaware.  Each member confirmed 
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they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the clinical 
commissioning group’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

David Gallagher  

Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 
26 May 2015 
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Remuneration report 

Remuneration committee 

The remuneration committee is accountable to the CCG’s governing body and makes 
recommendations to the governing body on the appropriate remuneration and terms and 
conditions for staff, including the chief officer and other senior managers paid through the 
very senior managers (VSM) pay framework including: 

 All aspects of salary 

 Provisions for other benefits, including pensions and cars 

 Arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual terms  
 
The committee also: 

 Provides advice and recommendations to the governing body on the appropriate 
remuneration and terms of employment for the roles of clinical chair, clinical vice chair 
and other clinical members of the governing body as well as any lay members 

 Ensures there is proper calculation and scrutiny of termination payments, taking 
account national guidance as appropriate, and seeking HM Treasury approval as 
appropriate in accordance with the guidance ‘Managing Public Money’ 

 Determines the remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people 
who provide services to the CCG and would determine allowances under any pension 
scheme should the CCG establish an alternative to the NHS pension scheme 

 
The committee membership comprises of the lay member for audit, lay member for patient 
and public involvement and the CCG chair.  In addition a human resources advisor attends 
the committee to provide specialist advice and other individuals may be invited to attend for 
all or part of a meeting as deemed appropriate.  The chair of the committee is the lay 
member for audit. 
 
The committee has met once during the year and made recommendations to the governing 
body on the remuneration and terms and condition of service for the following: 

 Lay members;  

 Independent audit support  

 Cost of living increases for CCVG employed staff on VSM salaries and therefore not 
covered by national Agenda for Change 
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Policy on remuneration of senior managers 

The policy for remuneration of very senior managers within the CCG is in line with the 
national VSM pay framework, taking into account Sunderland is a medium sized CCG at a 
level two. 

 
All other senior managers are remunerated in line with Agenda for Change requirements. 

 

Policy on senior managers’ contracts 

All senior manager contracts, specifying terms and conditions of service are in line with the 
VSM pay framework or Agenda for Change as appropriate.
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Salaries and allowances (has been subject to audit) 

 
 
 
 

Salary

 

(bands of 

£5000)

Taxable 

Benefits

(to nearest 

£100)

Performance 

Pay and 

Bonuses 

(bands of 

£5000)

Long term 

Performance 

Pay and 

Bonuses 

(bands of 

£5000)

All Pension-

Related 

Beneifts 

(bands of 

£2500)

Total 

Remuneration 

 

(bands of 

£5000)

Salary

 

(bands of 

£5000)

Taxable 

Benefits

(to nearest 

£100)

Performance 

Pay and 

Bonuses 

(bands of 

£5000)

Long term 

Performance 

Pay and 

Bonuses 

(bands of 

£5000)

All Pension-

Related 

Beneifts 

(bands of 

£2500)

Total 

Remuneration 

 

(bands of 

£5000)

£000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Ian Pattison Clinical Chair 60 - 65 - - - 17.5 - 20 80 - 85 60 - 65 - - - 175 - 177.5 235 - 240

David Gallagher Chief Officer 115 - 120 62 - - 7.5 - 10 125 - 130 115 - 120 59 - - 110 - 112.5 230 - 235

Dr Geoff Stephenson Note 8 Medical Director 50 - 55 37 - - - 55 - 60 50 - 55 37 - - - 55 - 60

Debbie Burnicle

Director Of Commissioning, Planning 

And Reform 85 - 90 79 - - 37.5 - 40 135 - 140 85 - 90 77 - - 45 - 47.5 135 - 140

Chris Macklin Note 8 Chief Finance Officer 65 - 70 44 - - - 70 - 75 65 - 70 44 - - - 70 - 75

Ann Fox Note 1 Director Of Nursing, Quality And Safety 55 - 60 75 - - 42.5 - 45 110 - 115 50 - 55 62 - - 132.5 - 135 230 - 235

Dr Iain Gilmour Note 2 Executive GP & Clinical Vice Chair 45 - 50 - - - 290 - 292.5 335 - 340

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP & Governance / Public 

Patient Involvement (PPI) Lead 30 - 35 - - - 40 - 42.5 70 - 75 30 - 35 - - - 197.5 - 200 225 - 230

Dr Henry Choi

Executive GP & Clinical Effectiveness 

Lead 30 - 35 - - - 0 - 2.5 30 - 35 30 - 35 - - - 237.5 - 240 270 - 275

Dr Jackie Gillespie Executive GP & Prescribing Lead 30 - 35 - - - 7.5 - 10 40 - 45 30 - 35 - - - 177.5 - 180 210 - 215

Dr Valerie Taylor

Executive GP & Executive Lead For 

Clinical Leads 55 - 60 - - - 7.5 - 10 65 - 70 35 - 40 - - - 10 - 12.5 45 - 50

Dr Tracey Lucas Note 3 & Note 7 Executive GP & Urgent Care Lead 25 - 30 - - - 170 - 172.5 200 - 205

Gloria Middleton Note 8 Practice Manager Representative 20 - 25 - - - - 20 - 25 20 - 25 - - - 115 - 117.5 135 - 140

Florence Gunn Note 4 & Note 7 Strategic Practice Nurse 15 - 20 - - - 250 - 252.5 270 - 275 10 - 15 - - - - 10 - 15

Aileen Sullivan Note 8

Lay Member, Public Patient Involvement 

(PPI) 10 - 15 6 - - - 10 - 15 10 - 15 5 - - - 10 - 15

Pat Taylor Note 8

Lay Member, Vice Chair And Chair Of 

The Audit Committee 10 - 15 15 - - - 15 - 20 10 - 15 17 - - - 10 - 15

Neil Weddle Note 5 & Note 8 Independent Audit Support 0 - 5 - - - - 0 - 5

Prof. Mike Bramble Note 8 Secondary Care Clinician 30 - 35 13 - - - 30 - 35 30 - 35 8 - - - 30 - 35

Scott Watson Note 8 Head Of Contracting 80 - 85 35 - - - 85 - 90 75 - 80 32 - - - 80 - 85

Ian Holliday

Head Of Service Reform And Joint 

Commissioning 70 - 75 7 - - 32.5 - 35 105 - 110 65 - 70 5 - - 32.5 - 35 100 - 105

David Chandler Head Of Finance 75 - 80 42 - - 50 - 52.5 130 - 135 60 - 65 34 - - 40 - 42.5 105 - 110

Deanna Lagun Note 6 Head Of Safeguarding 0 - 5 2 - - 55-57.5 110 - 115

Notes

Note 1 A Fox 40% of WTE is spent working for South Tyneside CCG. Pension remuneration reported relates to 1 WTE. Full salary for 2014/15 is in the £95k - £100k band. Total remuneration band for 2013/14 included full time salary.

Note 2 I Gilmour left post on 31 March 2014. Note 3 T Lucas commenced post on 1 April 2014.

Note 4 Independent Contractor in 2013/14 only. Note 5 N Weddle commenced post on 1 April 2014.

Note 6 D Lagun included within the 2013/14 report as formed part of the Governing Body for the month of April 2013. Total remuneration band for 2013/14 included full year salary. 

Note 7 The previous officer posts held by T Lucas and F Gunn were significantly minor in comparion to their current role held in the CCG and therefore these officers accrued relatively low pension benefits in prior years. This has led to the 

Pension Related Benefits for these employees showing a large increase when reported by the NHS Pension Agency in 2014/15 as the pension accrued to individuals is based on the final salaries of members. 

Note 8 G Stephenson, C Macklin, G Middleton, A Sullivan, P Taylor, N Weddle, M Bramble and S Watson are not in the NHS Pension Scheme.

Taxable Benefits Taxable benefits include lease car allowances and mileage claims. 

Please note that the Pension Related Benefits include all benefits accruing to senior managers from membership of the NHS Pensions Scheme which is a defined benefit scheme where annual pension entitlements for retired individuals are

based on their final salary. The disclosed amounts represent the increase in pension entitlement upon retiring for individuals and do not represent a cash payment made to individuals in the financial year. 

Please note that bandings utilised in the table for each area of remuneration differ in line with national guidance

Name Title 2014/15 2013/14
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Pension benefits (has been subject to audit)
NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2014/15

Name Title Real 

Increase in 

pension at 

age 60 

(bands of 

£2500)

 Real 

increase in 

Pension 

Lump Sum 

at aged 60 

(bands of 

£2500) 

Total 

accrued 

pension at 

age 60 at 31 

March 2015 

(bands of 

£5000)

Lump Sum 

at aged 60 

related to 

accrued 

pension at 

31 March 

2015 (bands 

of £5000)

Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer 

Value at  1 

April 2014

Real 

increase in 

cash 

equivalent 

transfer 

value

Cash 

Equivalent 

Transfer 

Value at 31 

March 2015

Employers 

contribution 

to 

stakeholder 

pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Ian Pattison Clinical Chair 0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 10 - 15 30 - 35 131 20 154 9

David Gallagher Chief Officer 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 40 - 45 125 - 130 743 27 790 16

Dr Geoff Stephenson Note 1 Medical Director - - - - - - - -

Debbie Burnicle

Director Of Commissioning, Planning 

And Reform 0 - 2.5 5 - 7.5 30 - 35 90 - 95 533 48 596 13

Chris Macklin Note 1 Chief Finance Officer - - - - - - - -

Ann Fox Director Of Nursing, Quality And Safety 0 - 2.5 5 - 7.5 35 - 40 110 - 115 575 90 681 14

Dr Gerry McBride

Executive GP & Governance / Public 

Patient Involvement (PPI) Lead 0 - 2.5 5 - 7.5 20 - 25 60 - 65 401 52 464 4

Dr Henry Choi

Executive GP & Clinical Effectiveness 

Lead 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 10 - 15 35 - 40 243 10 259 4

Dr Jackie Gillespie Executive GP & Prescribing Lead 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 5 - 10 25 - 30 146 6 156 4

Dr Valerie Taylor

Executive GP & Executive Lead For 

Clinical Leads 0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5  0 - 5 0 - 5 10 9 20 8

Dr Tracey Lucas Note 2 Executive GP & Urgent Care Lead 5 - 7.5 20 - 22.5 10 - 15 40 - 45 115 86 204 4

Gloria Middleton Note 1 Practice Manager Representative - - - - - - - -

Florence Gunn Note 2 Strategic Practice Nurse 10 - 12.5 32.5 - 35 20 - 25 65 - 70 202 208 415 3

Aileen Sullivan Note 1

Lay Member, Public Patient Involvement 

(PPI) - - - - - - - -

Pat Taylor Note 1

Lay Member, Vice Chair And Chair Of 

The Audit Committee - - - - - - - -

Neil Weddle Note 1 Independent Audit Support - - - - - - - -

Prof. Mike Bramble Note 1 Secondary Care Clinician - - - - - - - -

Scott Watson Note 1 Head Of Contracting - - - - - - - -

Ian Holliday

Head Of Service Reform And Joint 

Commissioning 0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5 30 - 35 90 - 95 592 49 657 10

David Chandler Head Of Finance 0 - 2.5 5 - 7.5 20 - 25 60 - 65 275 42 324 11

Notes

Note 1 G Stephenson, C Macklin, G Middleton, A Sullivan, P Taylor, N Weddle, M Bramble and S Watson are not in the NHS Pension Scheme.

Note 2 Pension contributions from previous officer posts held by individuals were significantly minor in comparison to their current role held in the CCG. This has led

to a significant increase in the reported figures for the real increase in CETV for these individuals.
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Pay multiples (has been subject to audit) 

 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director/Member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation's workforce. 
 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member of NHS Sunderland CCG in the 
financial year 2014/15 was £120,000 - £125,000 (2013/14, £120,000 - £125,000).  This was 
3.08 times (2013/14: 3.12 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£39,239 (2013/14: £39,239). 
 

In 2014/15, 0 (2013/14: 0) employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid 
member/Director. Remuneration ranged from £4,110 to £89,705 (2013/14: £7,118 to 
£124,622). The remuneration comparator for 2013/14 included the highest paid director and 
should have stated the salary range as from £7,118 to £82,040. 
 

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-
kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension contributions and 
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

 

 
 

The 2013/14 ratio calculation was based on the midpoint of the banded remuneration of the 
highest-paid member/Director rather than the actual salary of the highest-paid member/ 
Director as per the 2014/15 ratio calculation. If calculated on the actual salary of the highest-
paid member/Director the ratio would have been reported as 3.18. 
 
There has been a reduction in the ratio of the median remuneration of the workforce in 
comparison to the highest paid director/Member. This is due to a reduction in the taxable 
allowances of the highest paid director/Member in 2014/15 in comparison to 2013/14. 

 

2014/15 Highest Paid Director/Member: 

Chief Officer         120 – 125 

 

2013/14 Highest Paid Director/Member: 
Chief Officer 120 - 125 
 
 
 

2014/15 2013/14

Band of Highest Paid Director/Member Total Remuneration (£'000) 120 - 125 120 - 125

Median Total Remuneration (£) 39,239 39,239

Ratio 3.08 3.12
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Off payroll engagements disclosure 

Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that lasted 

longer than six months: 

 Number 

Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015 0 

The number that have existed :   

 For less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

 For between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

 For between two and three years at the time of reporting 0 

 For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 

 For four or more years at the time of reporting 0 

 

All existing off-payroll engagements, have at some point been subject to a risk based 

assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right 

amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. 

 

New off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, for more than £220 

per day and that lasted longer than six months: 

 

 Number 

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months 
in duration, between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 

0 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the 
CCG the right to request assurance in relation to income tax and 
national insurance obligations 

0 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 0 

Of which, the number  

 For whom assurance has been received 0 

 For whom assurance has not been received 0 

 That have been terminated as a result of assurance not 
being received 

0 

 
             Number 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or 
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the  
year 

0 

Number of individuals deemed ‘board members, and/or senior 
officers with significant financial responsibility’, during the financial 
year.  This figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll 
engagements 

20 
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Membership body and governing body profiles 

 

Membership body 
The CCG has five localities as described in the members’ report.  Each member practice is 
part of a locality and has a lead GP as well as a lead practice manager and practice nurse. 
The locality teams also work in close partnership with the local authority and local patients. 
 

Governing body profiles  

Dr Ian Pattinson, executive GP and clinical chair 

Passionate about ensuring patients receive the best care available, Ian has been a GP at the 
Southland Medical Centre in Ryhope since 2001. With previous commissioning experience 
gained at Wearside Commissioning Group, Ian was elected to the CCG as chair in 2011. He 
is a member of the governing body, executive committee and Sunderland health and 
wellbeing Board. 

 
David Gallagher, chief officer 
With previous experience of working with CCGs in Newcastle, Gateshead, County Durham 
and Darlington, David has been involved with the NHS in both clinical and strategic roles.  He 
has lived locally all his life and has extensive management experience including in hospitals 
and commissioning. He started his career in 1982 at Sunderland Royal Infirmary and joined 
the CCG as chief officer in 2012. 

 
Chris Macklin, chief finance officer 
Chris has worked in the NHS since 1975, becoming director of finance for NHS South of Tyne 
and Wear in 2006.  He is a governor of Gateshead College and chairs their audit committee.  
In 2009 he was awarded a fellowship by Healthcare Financial Management Association 
(HFMA) in recognition of his contribution to HFMA and the development of NHS Accounting 
Standards. Chris retired from his post as chief finance officer at the end of 2014/15. 

 
Dr Geoff Stephenson, medical director (non-voting) 
Originally from London, Geoff Stephenson qualified from Newcastle Medical School in 1974 
and decided to develop his career in the North East. He is the senior partner in a large GP 
teaching practice in Washington where he has practiced since 1978. He has held many 
senior posts within the NHS and was appointed medical director for the CCG in April 2013. 

 
Debbie Burnicle, director of planning, commissioning and reform (non-voting) 
Debbie has spent most of her career working in Sunderland, working across both health and 
social services.  She has worked in Sunderland City Council in planning and commissioning 
social care services for the children and adults before becoming deputy director of 
commissioning within NHS South of Tyne and Wear.  Debbie later took on responsibility for 
preparing the CCG to become a statutory clinical commissioning body before taking up her 
current role. 
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Ann Fox, director of nursing, quality and safety 
As a registered nurse and with a career in the NHS spanning 30 years, Ann has always been 
an advocate for improving the quality of patient care, their safety and overall experience. She 
has been instrumental in developing new services and clinical pathways in areas such as 
haematology and palliative care, in her role as nurse director for the North of England Cancer 
Network. Prior to her current role, Ann was director of clinical care and patient safety at the 
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
Prof. Mike Bramble, secondary care clinician 
Professor Mike Bramble is a part-time consultant gastroenterologist at the James Cook 
University Hospital in Middleborough. His career spans 31 years and he has a range of 
experience and has advised the government on areas relating to endoscopy. He retired in 
June 2010 and returned to part-time clinical and academic work. He became one of several 
HQIP clinical champions in 2011 and was appointed to the governing body of the CCG in 
2013. 

 
Dr Jackie Gillespie, Coalfield locality executive GP lead 
Jackie has been a GP in Sunderland for 17 years and has been the lead GP for prescribing 
within the CCG since March 2011.  Jackie was previously a member of the prescribing team 
for a Sunderland practice-based commissioning group during which time she built strong links 
with NHS South of Tyne and Wear medicines management t eam and Sunderland Primary 
Care Prescribing Group. 

 
Dr Gerry McBride, Sunderland East locality executive GP lead 
Gerry has been a GP in Monkwearmouth for 27 years, having helped the practice to develop 
and increase the range of services they offer to their practice population. Gerry has previous 
experience in commissioning as a member and later chair of the Wearside Commissioning 
Group. He has an interest in medical education and continuing professional development for 
doctors. 

 
Dr Valerie Taylor, Sunderland North locality executive GP lead and clinical vice-chair 
Valerie was elected to the post of executive GP in 2013, and is lead GP for Sunderland 
North. She is also involved in leading work on enhancing the quality of life of patients with 
long term conditions. Since 2012 she has been working as the lead for musculoskeletal 
problems for the CCG. Valerie is also on the Local Medical Committee, currently as vice 
chair. She was the representative for the Royal College of GPs for the North East on the 
national council from 2005 to 2008. 

 
Dr Tracey Lucas, Sunderland West locality executive GP lead 
Dr Lucas moved to the North East after graduating from Glasgow in 1999 to pursue a career 
in paediatric medicine. She qualified as a GP in in 2005 and now works as a partner and GP 
trainer in a teaching practice in Washington. She acted as the clinical lead for Sunderland’s 
111 service before being elected to the post of executive GP in April 2014. 

 
Dr Henry Choi, Washington locality executive GP lead 
Henry has been a partner at Southwick Health Centre since 1990 and the Sunderland 
diabetes and cancer lead for the last 10 years. Henry was elected to the post of executive GP 
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in 2011. His current role as clinical effectiveness lead is to support practices and the CCG to 
deliver safe, effective, patient-focused care and services. 

 
Aileen Sullivan, lay member (public and patient involvement) 
After beginning her career as a nurse and midwife, Aileen moved into the education of health 
professionals. She became a principal lecturer at Northumbria University in 1995 and then 
the director of practice placements. Aileen was actively involved in research projects looking 
at the care older people received in nursing homes. After leaving Northumbria she became a 
non-executive director for Sunderland Teaching Primary Care Trust. 

 
Pat Taylor, lay member (audit) and non-clinical vice chair  
Pat has worked in the NHS for over 30 years and for the last 20 years as a director of 
finance, holding posts across all types of NHS organisations. Latterly she was the director of 
finance of both County Durham and Darlington Primary Care Trusts.  Pat has previously 
worked in North of Tyne, Yorkshire, Cambridgeshire, Durham and Darlington and has 
covered a wide portfolio of roles including child health, estates, risk and corporate 
governance and investment planning.  Pat has a long-term interest in staff development and 
was previously the North East chair of the Building Leadership Capacity Board. 

Gloria Middleton, executive practice manager (non-voting) 
Gloria has held various regional and national positions including Local Medical Committee 
practice manager representative, national chair of the Primary Care Sector Institute of 
Healthcare Management and chair of Sunderland practice managers’ group. She has been a 
non-clinical partner at Westbourne Medical Group since 1992.  Her role as within the CCG 
includes learning disabilities, patient and public involvement and communications. 
 
 

Non-voting members of the governing body paid by other organisations  
 
Neil Revely, Executive Director of People 
Neil has many years of local government experience, especially in social care and housing.  
Much of his early career was spent in County Durham and he subsequently became director 
in Sunderland in 2007. He is particularly known for his work on strategic commissioning, 
supported housing and creating innovative community solutions for independent living.  Neil 
is now executive director in the People Directorate Sunderland City Council. 
 
Nonnie Crawford, director of public health 
Nonnie was director of public health during 2014-15 until December 2014 when she retired. 
 
Gillian Gibson, associate director of public health 
Gillian has lived in Sunderland most of her life and worked for the NHS since 1984 until 2013 
when responsibility for public health transferred to local government.  She is a registered 
public health specialist and has been a consultant in public health in Sunderland since 2011, 
taking responsibility for the integration of public health services.  She became acting director 
of public health in April 2015.   
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Declared interests and conflicts 

Position held 
on CCG 

Governing 
Body 

Surname Forename Self/Status Company/Organisation Brief Details of Interest 

Members 

Clinical Chair Pattison  Ian  

Self Southlands Medical Group Partner 

Wife 
 

GP. Portfolio covering various 
providers including CQC and NHS 
England. 

Lay Vice Chair Taylor  Pat 

Self 

Taylor Associates (P&G) Ltd 
Hummersknott Multi-school Academy, 
Darlington 
Accenture 
 

Director 
Director 
Subject matter expert (SME) (ad hoc 
basis) 
 

Husband 
North of England Commissioning Support 
(NECS) 

Commissioning Support Officer 

Lay member Sullivan  Aileen Self Sunderland CCG Lay member. Nothing to declare. 

 
GP Executive 

 
Lucas 

 
Tracy 

 
Self 
 

 
Encompass Healthcare Washington 

 
GP 

GP Executive McBride Gerry  

Self 
St Bede’s Medical Centre 
Dr G McBride & Co Ltd (Companies 
House number: 02563750) 

GP Partner 
Company director and shareholder 

Wife NHS Hospital Trust, Newcastle Specialist Midwife 

GP Executive Taylor  Valerie Self 
Kepier Medical Practice 
Committee member of Sunderland LMC 

Salaried GP 
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GP Executive Gillespie Jacqueline 

Self Millfield Medical Centre Partner 

Husband Dr PM 
Peverley 

Old Forge Surgery Partner 

GP Executive Choi Henry  Self 
Southwick Health Centre 
Macmillan 
Sunderland Diabetes Support Group 

Partner 
Adopted GP 
President 

Secondary care 
clinician  

Bramble Mike Self 
South Tees Hospitals NHS Trust 
Durham University 

 
 
Part time medical consultant 
Visiting Professor  
 
 
 

Chief Officer Gallagher David 
Self Sunderland CCG Nothing to declare 

Daughter Specsavers, Peterlee Store manager 

Chief Finance 
Officer 

 Macklin 
Christopher
  

 Self 

 
 
Gateshead College 
Zero Carbon Futures (owned by 
Gateshead College) 
Charge Your Car (owned by Gateshead 
College) 

Governor and Chair of Audit 
Committee 
Director 
Director  

Director of 
Nursing, Quality 
and Safety  

Fox Ann Self 

My New Hair 
Communication Equation 
RCN Northern Regional Board 
South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning 
Group 
Faculty of Health and Life Sciences, 
Northumbria University 
 

Chair of Trustees 
Company Director 
Board Member 
Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety 
Senior Advisor 

In attendance  

Executive 
Practice 
Manager 

Middleton Gloria Self Westbourne Medical Group 

Non clinical Partner 
CQC Specialist Advisor 
NEAS Community First Responder 
Blue Rover Consultancy (1 off session 
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May 2014) 
Sunderland People First Specialist 
Advisor 

Medical Director Stephenson Geoff Self Victoria Road Health Centre Managing Partner 

Director of 
Public Health 

Crawford Nonnie Self Sunderland City Council 
Director/ Employee of Sunderland City 
Council 

Director of 
Commissioning 
Planning and 
Reform 

Burnicle Debbie 

Self Sunderland CCG  Nothing to declare 

Step daughter UK Independent Medical Potential for commissioned service 

Sunderland City 
Council 
Representative 

Revely Neil Self Sunderland City Council 
Executive Director of People, including 
health, housing and adult services/ 
Employee of Sunderland City Council. 

Head of 
Corporate 
Affairs 

Cornell Deborah  Self Sunderland CCG  Nothing to declare 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

David Gallagher  
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 
26 May 2015 
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Statements by the Accountable 

Officer 

Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each CCG shall have an 
accountable officer and that officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board 
(NHS England). NHS England has appointed the chief officer to be the accountable officer of 
NHS Sunderland CCG. 

 
The responsibilities of an accountable officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and 
regularity of the public finances for which the accountable officer is answerable, for keeping 
proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the CCG and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
requirements of the accounts direction) and for safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), 
are set out in the CCG’s accountable officer appointment letter. 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each 
CCG to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis set 
out in the accounts direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and 
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the clinical commissioning group and of 
its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, the accountable officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in 
particular to: 

 

 Observe the accounts direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts 
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial statements; and, 

 Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set 

out in my CCG accountable officer appointment letter. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
David Gallagher  

Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 

 
 

Governance Statement by the chief Officer as the 

accountable officer of NHS Sunderland CCG 

 
I am pleased to introduce the annual governance statement for NHS Sunderland CCG (the 
CCG) to reflect our second year as a statutory body. 

 

Introduction 
The CCG was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the Health & Social 
Care Act 2012, which amended the NHS Act 2006. 

 
The CCG is the statutory body responsible for planning, purchasing and monitoring the 
delivery and quality of most of the local NHS healthcare and health services for the people of 
Sunderland. We are made up of doctors, nurses, other health professionals with 
management support and lay members.  

 
The CCG is a membership organisation and all 51 GP practices in Sunderland are members.  
We are a clinically led organisation and the membership elected 6 GPs, one of which is the 
CCG Chair, to lead the CCG on their behalf and work as part of the governing body. We also 
have a number of other clinical professionals working with us on key areas of improvement 
and development. 

 
The governing body and its formal committees are responsible for setting the strategy for 
health improvement for Sunderland and ensured the CCG delivered the improvements we 
set out in our commissioning plans. By doing this, we worked very closely with other partners 
across the city of Sunderland to improve the overall wellbeing of our local people. 
 

Scope of responsibility 
As accountable officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public 
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Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my clinical commissioning Group 
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity. 
 

The governance framework of NHS Sunderland CCG 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states: 

 
‘The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted 
principles of good governance as are relevant to it.’ 

 
The CCG’s constitution sets out the terms by which the CCG, through its appointed 
members, elected GP executives and governing body, implements all statutory obligations 
including the commissioning of secondary health care and other services in Sunderland. The 
constitution contains the main governance rules of the CCG and governing body. 
 
The constitution was agreed and signed by all member practices in August 2012 as part of 
the CCG authorisation process and updated in November 2013.  A further amendment was 
made in January 2015 to reflect the changes in relation to additional primary medical care 
responsibilities the CCG will undertake as from 1 April 2015. 
 

The CCG continues take a locality approach across Sunderland and each member practice is 
in one of five localities as follows: 

 Coalfields 

 Sunderland East 

 Sunderland North 

 Sunderland West 

 Washington 

 
Each of the localities has a lead GP who is an elected executive and a member of the 
governing body and executive committee as well as an assigned practice manager and 
practice nurse. The locality teams also work in close partnership with the local authority and 
local patients. 
 
The CCG has met regularly with all of its member practices as part of the ‘time in time out’ 
clinical educational sessions which are held every other month.  We use this mechanism to 
help us communicate with all our members and keep them up to date on key developments 
around the work of the CCG and to obtain their views and feedback on key issues, 
improvements and future developments.   
 
We held our first public annual general meeting on 23 September 2014.  This gave us an 
opportunity to outline our key achievements during the year as well as what our priorities 
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were for coming year.  We also gave an overview of the CCG’s financial performance to 
demonstrate we had met our statutory duties in relation to this.   
 

We use our governance framework to lead and manage the achievement of our vision for 
‘Better Health for Sunderland’.   
 

We also use governance to lead and manage through our core values (and the public sector 
values of accountability, probity and openness) and our systems (such as governance 
structures and risk management systems).   
 
Details of our strategic objectives and core values can be found in the strategic report section 
of this annual report.   
 
We use governance as the system of control, accountability and decision-making at the 
highest level of the organisation.  The CCG governance framework comprises of the 
systems and processes, and the culture and values, by which the CCG is directed and 
controlled. It enables us to monitor the achievement of our strategic objectives and to 
consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective 
services for the residents of Sunderland in delivering our vision.  

 
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, 
aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to: 

 

 Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of policies, aims and objectives; 

 Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically 

 
The governance framework has been in place in the CCG for the whole of the year ended 
31 March 2015 and up to the date of the approval of the statement of accounts 

 
To ensure effective governance arrangements are in place within the CCG, the governing 
body and its sub-committees operate in such a way as to ensure it discharges its functions 
appropriately and all of the functions are managed effectively. 

 
In 2014/15, the governing body met on 8 occasions, 6 of which were in public.  The 
governing body also held 6 development sessions focusing on the effectiveness of the 
governing body, both as individual members and as a board, also to review specific topics in 
more detail, such as the Better Care Fund, our dementia strategy, conflicts of interest, co-
commissioning and our plans and priorities for the coming year. 

 
The governing body is made up of the following members: 

 Executive GP chair (elected) 

 Executive GP vice chair (elected) 

 Executive GP x 4 (elected) 
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 Chief officer 

 Chief finance officer 

 Director of nursing, quality and safety 

 Lay member, audit and non-clinical vice chair 

 Lay member, patient and public involvement 

 Secondary care clinician 

 
In addition, the following are regular non-voting attendees and participants to the Governing 
body meeting: 

 

 Medical director 

 Director of commissioning, planning and reform 

 Executive practice manager 

 Director of public health, Sunderland City Council 

 Executive director of people, Sunderland City Council 

 
The CCG governing body’s committee structure reflects guidance and best practice and 
includes an executive committee, audit committee, quality, safety and risk committee and a 
remuneration committee. Terms of reference have been agreed and reviewed for all these 
committees which outline their key responsibilities and accountabilities to the governing 
body.   
 
Agendas are structured to deal with strategic, performance, quality, assurance, risk and 
governance issues. These arrangements meet the requirements of best practice guidance in 
respect of risk management and ensure that a robust assurance framework is in place and 
consistently reviewed.  They also reflect the public service values of accountability, probity 
and openness and specify, as chief officer, my responsibility for ensuring these values are 
met within the CCG. 
 
The chart on the following page shows the governance structure of the CCG: 
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Committees of the CCG Governing body 
 

Executive Committee 
The executive committee is a management committee to support the CCG, its governing 
body and myself, as chief officer, in the discharge of the CCG’s functions. 
 

The committee assists the governing body in its duties to promote a comprehensive health 
service, reduce inequalities and promote innovation.  The remit of the committee includes 
contributing to the development and implementation of strategy, monitoring and delivery of 
statutory duties, operational, financial, contractual and clinical performance as well as 
ensuring the coordination and monitoring of risks and internal controls. It has authority to 
make decisions as set out within its terms of reference and the CCG’s scheme of reservation 
and delegation. 
 

Member ship of the committee includes: 

 CCG chief officer (Chair) 

 Chief finance officer 

 GP chair 

 Five elected GPs (locality lead roles) 

 Executive practice manager (localities) 

 Executive practice nurse (localities) 

 Director of nursing, quality and safety 
 

 

Commissioning and 
Corporate Affairs 

(chief officer) 

Quality, Safety & Risk Committee 
 

(chaired by lay member, PPI) 
 

 

Governance and 
Corporate Affairs  

 
head of corporate affairs  

 
Locality Groups x5 

  

Audit Committee 
 

(chaired by lay 
member, audit) 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

(chaired by leader of Sunderland 
City Council) 

Medicines Optimisation and 
Clinical Effectiveness  

 
medical director  

 

Finance and Contracting  
 

chief finance officer  

Commissioning and Planning  
 

director of  commissioning, 
planning and reform 

Quality and Safety  
 

director of nursing, 
quality and safety  

 

Governing Body 
 

(chaired by executive GP)  
 

Executive Committee 
 

(chaired by chief officer) 

Remuneration Committee 
 

 (chaired by lay member, audit) 
 

QIPP Steering 
Group 

 
(chaired by head 

of finance) 

Transformation Board  
  

(chaired by chief officer) 

CCG Member Practices 
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The following attend the committee on a regular basis but do not have a voting right, 
reflecting their independence: 

 Medical director 

 Director of commissioning and reform 

 Director of public health, Sunderland City Council 
 

 
Highlights from the committee 
The committee has met on a monthly basis throughout 2014/15 to discuss progress and 
development of the CCG’s commissioning agenda and make decisions relevant to this as 
appropriate and required. The committee has considered a number of strategies, project 
ideas, business cases, procurement proposals and service reforms.  The impact on 
improving outcomes for patients was the main priority as well as ensuring any financial 
implications were within the CCG’s financial budgets.  
 
The committee has also received regular reports on finance and performance issues, 
healthcare acquired infections, key issues and risks, public health developments, complaints, 
freedom of information requests and serious incidents, as well as monitoring progress 
against NHS England’s assurance framework for CCGs on behalf of the Governing body. 

 
Some of the key items considered by the committee include: 
 

 Two year operational plans 2014/15-2015/16 (including the Better Care Fund) 

 Child and adolescent mental health services 

 Community mental health pathways 

 Exercise on referral 

 Local incentive scheme 2014/15 

 Primary care co-commissioning 

 Changes to the urgent care centres 

 Prescribing 

 Career improvement scheme 

 Surge management proposal 

 Operational and resilience 

 Musculoskeletal services 

 Quality premium leadership development framework 2014/19 
 

 
The committee has also approved a number of policies and strategies for submission to the 
governing body including: 

 Commissioning plans (operational 2 year and strategic 5 year plans) 
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 Organisational development strategy 

 Business continuity plan 

 Information governance strategy 

 Communications strategy 
 
 
In addition to the formal monthly meetings, a number of development sessions were held 
during the year to enable the committee to focus on areas of development and key issues to 
provide additional assurance that these areas were being reviewed in more detail. The 
sessions were well attended by the members and included: 

 Development of the localities 

 Procurement 

 Development of the local incentive scheme 

 Planning and priorities 
 

There were a number of key challenges faced by the committee including: 

 Winter pressures, including A&E attendances 

 Urgent care centres mobilisation 

 Continuing healthcare retrospective claims 

 Performance of providers in relation to healthcare acquired infections 

 Ambulance waiting times 
 
 

Audit committee 
The audit committee’s terms of reference set out the membership, remit, responsibilities and 
reporting arrangements of the committee which are in accordance with the CCG’s 
constitution. 

 
The committee provided the governing body with assurance and an independent and 
objective view on their finance and governance systems and process (including risk 
management), financial information and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations 
governing the NHS in so far as they relate to finance and governance. The committee is a 
non-executive committee of the governing body.  It has no executive powers, other than 
those specifically delegated to it and as set out in the terms of reference. 

 
The committee and its terms of reference has paid due regard to the guidance contained 
within the NHS Audit Committee Handbook, NHS Codes of Conduct and Accountability and 
the Higgs Report. 

 
Membership of the committee consists of: 

 Lay member, audit and governance (chair) 
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 Lay member, patient and public involvement 

 Independent audit support 
 

Regular attendees to the committee include: 

 Chief finance officer 

 Director, Mazars (external audit) 

 Senior Manager, Mazars (external audit) 

 Head of internal audit 

 Internal audit manager 

 Head of finance 

 Head of corporate affairs 

 Counter fraud specialist 

 
The main work areas of the committee are: 

 Assurance framework, governance, risk management and control 

 Internal Audit 

 External Audit 

 Counter fraud 

 Other assurance functions 

 Management processes 

 Financial performance and reporting (including QIPP) 

 Service auditor reporting for third party assurances 

 Conflicts of interest  

 
Highlights from the Committee 
The committee has met 6 times (5 formal and 1 informal) during the year and its main role 
has been to review the internal systems and processes and to provide assurance to the 
governing body that these are fit for purpose. The committee is helped in this by the internal 
and external audit teams, together with the counter fraud team. 

 
During the year the committee has: 
 

 Received regular updates from both internal and external audit on their work, identified 
issues as appropriate and agreed action plans to address them 

 Agreed the strategic work programmes for both internal and external audit and 
counter fraud for the financial year 2014/15 

 Reviewed its terms of reference and the governing body assurance framework 
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 Received regular updates on the financial position of the CCG, together with 
achievement of the quality, innovation, production and prevention (QIPP) programme 

 Agreed a forward work programme 

 Briefed on the timetable and process for the preparation of the annual report and 
account 

 Received a formal report on the month 9 hard close exercise as part5 of the annual 
account process 

 Reviewed the conflicts of interest guidance published by NHS England in preparation 
for the CCG 

 Reviewed the CCG’s whistleblowing and speaking up on issues of concern policies in 
light of legislation changes 

 
The key challenges faced by the committee in 2014/15 have been: 

 Committee membership:  the independent audit support role has been reviewed and 
will now become a permanent role within the CCG.  This will be subject to a formal 
recruitment process.  This will ensure the committee is robust enough to take on 
auditor panel appointments following the abolition of the Audit Commission on 31 
March 2015 

 Assurances from North of England Commissioning Support (NECS):  the 6 month 
service auditor report identified some on-going assurance issues within NECS.  The 
committee received assurance from both internal and external audit that their work 
programmes would cover these issues to address any gaps in assurance  

 Primary care co-commissioning – as part of the CCG’s application for full delegated 
authority to commission primary medical services from 1 April 2015, the committee 
considered the revised conflict of interest guidance from NHS England and has 
ensured this has been captured in revised policies.  This work will continue into 
2015/16 as these new responsibilities become clearer 

 
 

Quality, Safety and Risk Committee 
The quality, safety and risk committee (QSRC) is responsible for ensuring the appropriate 
governance systems and processes are in place to commission, monitor and ensure the 
delivery of high quality, safe patient care in commissioned services and to facilitate, monitor 
and ensure quality improvement in general medical practice by working with NHS England. 
 
To achieve this, the committee seeks to promote a culture of continuous improvement and 
innovation with respect to safety of services, clinical effectiveness and patient experience. It 
also aims to secure public involvement and to provide assurance to the governing body about 
the quality, safety and risks of the services being commissioned and the overall risks to the 
organisation’s strategic and operational plans. 

 
The QSRC also provides oversight and scrutiny of arrangements for supporting NHS 
England in relation to securing continuous improvement in the quality of primary medical 
services through the planning process and future primary care commissioning arrangements. 
Membership of the committee consists of: 
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 Lay member, patient and public involvement (chair) 

 Director of nursing, quality and safety (vice chair) 

 Chief officer 

 Medical director 

 Secondary care clinician 

 GP medicines optimisation lead 

 GP clinical effectiveness lead 

 GPs x 2 (yet to be appointed) 

 Head of quality and patient safety 

 Head of medicines optimisation 

 Head of safeguarding 

 Head of corporate affairs 

 Head/deputy head of contracting, performance and business intelligence 

 Director of public health  

 Clinical quality officer 

 Clinical quality officer (care homes) 

 Patient experience officer 
 

 
Highlights from the committee 
A mini kaizen event was held in September to review how the committee was working and to 
improve the quality of information being received.  A mini kaizen event is a short workshop, 
usually either a full or half day, which is attended by key individuals (owners and operators of 
a process) to undertake a rapid, indepth review of a particular subject to identify and 
implement improvements which are within the scope of the participants to make. 
 
As a result of this event, the committee’s terms of reference were reviewed and the clinical 
membership strengthened.  The frequency of the meetings was also increased to monthly to 
take into account the volume of work coming through and a revised cycle of business 
developed to ensure the committee received information at the appropriate time.   
 
A key achievement for the committee was the development of a quality strategy for the CCG.  
The strategy sets out the CCG’s pulls together the key elements of quality and demonstrates 
our approach and commitment to ensuring quality remains at the heart of everything we do as 
a commissioner.  The strategy has been approved by the governing body.   
 
The committee has regular reporting mechanisms for its key roles and responsibilities and 
received regular assurance reports on the following areas as specified in its terms of 
reference: 

 Quality in commissioned services 
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 Improving quality in general medical practice 

 Patient safety 

 Patient experience 

 Clinical effectiveness 

 Safeguarding 

 Risk management 

 
The reports covered the key issues in each of the areas to highlight any quality or patient 
safety issues, as well as any key risks that required further action and/or required escalating 
to the risk register. 
 
The committee submits a highlight report to the governing body to the governing body to 
provide assurance on the work of the committee. 

 
The committee identified some particular areas that required a more detailed focus to ensure 
work was undertaken to implement specific requirements, address areas of concern relating 
to quality and patient safety issues and provide additional assurance on work undertaken to 
mitigate the risks associated with this.  
 
These topics have included: 
 

 Serious incident management 

 Safeguarding children and adults 

 Healthcare associated infections 

 Quality in care homes 

 A&E waiting times 

 Improved access to psychological therapies (access and recovery) 

 Ambulance response times 

 Prescribing costs 
 

 
Remuneration committee 
The remuneration committee is accountable to the governing body and makes 
recommendations to the governing body on the appropriate remuneration and terms of 
service for the CCG including: 

 

 All aspects of salary (including any performance-related elements/bonuses) 

 Provisions for other benefits, including pensions and cars 

 Arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual terms 
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It determines the remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees and for people who 
provide services to the CCG and would determine allowances under any pension scheme 
should the CCG establish an alternative to the NHS pension scheme. 
 
Membership of the committee consists of the following: 

 

 Lay member for audit (chair) 

 Lay member for patient and public involvement 

 CCG chair 
 

Regular attendees to the committee are the chief officer and a senior human resources 
advisor. 
 
The committee has met once during the year and made recommendations to the governing 
body on the remuneration and terms and condition of service for the following: 

 

 Lay members 

 Independent audit support 

 Cost of living increases for CCG employed staff on VSM Salaries and therefore not 
covered by national Agenda for Change 

 
Joint Committee Arrangements 
The CCG has joint and collaborative arrangements in place to make commissioning 
decisions through delegation arrangements. These are as follows: 

 

 Sunderland City Council health and wellbeing board (on which the CCG has 3 voting 
seats) 

 Collaborative arrangements with the other North East and Cumbria CCGs with regard 
to commissioning arrangements for contracts with NHS healthcare providers across 
the North East and Cumbria 

 Joint arrangements with the North and South of Tyne CCGs to determine 
commissioning for health gain policies and to review and approve individual funding 
requests, including conducting an appeals process 

 Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to advise upon and make 
recommendations to CCGs on high cost cancer drugs and high cost treatments 

 Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to provide a partnership forum to work 
together with trade union and professional organisation representatives to discuss 
issues relating to employment matters affecting their employees 

 Sunderland City Council (section 75 and section 256) for joint commissioning 
arrangements 

 Sunderland City Council (section 75) for community equipment services 
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 Sunderland City Council (section 75) for Mental Capacity Act/Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguard 

 
The groups identified above have an agreed governance structure in place with specific 
roles, responsibilities and accountabilities or are covered by individual CCGs' governance 
arrangements where appropriate and agreed. Any investments and decisions made by these 
groups are formally documented and reviewed regularly as part of the CCG contracting and 
performance arrangements. 
 
In addition, close working relationships have been established with partner organisations in 
the local health community. Organisational arrangements are in place for these partnership 
arrangements including provider trusts, local authorities and other stakeholder and partner 
organisations.   
 
A key achievement during the year was working in partnership with Sunderland City Council 
on the Better Care Fund (the BCF).  The BCF combines a resource of £150m between health 
and social care to enable the changes needed to improve services whilst making maximum 
use of the combined resources.  Robust governance arrangements are in place around the 
BCF and it demonstrates the strength of the links that we have with the Council.   
 
The CCG has also maintained close links with NHS England, with quarterly assurance 
meetings being held to consider performance issues and priorities across all the CCG 
activities. A particular focus has been the development of governance processes in relation to 
the forthcoming delegated responsibilities around primary care co-commissioning which were 
approved by NHS England in early 2015.  
 
During the year, the CCG has undertaken a self-assessment on its governance processes as 
part of the assurance framework put in place by Cumbria, Northumberland and Tyne and 
Wear Area Team (area team) of NHS England. The area team was assured the CCG 
governance framework was robust and did not raise any issues of concern. 
 

Assessment of the governing body effectiveness 
 
The governance structure pf the CCG has been subject to a detailed review as part of the 
CCG’s application to undertake primary medical care commissioning on delegated 
arrangements from NHS England during January 2015.  NHS England was assured that the 
governance framework was robust, enabling the CCG to discharge its functions effectively 
and those functions under delegated arrangements as from 1 April.   
 
In addition, the CCG’s systems and processes were reviewed in detail as part to the Investors 
in People assessment undertaken during December.  This assessment looked for alignment 
of the CCG’s systems and processes to our overall business strategy and this was further 
explored during indepth interviews with a number of key individuals.  The CCG was awarded 
the ‘gold’ standard following this assessment, demonstrating a significant achievement for the 
CCG since its establishment.  
 
This has been reinforced by my self-certification that the clinical commissioning group has 
complied with the statutory duties laid down in the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012). 
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Formal Committee Meetings Attendance Record 2014/15 

Member Governing 

body 

Executive 

Committee 

Audit 

Committee 

Quality, Safety 

and Risk 

Committee 

Remuneration 

Committee 

 
Lay Members  

Mrs Aileen 

Sullivan 

8/8  5/5 9/9 

(chair) 

1/1 

Mrs Pat Taylor 7/8  5/5 

(chair) 

 1/1 

 

Mr Neil Weddle 

   
5/5 

  

 
Executive GPs 

Dr Ian Pattison* 7/8 

(chair) 

10/12   1/1 

Dr Henry Choi* 8/8 11/12  9/9  

Dr Jackie 

Gillespie* 

6/8 10/12  7/9  

Dr Tracey 

Lucas* 

7/8 10/12    

Dr Gerry 

McBride* 

6/8 11/12    

Dr Valerie 

Taylor* 

6/8 10/12    

 
Executive Directors 

Mr David 

Gallagher* 

8/8 9/12 

(chair) 

As required 5/9  

Mrs Debbie 

Burnicle 

8/8 

(in attendance) 

10/12 

(in attendance) 

   

Mrs Ann Fox* 5/8 9/12    6/9  

Mr Chris 
Macklin* 

8/8 10/12 4/5 
(in attendance) 

  

Dr Geoff 

Stephenson 

7/8 

(in attendance) 

12/12 

(in attendance) 

 6/9  

 
Executive practice manager and practice nurse 

Ms Florence 

Gunn 

 

 11/12    
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Mrs Gloria 

Middleton 

4/8 

(in attendance) 

9/12    

 
Local authority representatives 

Ms Nonnie 

Crawford 

(until December 2014) 

 

Mrs Gillian Gibson  

(from January 2015)  

 
8/8 

(in attendance) 

 
6/6 

(in attendance) 

  
6/6 

(in attendance) 

 

Mrs Gillian 

Gibson 

(from January 2015) 

 

 
2/2 

(in attendance) 

 
3/3 

(in attendance) 

  
3/3 

(in attendance) 

 

Mr Neil Revely 5/8 

(in attendance) 

    

 
Secondary care clinician 

Prof Mike 

Bramble  

8/8   8/9  

*denotes executive director with voting right on the Governing body. 

 

 

The effectiveness of the governing body has been assessed by its members using a self- 
assessment questionnaire based on the principles outlined in the guidance highlighted. This 
has enabled the governing body to undertake a detailed review of their effectiveness. 

 
The questionnaire focused on leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration and 
relationships with stakeholders. Each section contained a number of questions designed to 
enable governing body members to undertake a detailed self-assessment of their 
effectiveness as both individuals and members of the governing body.  Some themes were 
highlighted, such as:  
 

 Ensuring all member have clearly set out objectives and mechanisms in place for 
appraisal/annual review 

 Ensuring all members provide sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities 
effectively 

 Ensuring matters reserved to the governing body are still suitable 

 Avoiding duplication of work in relation to the functions delegated to the appropriate 
sub-committee 
 

The outcome of the self-assessment will be used at a future development session to focus on 
these areas in the coming year. 
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The governing body has also undertaken further external assessment of its effectiveness 
using the Aston Team Performance Inventory tool (ATPI) during one of its development 
sessions.  The tool looks at 16 dimensions of effective team functioning as follows: 

 

 
 
 

The themes from the self-assessment questionnaire were linked to the perceptions and 
experiences of 4 sub-groups (directors, executive GPs, lay members and partners and co-
opted members).  The overall outputs from this work were then used to inform the 
development of the governing body throughout the year.      

 
Having reviewed the effectiveness of the governing body’s governance framework and 
associated guidance, I consider that the organisation has followed and applied the principles 
and standards of best practice. 
 
 

The CCG’s risk management framework 
 
Risk management is embedded in the activity of the CCG through: 
 

 The risk management framework and its supporting policies and procedures 

 The committee structure described earlier in this statement 

 The management processes (e.g. used a risk-based approach to help prioritise 
planning and work programmes) 

 The governing body assurance framework 

 Risk management skills training, including risk assessments of various types and the 
mandatory and statutory training programme for all staff 
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 raising awareness of a counter fraud culture. 
 
The CCG’s risk management framework takes into account current guidance on risk 
management best practice.  The framework sets out the CCG’s approach to risk and the 
management of risk in the fulfillment of its overall objective to commission high quality and 
safe services. In addition, the adoption and embedding of an effective risk management 
framework and processes helps to ensure that the reputation of the CCG is maintained and 
enhanced, and its resources are used effectively to reform services through innovation, large-
scale prevention, improved quality and greater productivity. 
 
The framework provides guidance for the systematic and effective management of risk. Key 
elements of the framework include: 
 

 Clear statements on the responsibilities of the governing body and its sub committees 
as well as individual accountability for delivery of the framework 

 Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process 

 Clear processes for the management of risk in commissioned services, partnership 
working and the delivery of the quality, innovation, productivity and prevention 
programme 

 A clearly defined process for assessing and managing risks, including implementation 
and dissemination of the framework to all staff 

 Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risks, including incident 
reporting, serious incidents and safeguarding 

 Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting of and managing risks through the risk 
register process 

 Arrangements for monitoring and review of the framework 
 
The overall risk management approach ensures that the framework is coordinated across the 
whole organisation and progress is reported effectively to the governing body, quality, safety 
and risk committee and audit committee.   
 
The CCG has used a standard matrix methodology in the application of the risk rating criteria 
to ensure a consistent approach to the prioritisation of risks and the effective targeting of 
resources.  Risks are identified by assessing the consequence and likelihood of that risk 
occurring, giving an overall rating of extreme, high, moderate or low.  This rating is recorded 
against the identified risk on the relevant risk register and managed via a serious of identified 
controls and actions and progress is monitored via the CCG’s governance processes.  Each 
director team within the CCG has its own risk register to identify existing or prospective risks 
to the organisation.  These registers are supported by a corporate register, which focuses on 
the high and extreme risks that have been identified to the delivery of the CCG’s strategic 
objectives. In addition, risks are identified through our strategic planning process and 
monitored via our performance management system that rates all objectives for risk to 
delivery. 
 
During the year, registers have been reviewed on a bi-monthly basis by the quality, safety 
and risk committee and on a quarterly basis by the governing body. A robust system is in 
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place to enable the directorates to manage their risks regularly, with specialist support, 
advice and training available from the head of corporate affairs and North of England 
Commissioning Support Service (NECS).  The CCG has a service line agreement in place 
with NECS to provide support in relation to risk management.   
 
As part of its commitment to continuous improvement, the CCG undertook a review of its risk 
management framework and processes to ensure its approach remains robust.  The review 
identified some further improvements to the process to enable a continued focus on those 
risks with a potential greater impact on the CCG as an organisation at both committee and 
governing body level.  As a result, a revised framework is being developed and will be 
implemented early in the new financial year.  One of the key recommendations from this 
review is the establishment of a risk management group as from 1 April 2015 as a formal sub 
group of the quality, safety and risk committee.  The purpose of this is to allow low level risks 
to be managed with the day to day operations of the organisation and enable a greater focus 
on moderate and high-level risks at committee and governing body level.   
 
The governing body also agreed its strategic objective risks to its corporate objectives which 
formed the assurance framework for the year. The corporate objectives were reviewed by the 
governing body at its development session held in July 2014.  The principle risks and risk 
ratings were identified using the CCG risk register to ensure alignment of any existing risks to 
the corporate objectives. Supporting action plans have been developed as appropriate to 
mitigate these risks and the governing body monitors progress to ensure delivery of these 
objectives. 
 
As chief officer, I maintain overall responsibility for delivering the assurance framework. The 
assurance framework 2014/15 covered risks to the following objectives: 

 Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties 

 Maintain financial control 

 Maintain performance targets 

 Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 

 Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming 
services 

 Identify and deliver the CCG’s key strategic priorities 

 Develop the CCG localities 

 Integrating health and social care, including the Better Care Fund 
 

Specific risks relating to the 2014/15 assurance framework included: 
 

 Potential additional commissioning responsibilities for the CCG in relation to primary 
medical care and specialised commissioning 

 Working with providers to ensure all relevant contracts were in place and being 
managed appropriately to ensure high quality safe services for the residents of 
Sunderland and achieving value for money by reducing the risk of a commissioning 
overspend 
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 Creating and implementing a robust commissioning plan and ensuring patients’ rights 
were being adhered to as part of this 

 Ensuring robust performance management with providers, with a particular focus on 
infection control rates, ambulance delays and increased hospital activity 

 Demonstrating that the CCG has actively engaged with patients and the public and 
have acted upon any feedback received in relation to patient experience 

 Establishing robust links with partner organisations to support the CCG to deliver its 
strategic priorities 

 Ensuring member practices are fully engaged with the work of the CCG 

 Ensuring the CCG continues to work with all partners to understand and improve the 
health needs of Sunderland residents to help improve the health of Sunderland 
residents 

 Ensuring the CCG works in partnership with all partners in relation to safeguarding 
 
A number of gaps in assurance and controls were identified in reviewing and agreeing the 
assurance framework.  These have been monitored as appropriate within the committee 
structure. 
 
Appropriate mitigations were also identified and implemented, with the governing body and 
committee agendas being structured to ensure key risks and issues were addressed over the 
year. 
 
In addition, a number of audits have been conducted throughout the year focusing on areas 
such as standards of business conduct, corporate decision making, risk management and 
business continuity. The outcomes of these audits have given the CCG a rating of significant 
assurance for each of these areas. 
 
The CCG refreshed its 5 year commissioning plan (plan on a page) which described the long 
term vision for health and social care of Sunderland. The risks to delivery of this plan have 
been systematically identified and quantified for all of the investment and disinvestment 
initiatives as part of the detailed planning process and in collaboration with all relevant 
partners, using a risk-based assessment of likelihood and consequence.  The CCG financial 
framework also used this risk-based approach to give a balanced financial plan year on year.  
Contingencies were identified within the financial framework to ensure high level financial 
risks could be addressed. The CCG used its local prioritisation process to enable the 
balance of investments and disinvestments to be robustly assessed and reviewed. 
 
The CCG has a duty to work with partners to improve the health of the local population. 
Partnerships can involve high levels of risk due to their complexities making robust risk 
management an essential element of partnership governance.  The CCG has ensured that 
any work carried out across the health and social care economy adhered to the CCG’s 
principles of robust risk management, focusing on those areas considered to be of highest 
risk and undertaking appropriate risk assessments and mitigating action plans as necessary. 
 
The CCG involves key stakeholders and the public in the management of risks through its 
public governing body meetings. The risk register is a regular item on the public agenda and 
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there is an opportunity for them to ask questions on the register as a whole or any specific 
risks during the meeting. In addition, key stakeholders and the public are invited to specific 
events such to discuss issues and topics in detail, which includes identifying and assessing 
relevant risks.  There is also the opportunity through the local engagement boards and the 
collaborative working across the health economy to discuss risks openly and to help identify 
ways in which they should be managed. By working in an inclusive way with the public, this 
ensures the CCG takes into account the views of the public and key stakeholders.  Any such 
views form a crucial part of developing robust mitigating action plans for any identified risks. 
 

The CCG’s internal control framework 
 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to 
ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
 
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk.  It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurances of 
effectiveness. 
 
The system of internal control has been in place in the CCG for the full year ended 31 March 
2015 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. 
 
The committee structure within the CCG has been established to ensure there are robust 
reporting mechanisms and clear lines of accountability in place to provide assurance to the 
governing body, and ultimately our members, that the CCG is discharging its activities and 
functions effectively. 
 
The scheme of delegation and reservation sets out the responsibilities of the membership, 
governing body and its sub-committees, the chief officer and other directors to ensure the 
CCG discharges its functions appropriately.  The scheme is explicit in defining where the 
responsibilities lie in delivering each of these key functions and also provides a framework by 
which the governing body, on behalf of the members, can seek assurance these are being 
done so appropriately. 
 
The CCG has an assurance framework in place to identify gaps in control and provide 
assurance against the delivery of the CCG’s corporate objectives.  The previous section on 
risk management describes the assurance framework in detail, highlighting the corporate 
objectives and key risks to the delivery of these. 
 
The controls identified within the framework were assessed as the key elements needed to 
mitigate risks to delivery of the objectives as far as possible, act as a deterrent to risks 
occurring and also provide a structured approach by which any identified risks could be 
managed. The assurance framework also identifies gaps in control and/or assurances to 
provide assurance to the governing body that these were being addressed. The risk 
management framework (as described in the previous section) supports the delivery of the 
objectives and forms part of the internal control framework. 
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The CCG financial framework also forms part of the internal control framework, with a number 
of approved policies and procedures in place to ensure the CCG manages its finance in 
accordance with national policy and guidelines. The CCG constitution sets out the prime 
financial policies and the financial scheme of delegation, as approved by the governing body, 
sets out the delegated limits for key individuals within the CCG. This ensures these 
individuals have a clear framework in place within which they can make financial decisions.  
Compliance with the scheme is monitored by the audit committee and governing body to 
ensure the delegated limits are being adhered to. 
 

Assurances from outsourced services 
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the provision of 
back office services and functions and as such has established an internal control system to 
gain assurance from these. These include: 

 The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support from NHS 
Shared Business Services. The use of NHS Shared Business Services is mandated 
by NHS England for all CCGs and is fundamental in producing NHS England group 
financial accounts through the use of an integrated financial ledger system 

 The provision of financial accounting services from the North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit 

 The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

 The provision of the ESR payroll systems support from McKesson 

 The provision of practice payment services via the Exeter system processed by NHS 
England 

 
Assurance on the effectiveness of the controls is received in part from annual service audit 
reports and internal audit assurance reports from the relevant service providers as well as 
additional testing of controls by Sunderland CCG internal auditors. 

 
North of England Commissioning Support Service (NECS) 
The CCG contracts with the NECS for the provision of a number of commissioning support 
functions and has established an internal control system to gain assurance from NECS on 
these functions.   
 
Two 6 month service auditor reports have been received for NECS covering the covering the 
full year.   
 
The first report for April to September 2014 covered 123 controls in payroll, business 
intelligence, information governance, finance, IT and quality.  However not all of these were 
relevant to the CCG as the CCG does not purchase the full service offer from NECS. 
 
The Deloitte audit opinion was a qualified one on account of 5 exceptions noted in the control 
environment.  These were within payroll (non-financial data), finance training, financial 
management, finance reports and business intelligence reports.  We have reviewed these 
failures with NECS and external auditors and concluded that for the CCG, they were either 
minor or not applicable or were covered by compensating controls within the CCG.  The CCG 
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was pleased to note a full rectification plan was in place by NECS to improve the control 
environment.   
 
The second report highlighted improved performance across the control environment and the 
CCG was assured there were no material issues for it to consider.   
 
The CCG has considered these individually and identified where mitigating controls are in 
place within the CCG and will work with NECS to ensure control weaknesses are addressed 
in the coming year.  The CCG is satisfied that following its consideration of the mitigating 
controls in place, no significant gap in internal controls has arisen.   
 

Information Governance 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets out the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 
 
The governing body is aware of the importance of maintaining high standards of information 
governance and securing confidentiality of patients’ information. As senior information risk 
owner (SIRO), I ensure this function is discharged appropriately, with the executive 
committee maintaining oversight of this. The CCG medical director is our Caldicott Guardian 
and we are both supported in our roles via a service line agreement with NECS to provide 
specialist advice, support and training on information governance issues. 
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and 
processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.  The CCG has an 
information governance framework in place consisting of an approved strategy, a suite of 
approved policies and procedures, and a programme of mandatory training for information 
risk management and incident management. This framework helps to ensure all staff are 
aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities and it is embedded into 
everyday practice of the CCG. Appropriate training is also readily available for all staff and 
the CCG has achieved a high uptake of this training during the year. 
 
The CCG has also adopted and implemented the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre’s (HSCIC), ‘checklist for reporting, managing and investigating information 
governance serious incidents requiring investigating’.   The CCG has put in place a standard 
operating procedure for the reporting of level 2 information governance incidents to the 
Information Commissioner. This procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and details 
the reporting procedures to be used in the event of a data security breach.  I can confirm the 
CCG has had no serious information governance breaches in year. 
 
The information governance toolkit has been provided by the HSCIC to support performance 
monitoring of progress on information governance in the NHS.  The CCG has undertaken a 
self-assessment against the specified criteria within the toolkit and assessed ourselves as 
being overall compliant by the 31 March 2015. 
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The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the 
year the CCG received 259 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and can 
confirm they were all responded to within the statutory timescale.  The CCG did not receive 
any requests under the Data Protection Act 1998.  

 

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations 
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the CCG’s obligations under equality, 
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.  The governing body has agreed the 
CCG’s equality and diversity objectives for 2014/15 and progress against these objectives is 
monitored by the executive committee. 
 

Health and Safety Obligations 
The CCG has put in place robust control measures to ensure that all statutory obligations 
relating to health and safety legislation are met.  The executive committee has agreed the 
CCG’s health and safety objectives for 2014/15 and progress against these objectives and 
the control measures is monitored by the Executive Committee 
 

Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management and 
Internal Control 
The CCG has ensured that the risk management processes have embedded a clear process 
for identifying, analysing, evaluating, controlling, monitoring and communicating risk.  The 
types of risks we face as a CCG include corporate (accountability to the public), clinical 
(associated with our commissioning responsibilities), reputational and financial risks.  The 
CCG committee structure has been established to ensure there are clear terms of reference 
for each with clear lines of accountability both between each committee and the Governing 
body. 

 
Whenever risks to the achievement of the CCG’s objectives were identified, an assessment 
has been undertaken to ensure the appropriate controls were put in place using a 
consequence and likelihood matrix based on national guidance.  Using this standardised tool 
has ensure the CCG has applied the risk management principles in a consistent manner 
using agreed definitions and evaluation criteria. This has enabled more robust decisions to 
be made on any resources needed to mitigate the risk. 
 
The CCG identified some high risks during the year and mitigating action plans were put in 
place to address these. These risks have been monitored closely by the Quality, Safety and 
Risk Committee and Governing body. 

 
These risks included:   

 Healthcare acquired infections (HCAI) 

 Ambulance handovers and delays  

 A&E attendances 

 Potential additional commissioning responsibilities 

 Implementation of the Better Care Fund 

 Prescribing pressures 
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The CCG has robust arrangements in place to monitor the CCG’s performance against 
agreed objectives and targets. The assurance framework is used to identify any risks to the 
agreed corporate objectives and to highlight any gaps in assurance and/or control in relation 
to these. The governing body also receives regular reports to its public meetings on the 
CCG’s performance against the six domains of the effective clinical commission monitored as 
part of NHS England’s Assurance Framework.  
 
Risk registers are a standing item on the agenda of the quality, safety and risk committee as 
well as any high level, specific risks being separate items on the agenda when they require 
further in depth discussion and monitoring.  Risks are reported on an exceptional basis to the 
executive committee as appropriate and the audit committee reviews maintains a periodic 
review of the risk register and assurance framework to provide additional overview and 
scrutiny of both processes. 

 
The CCG has not had any significant lapses in data security during the year and therefore no 
incidents have been reported to the Information Commissioner. 
 

Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 
The business rules for CCGs during 2014/15 were determined by NHS England and from a 
financial perspective these were as follows: 

 Spend 2.5% of our allocation on non-recurrent schemes only 

 Create a 0.5% contingency 

 Deliver a surplus of not less than 1% of allocation 

 Running costs of the CCG to be no more than the running costs allocation  

 
The financial plans and budgets approved by the governing body in March 2014 clearly 
demonstrated achievement of these goals. The level of surplus for the CCG was agreed as 
£16.9m at the start of the year which was considerably in excess of the minimum 
requirement.  The planned surplus was increased by £2m to £18.9m during the year and this 
was agreed and approved by NHS England and the governing body of the CCG.  
 

The governing body agreed to deliver a surplus in excess of the minimum to try and protect 
the organisation from future tighter financial constraints.  Any surplus in excess of the 
minimum will be available to the CCG in future years to assist in the management of financial 
risk.  

 
Throughout the year we have constantly reported delivery against our plans which 
demonstrates robust financial planning, control and effective uses of resources. Quality, 
innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) programmes have been delivered during the 
year releasing £3m for reinvestment into new services.  Savings were made in areas such as 
the procurement of urgent care centres and from investing into mental health community 
based services reducing the need for inpatient beds.  
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Review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal control 
As accountable officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. 
 

Capacity to Handle Risk 
The CCG is committed to commissioning high quality and safe services and demonstrates 
leadership in risk management through the risk management framework. The framework 
sets out clear roles and responsibilities within the CCG to implement the risk management 
process. 

 
The responsibility for risk management is identified at all levels across the CCG, from 
governing body members, directors and to all managers and staff. 

 
As chief officer, I have overall responsibility to ensure the implementation of the framework 
with supporting risk management systems and internal control. I also ensure an appropriate 
committee structure is in place to meet all the statutory requirements and ensure positive 
performance towards the achievement of the CCG’s strategic priorities. Day to day 
responsibility for risk management is delegated to the head of corporate affairs. 

 
The chief finance officer provides expert professional advice to the governing body on the 
efficient and economic use of the CCG’s financial resources.  This includes ensuring the 
CCG has appropriate arrangements in place for audit and identifying risks and mitigating 
actions in the delivery of quality QIPP. 
 
The medical director and director of nursing, quality and safety and 6 elected GPs promote 
risk management processes with the CCG’s member practices. 
 

All senior leaders within the CCG have a responsibility to incorporate risk management 
within all aspects of their work in line with the requirements set out in the framework. 
Appropriate training has also taken place over the year to enable senior leaders to undertake 
their risk management duties appropriately. 

 
The risk management framework acknowledges that risk is unavoidable. The CCG will take 
action to manage risk in a way that it can justify to a level which is tolerable. The amount of 
risk that is judged to be tolerable and justifiable is known as the ‘risk appetite’. 

 
The governing body discussed the CCG’s appetite for risk at its development session in July 
2014 where we considered our risk appetite to be ‘open’ and ‘ seeks to innovate’ to choose 
options that offer potentially higher rewards whilst acknowledging there may be a greater 
inherent risk in doing so.  This was agreed formally by the governing body at its meeting in 
September.  Taking this approach helps to ensure the CCG supports a varied and diverse 
approach to commissioning, particularly to improve outcomes for patients whilst achieving 
efficiency and value for money. 

 
The governing body maintains oversight of the internal control and risk management 
frameworks and seeks assurance that these are being managed within appropriate delegated 
limits and with specified objectives and robust action plans.  The role of the governing body is 
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to seek this assurance on behalf of the CCG members and ensure the CCG fulfills its 
statutory duties and functions. 

 
The quality, safety and risk committee (QSRC) described earlier in this governance statement 
the main committee with responsibility for risk management.  The committee receives regular 
information to review progress against highlighted risks and issues and to provide assurance 
to the governing body that progress is being made towards mitigating these. The committee 
reviews the risk register in detail as part of this. 

 
The QSRC membership includes a number of clinicians as well as appropriate senior 
management representation from across the CCG functions. The committee receives 
regular updates of the full CCG risk register, whilst maintaining a focus on the high and 
extreme risks. In addition, specific risks are reviewed in detail in the relevant sub- 
committees such as the infection control and safeguarding groups. 

 
The audit committee maintains oversight of the CCGs risk management and internal 
control arrangements.  The committee reviews the governing body assurance framework to 
identify any gaps in controls and assurances and provides assurance to the governing body 
that the CCG is discharging its functions appropriately. 

 
The executive committee reviews key risks and issues on an exception basis when required 
for additional scrutiny. 

 
Internal Audit has also undertaken a number of audits throughout the year, in particular 
focusing on the CCG’s risk management, standards of business conduct and internal control 
arrangements. Each of these audits reviewed the relevant policies and procedures in place, 
as well as responsibilities of key individuals in delivering these functions. The CCG was 
given an outcome of ‘significant assurance’ for these audits.  

 

Review of Effectiveness 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the 
internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical 
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My 
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their reports. The 
governing body assurance framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness 
of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles have been reviewed. 
 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the governing body, the audit committee and quality, safety and 
risk committee, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of 
the system is in place 
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the head of internal audit issued an independent and objective opinion 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance 
and internal control. The head of internal audit opinion is included in summary below. 
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

 
The purpose of my head of internal audit opinion is to contribute to the assurances available 
to the accountable officer and the governing body which underpin the governing body’s own 
assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This opinion 
will in turn assist the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement. 
 
My opinion is set out as follows: 
 

 Overall opinion; 

 Basis for the opinion; and 

 Commentary. 
 
 
Overall opinion 
My overall opinion is that: 
 
On the basis of work carried out in accordance with the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2014/15, 
significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal 
control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being 
applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design and/or inconsistent 
application of controls, puts the achievement of particular objectives at risk. 
 
Basis for the Opinion 
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

 An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework 
and supporting processes; 

 An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit 
assignments contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the period. This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of 
these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses; 
and 

 Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances. 
 
Commentary 
The commentary below provides the context for my opinion and together with the opinion 
should be read in its entirety. 
 
The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and associated processes 
The Governing Body Assurance Framework 2014/15 is based on the CCG’s strategic 
objectives and an analysis of the principle risks to achieving those objectives.  The key 
controls that have been put in place to manage the risks have been documented, and the 
sources of assurance for individual controls have been identified.  It has been assessed by 
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internal audit that the assurance framework is effective in bringing together all of the activities 
and objectives of the CCG.  It provides the CCG with a comprehensive mechanism for the 
management of the principal risks to meeting its strategic objectives and supports the 
compilation of the Annual Governance Statement.  Although there are a number of gaps in 
control, plans were put in place to mitigate or eradicate the gaps and these are being 
followed. 
 
The CCG has developed risk management processes that are operating within the 
organisation.  A risk management framework, supported by appropriate procedures, is in 
place. The Quality Safety and Risk Committee oversee the risk management agenda and 
report to the Governing Body. Together with the audit committee, they provide assurance to 
the governing body on the systems and processes by which the organisation leads, directs 
and controls its functions in order to achieve its strategic objectives. 
 
Individual audit opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments 
My opinion is derived from the completion of a range of risk-based Internal Audit 
assignments, which have been undertaken in accordance with the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
2014/15. A table outlining these individual opinions is attached at Appendix 1. Definitions of 
assurance levels, findings and recommendations are set out at Appendix 2. 
 
The outcome of Internal Audit work is reported regularly to the Audit Committee.  In addition, 
we have issued a copy of all individual assignment reports to the Chief Finance Officer, and 
other appropriate directors and managers, throughout the year. 
 
We have issued 20 reports since completion of the Annual Internal Audit Report for 2013/14 
in May 2014.  Of those reports issued, we issued an assurance rating of ‘significant’ for 19 
audits. No reports have been issued with assurance rating of ‘limited assurance’, and our 
business continuity planning audit was a follow up to the limited assurance audit report issued 
in 2013/14; no assurance level has been assigned to this report. 
 
A total of 39 issues were raised; the issues were ranked to reflect priority ratings and 
appropriate management responses were agreed. Thirteen medium priority issues and 26 
low priority issues have been raised. We have not raised any high priority issues during 
2014/15. 
 
Conclusion 
Taking into account all of my findings, and the CCG’s actions in response to issues raised, I 
consider that there are no areas of significant weakness remaining that are relevant to the 
preparation of the annual governance statement. 
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Appendix 1 
 

Individual assurance opinions 
 

Audit Assurance opinion 

Financial Planning and QIPP Significant assurance 

Corporate Decision Making Significant assurance 

Developing and Implementing the Strategic Vision Significant assurance 

Assurance Framework and Risk Management Significant assurance 

Standards of Business Conduct / Conflicts of 

Interest 

Significant assurance 

Safeguarding Arrangements Significant assurance 

Patient and Public Involvement Significant assurance 

Healthcare Contract Monitoring Significant assurance 

Data Quality Significant assurance 

Freedom of Information Significant assurance 

Communication and Engagement Significant assurance  

Performance Framework and the Quality Premium Significant assurance  

Preparation for the Implementation of the Better 

Care Fund 

Significant assurance  

Financial Systems Significant assurance  

Quality Action Plan Significant assurance 

Serious Incident Management Significant assurance 

Continuing Health Care Significant assurance  

Monitoring the SLA with NECS Significant assurance 

Information Governance/Data Protection/Record 

Management 

Significant assurance  

Business Continuity Planning Not applicable – follow-up audit only 
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Appendix 2 
 

Individual Audit Opinions 

Significant: Significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of 
internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are 
generally being applied consistently.  
 
Limited: Limited assurance can be given as weaknesses in the design, and/or inconsistent 
application of controls, put the achievement of the organisation’s objectives at risk in a 
number of the areas reviewed. 
 

Findings and Recommendations 

High Priority: Findings referring to important issues that are fundamental and material to the 
Trust’s system of internal control.  Action needs to be taken as a matter of urgency. 
 
Medium Priority: Issues arising referring mainly to matters that have an important effect on 
the Trust’s system of internal control but do not require immediate action.  A system objective 
may still be met in full or in part or a risk adequately mitigated but the weakness represents a 
significant deficiency in the system. 
 
Low Priority: Issues arising that would, if corrected, improve the CCG’s system of internal 
control in general but are not vital to the overall system of internal control. 
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Data Quality 
The governing body and member practices are aware of the importance of maintaining high 
standards of information governance and securing confidentiality of patients’ information. As 
senior information risk owner, I ensure this function is discharged appropriately, with support 
from the medical director as Caldicott Guardian.  The CCG also receives support from NECS 
via a service line agreement for specialist advice and training for information governance 
issues.  The governing body and member practices are satisfied with the quality of data used 
to inform decision-making and planning to deliver the commissioning agenda and to ensure 
the CCG meets its statutory requirements. 

Business Critical Models 
I can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality 
assurance of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson 
report.  I can confirm that all business critical models have been identified and that 
information about quality assurance process for those models has been provide to the 
analytical oversight committee, chaired by the chief analyst in the Department of Health. 

Data Security 
The CCG has submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance 
toolkit assessment. The CCG has not had any serious incidents relating to data security 
during the time period covered by this report. 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the 
corporate governance framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, 
to ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters 
reserved for membership body and governing body decision and the scheme of delegation. 

 
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated 
legislation and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the 
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is 
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

Conclusion 
As chief officer, I have reviewed the governance and risk management processes within the 
CCG and am assured the CCG had an effective system of internal control over the previous 
year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

David Gallagher  
Chief Officer (Accountable Officer) 
26  May 2015 



 

Page | 83  
 

Report by the Auditors to the members of the CCG 
 
 

Independent auditors report to the members of NHS Sunderland Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
 
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group 
(NHS Sunderland CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Audit Commission Act 
1998. The financial statements comprise the statement of comprehensive net expenditure, 
the statement of financial position, the statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity, the 
statement of cash flows and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by the 
NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the secretary of state as relevant to the 
National Health Service in England.  
 
We have also audited the information in the remuneration report that is marked as subject to 
audit being:  

 the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers (and related narrative notes) 
on page 41; 

 the table of pension benefits of senior managers (and related narrative notes) on page 
42; and 

 the table of pay multiples (and related narrative notes) on page 43. 
 
This report is made solely to the members of NHS Sunderland CCG in accordance with Part 
II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor 
As explained more fully in the statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities, the 
accountable officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 
Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:  

 whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  

 the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the accountable 
officer; and  

 the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
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In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of 
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our 
report. 
 
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 
 
Opinion on regularity 
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 
 
Opinion on the financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Sunderland CCG as at 31 
March 2015 and of its net operating costs for the year then ended; and 

 have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by 
the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State. 

 
Opinion on other matters 
In our opinion: 

 the part of the remuneration report subject to audit has been prepared properly in 
accordance with the requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the 
approval of the secretary of state; and 

 the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

 
Matters on which we report by exception 
We report to you if: 

 in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with NHS England’s 
guidance; 

 we refer the matter to the secretary of state under section 19 of the Audit Commission 
Act 1998 because we have a reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, 
is about to make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about 
to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act 
1998. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 
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Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of resources 

 

Respective responsibilities of the CCG and auditor 
The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and 
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that 
the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires 
us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant 
criteria specified by the Audit Commission in October 2014. 
 
We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding 
that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard 
to the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in October 2014, 
as to whether the CCG has proper arrangements for: 

 securing financial resilience; and 

 challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 
 
The Audit Commission determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider 
under its Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for 
the year ended 31 March 2015. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
Conclusion 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published by 
the Audit Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, NHS 
Sunderland CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2015. 
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Certificate 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Sunderland CCG in 
accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit 
Practice issued by the Audit Commission. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cameron Waddell  
for and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
 
The Rivergreen Centre 
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TS 
 
Date:          May 2015 
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Annual accounts 



NHS Protect  

 

 

 

 
Item: 10.8 

CATEGORY OF PAPER  

Proposes specific action  

Provides assurance   

 
GOVERNING BODY MEETING 

 
26 MAY 2015 

 
Report Title 
 

 
Annual Review of Audit Committee 

 
Purpose of report 

To summarise the work of the audit committee 
during the financial year 2014/15. 
This information will be used within the Annual 
Governance Statement and forms a key piece of 
assurance for the Governing Body. 
 

 
Key points, risks and assurances 
 

 
The annual review covers the work done and key 
issues addressed by the audit committee. 

 
Recommendation/Action Required 
 

 
The Governing Body is asked to: 

 receive the annual review of the audit 

 note it forms part of the annual governance 
statement and that it provides assurance to 
the Governing Body 

 

Sponsor/approving director   Pat Taylor, Audit Chair 

Report author 
 
Pat Taylor, Audit Chair 
 

Governance and assurance  

 
Link to CCG corporate objectives* 
(please tick) 

CO1 CO2 CO3 CO4 CO5 CO6 CO7 

       

Any relevant legal/statutory issues Best practice  

 
Are the identified risks on the risk 
register? (If so, include reference number) 
 

N/A 
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*CCG Corporate Objectives 
 
CO1 - Ensure the CCG meets it public accountability duties 
CO2 - Maintain financial control and performance targets 
CO3 - Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services 
CO4 - Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and  
  reforming services  
CO5 - Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities 
CO6 - Develop the CCG localities 
CO7 - Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

If issue/report has been previously 
reviewed please specify meeting and 
date 

Report approved by the Audit Committee - 7 April 
2015  

 
Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  

Yes  No  
Not 
relevant 

 

Key implications  Yes No Details 

 
Are additional resources required?  If so 
please specify 
 

   
N/A  

 
Has there been appropriate clinical 
engagement?  
 

  N/A 

 
Any current or expected impact on 
patient outcomes/experience? 
 

  N/A  

 
Has there been member practice and/or 
other stakeholder engagement if 
needed?   
 

  N/A  
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF 
AUDIT COMMITTEE   

 
Review period 
 

April 2014 – March 2015 

 
Number of Meetings:  
 

 
5  

 
Members:  
 

 
Number of Apologies / Deputies attended (see below) 
 

Number of formal 
meetings eligible to 
attend: 

Number of meetings 
actually attended by 
members: 

Number of meetings 
where deputy attended: 

Members: 

 Pat Taylor (Chair) 

 Aileen Sullivan 

 Neil Weddle 
 
In attendance: 

 Chris Macklin 

 Cameron Waddell 

 Diane Harold 

 Amanda Bellis 

 David Chandler 

 Deborah Cornell 

 Paul Bevan 
 

 
5 
5 
5 
 
 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 

 
5 
4 
5 
 
 

4 
4 
4 
3 
4 
4 
3 
 

 
n/a* 
n/a 
n/a 

 
 

n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 
n/a 

 
*n/a – no deputy or 

full attendance 

 
WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 

 
 

Executive Summary: 
 

 
The Audit Committee was established in accordance with the 
CCG’s Constitution.  The terms of reference set out the 
membership, remit, responsibilities and reporting arrangements of 
the committee.  The terms of reference were reviewed in 
February 2014 and amendments were made in line with 
recommendations from this review and that of the quality, safety 
and risk committee.  The amendments were approved by the 
Governing Body.   
 
During 2014/15 the committee has been involved in the decision 
by the CCG and its member practices to take on additional co-
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commissioning responsibilities for primary medical care. This has 
included reviewing what role the audit committee will take, 
particularly in respect of the declaration and management of 
conflicts of interest. 
 
The Committee provides the Governing Body with assurance and 
an independent and objective view on their finance and 
governance systems and process, financial information and 
compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the 
NHS in so far as they relate to finance and governance.  The 
Committee is a non-executive committee of the Governing Body.  
It has no executive powers, other than those specifically 
delegated to it and as set out in the Terms of Reference. 
 
In reviewing the work of the Committee and its Terms of 
Reference, specific regard has been made to the guidance 
contained within the latest edition of the NHS Audit Committee 
Handbook, NHS Codes of Conduct and Accountability and the 
Higgs Report.   
 

 
Details of Main Work Areas 
 

 

 Assurance framework, governance, risk management and 
control 

 Internal Audit 

 External Audit 

 Counter Fraud 

 Other assurance functions 

 Management processes 

 Financial performance and reporting including QIPP 

 Service auditor reporting for third party assurances 

 Conflicts of Interest and primary care co-commissioning 
 

 
Main achievements and 
assurances 
(against roles and 
responsibilities identified in 
the terms of reference) 
During the period of review 
 
  
 

 
The Audit Committee met six times during the second year of the 
CCG – five formal meetings and one informal meeting.  Its main 
role has continued to focus on the review of the internal systems 
and processes and to provide assurance to the Governing Body 
that these are fit for purpose.  The Committee is helped in this by 
the internal and external audit teams, together with the Counter 
Fraud team. 
 
The committee receives regular updates for both internal and 
external audit on their work to date, the issues identified and 
agreed action plans to address them.  The Committee also 
receives information as to progress with these plans. 
 
The Committee agreed the strategic work programmes for both 
internal and external audit and counter fraud for the financial year 
2014/15. 
 
The committee reviewed and amended the assurance framework 
in line with revised objectives as set by the Governing Body.   
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The committee considered and supported proposed changes to 
the risk management framework and the management of risks 
and the risk register.  This resulted in changes being made to the 
committees supporting risk management in the CCG.  From 1 
April 2015 a new sub-committee of the quality, safety and risk 
committee (QSRC) will be established to manage low and 
medium risk within the CCG, allowing both QSRC and the 
Governing Body to focus on the effective management of high 
level risks.  The committee formalised the terms of reference and 
reporting arrangements as part of the governance framework of 
the CCG. 
 
The committee receives a regular update on the financial position 
of the CCG, together with regular reports from the QIPP steering 
group.  This group is responsible for the performance 
management and achievement of the QIPP programme.  The 
committee has also been briefed on the timetable and process for 
the preparation and submission of the annual report and annual 
accounts.  The committee also received a formal report on the 
month 9 hard close exercise as part of the annual account 
process. 
 
A significant piece of work has been done on managing conflicts 
of interest in line with a new delegated responsibility afforded to 
the CCG by NHS England to commission and performance 
manage Primary Care Medical Services from 1 April 2015.  This 
included revision of the Standards of Business Conduct and 
Declarations of Interest Policy. 
 
The Committee reviewed the Whistleblowing Policy in light of 
legislation changes and incorporated the previously agreed 
speaking up on issues of concern policy into a single CCG policy. 
 
The Committee considered the requirements of the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS) and other reporting issues 
connected to the annual accounts and the annual report.  The 
committee received an early draft of the AGS for 2014/15 at 
month 9, as recommended by NHS England. 
 
The Committee has agreed a forward work plan which is reviewed 
as necessary throughout the year. 
 

 
Details of main challenges 
faced by the Committee:  
 

 How were these 
overcome?   

 If not overcome, how 
could they be? 

 Lessons learnt? 
 

 
The key challenges faced by the Audit Committee in 2014/15 
have been: 

 Committee membership – the CCG has confirmed that the 
independent member of the audit committee should 
become a permanent role within the CCG and this post 
will now go to formal recruitment.  This will ensure the 
Audit Committee is robust enough to take on Auditor 
Panel appointments following the abolition of the Audit 
Commission on 31 March 2015. 
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 Assurances from North of England Commissioning 
Support (NECS) – the 6 month service auditor report 
identified some on-going assurance issues within NECS.  
The Audit Committee received assurance from both 
internal and external audit that their work programmes will 
cover these issues and address any gaps in assurance 
from this third party service provider. 

 Primary Care co-commissioning – as part of the CCG’s 
application for full delegated authority to commission 
primary medical services from 1 April the audit committee 
has been considering the revised conflict of interest 
guidance from NHS England and has ensured this has 
been captured in revised policies.  This work will continue 
into 2015/16 as these new responsibilities become clearer. 

 

 
 
Prospective forward look at 
main areas of work for coming 
year (2015/16) 
 

 

 Annual Governance Statement for 2014/15; 

 Annual accounts and annual report for 2014/15; 

 Management of Conflicts of Interest, Register of Interests 
including guidance for all committees; 

 Better Care Fund governance and Section 75 agreement; 

 Assurance framework and risk management; 

 Financial position including QIPP; 

 Internal and external audit; 

 Counter Fraud 

 Sources of external assurance, specifically for NECS. 
 

 
Proposal to review Terms of 
Reference? 
  

 
The terms of reference will be reviewed formally in 2015/16 as the 
last formal review was February 2014. 
 

 
If yes, summary of the key 
changes to the terms of 
reference: 
 

 
n/a 

 
Chair of the Committee 
 

 
Pat Taylor, FCCA 

 
Date: 
 

 
7 April 2015 

 
 

 


